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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
y ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
OR
o] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number: 001-35155

BOINGO WIRELESS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

DELAWARE 95-4856877
(State of other jurisdiction ¢ (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organizatio Identification Number

10960 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 800
Los Angeles, California 90024
(Address of principal executive offices, Zip Code)

(310) 586-5180
(Registrant's telephone number, including area)code

Securities registered pursuant to Sectiz(b) of the Act:

Common Stock, $0.0001 par valu The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(Title of each class (Name of each exchange on which registe

Securities registered pursuant to Secti(g) of the ActNone
Indicate by check mark if the registranaiwell-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Reof the Securities Act. Yes Noy
Indicate by check mark if the registranhot required to file reports pursuant to Secti8ror 15(d) of the Act. Ye® Noy

Indicate by check mark whether the regigt(1) has filed all reports required to be filgdSection 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periotittieregistrant was required to file such reppdsy (2) has been subject to such filing requireéor the past
90 days. Yesy No o

Indicate by check mark whether the regigthas submitted electronically and posted ocdtporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Diita required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of R&guol&-T (232.405 of this chapter) during the precedingrighths (or for such shorter period that the reggtwas
required to submit and post such files). ies No o

Indicate by check mark if disclosure ofiniguent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulat®K is not contained herein, and will not be cameai, to the best of
registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infeation statements incorporated by reference inhIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrfol0-K. o

Indicate by check mark whether the registis a large accelerated filer, an accelerateddr a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller rapgrtompany. See the
definition of "large accelerated filer," "accelezdtfiler" and "smaller reporting Company" in Rub12 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileo Accelerated filero Non-accelerated filey Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a
smaller reporting compan:



Indicate by check mark whether the registis a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-thefExchange Act). Yes Noy

The aggregate market value of the Regigsraoting and non-voting common equity held by+adfiliates of the Registrant as of the last dayhe Registrant's
most recently completed second fiscal quarter vild8%10,611, based on the last reported sale pfi$8.08 per share on the NASDAQ Global Market onel30,
2011.

As of March 26, 2012, 34,561,955 shareGahmon Stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Company's Annual Reportii@ year ended December 31, 2011 are incorpobsteeference into Part Il of this Form 10-K.

Portions of the Company's definitive Pr@&tatement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholderbe filed within 120 days of the Company's yeatezh
December 31, 2011 are incorporated by referenceHatt I1l of this Form 10-K where indicated.
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Forward-Looking Statements

We have made forward-looking statements in thisuAhReport on Form 10-K that are subject to risksl aincertainties. Forward-looking statements witthia
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 08188 amended, and Section and Section 21E ofthéiBes Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, argesuto the
"safe harbor" created by those sections. The fodalaoking statements in this report are based onmanagement's beliefs and assumptions and onnrgon
currently available to our management. In some sageu can identify forward-looking statementsdsyis such as "anticipates," "aspires," "believésan,"
"continue," "could," "estimates," "expects," "int)" "may," "plans," "projects," "seeks," "shouldyill" or "would" or the negative of these termsdasimilar
expressions intended to identify forward-lookirgtetnents. These statements involve known and unkmsks, uncertainties and other factors, which rmayse our
actual results, performance, time frames or achiesets to be materially different from any futursuks, performance, time frames or achievementsesgpd or
implied by the forward-looking statements. We disamany of these risks, uncertainties and othdofadn this document in greater detail under tleadling "Risk
Factors." We believe it is important to communicate expectations to our investors. However, thraeg be events in the future that we are not abjgedict
accurately or over which we have no control. Teksidescribed in "Risk Factors" included in thipog, as well as any other cautionary languagehiis report,
provide examples of risks, uncertainties and eviratsmay cause our actual results to differ matiyifrom the expectations we describe in our fa-looking
statements. Before you invest in our common syamekshould be aware that the occurrence of the tsvdgscribed in "Risk Factors" and elsewhere is tieport coul
harm our business.

Given these risks, uncertainties and other factgos; should not place undue reliance on these fatvi@oking statements. Also, these forward-looking
statements represent our estimates and assummidpss of the date of this filing. You should ré¢faid document completely and with the understamthiat our
actual future results may be materially differewinh what we expect. We hereby qualify our forwammking statements by these cautionary statemertepE as
required by law, we assume no obligation to updaése forward-looking statements publicly, or talage the reasons actual results could differ matsrifrom those
anticipated in these forward-looking statementgrei new information becomes available in thereitu

Unless the context otherwise requires, we useeifmest "Boingo," "company,” "we," "us" and "our" ihi$ prospectus to refer to Boingo Wireless, Ind,amhere
appropriate, its subsidiaries.

PART |
Iltem 1. Business
Company Overview
Boingo makes it simple to connect to thebiteolnternet.

We make it easy, convenient and cost aéffedor individuals to find and gain access to thebile Internet through high-speed, high-bandwldtikFi networks
globally. Our solution includes easy-to-use softvir Wi-Fi enabled devices such as smartphonpgpa and tablet computers, and our sophisticadel-bnd
system infrastructure that detects and enable<litieaccess to our extensive global Wi-Fi netwdridividuals use our solutions to access what wiebe is the
world's largest commercial Wi-Fi network, consigtiof over 400,000 WFi locations, or hotspots, in over 100 countriegeatues such as airports, hotels, coffee sl
shopping malls, arenas, stadiums and quick seregtaurants.

We have direct customer relationships wibrs who have purchased our mobile Internet sesyvand we provide solutions to our partners, whictude telecor
operators, cable companies, technology companisiprise software and services companies, and coneations companies to allow their
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millions of users to connect to the mobile Intertiebugh hotspots in our network. From 2009 to 2@4® grew our subscriber base from 140,000 to Z@0,8 growth
rate of 42.9%. As of December 31, 2011, we havevgrour subscriber base to 257,000, an increas8.6f2 over the prior year.

Individuals who are accustomed to the biénef broadband performance at home and work egkisg the same applications, performance andahbibiy on-
the-go, through smartphones, laptops, tablet coenpatnd other devices. We believe that this consdemand has created a significant market oppdytdinat we
are uniquely positioned to capture.

We generate revenue from individual useastners and advertisers. Individual users progjgroximately half of our revenue by purchasing theén-month
subscription plans that automatically renew, ospot specific single-use access to our networldifition, our partners pay us usage-based netvomdsa and
software licensing fees to allow their customerseas to our network. We also generate revenue tietenom operators that pay us build-out fees andsacfees so
that their cellular customers may use our disteduantenna system or DAS at locations where we geaaad operate the Wi-Fi network. We also genesatenue
from advertisers that seek to reach our users aiéblay advertising, sponsored access and othengtional programs.

We install, manage and operate wirelessortinfrastructure to provide WHi services at our managed and operated hotspbh&sewve generally have exclus
multi-year agreements.

We were incorporated in the State of Delawa April 2001 under the name Project Mammotle, Bnd changed our name to Boingo Wireless, In@dtober
2001. Our principal executive offices are locatedldos Angeles, California and to provide betterpanpto our customers located outside of the Un8&ates, and to
help build our business internationally, we maimt@n office in the United Kingdom. Our website agdris www.boingo.com.

Industry Overview

Popular business and consumer applicasoob as streaming media, online games, social mkitvgp cloud storage, software-as-a-service andwicklling
require high-speed, high-bandwidth Internet accEssse data-intensive applications are drivingsamakation in Internet data traffic. With the preli&tion of
smartphones, laptops, tablet computers and othdfi\&tabled devices, users expect to be able tsadbe same content and information while on-thevypbile
data consumption is expected to increase by 27toner the next three years as projected by Cisésisal Networking Index.

The adoption, growth and advancement ofrggthanes are key catalysts for the acceleratidngii-speed and high-bandwidth mobile Internet us@ipe
improved computing power, rich graphical user if#tees and Internet capabilities of these devicablermobile users to make video calls or streafrdalyth
movies, contributing to the vast expansion of theeless consumption of data. For example, the aesaartphone user generates ten times the ambdateotraffic
generated by the average non-smartphone userdiegdo Cisco's Visual Networking Index. In additjdhe average iPhone user utilizes five to teesimmore data
per month than the average smartphone user—rod@@lynegabytes versus the typical 40-80 megabytesyding to Nielsen. Widely-used mobile applicati@ilow
individuals to access the same content and sergitéiseir smartphones and other mobile devicestliggt use at their homes or offices. Accordingrfometics, the
number of phone-based mobile broadband subsciiberpected to reach 1.1 billion in 2014, repreisgréa compound annual growth rate, or CAGR, of 35%.

To cope with the significant increase ipested global mobile Internet data traffic, netwogerators are rapidly expanding their capacity iamdsting in
technologies such as 3G and 4G cellular networksoAling to International Data Corporation or ID@arly 300 of these operators have
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deployed 3G and 4G networks in more than 120 castThese investments, while necessary, are osifye-term solution not capable of meeting theytterm
demand for data usage. To ease the strain of aehetworks by off-loading data, network operatoase also been investing in Wi-Fi and emergingrietdgies such
as Worldwide Interoperability for Microwave Access,WiMAX and Super Wi-Fi, a new technology thashwot yet been implemented.

Wi-Fi provides higher speed and higher lvadth per user in high density locations, and iser and less expensive to deploy than additioabdilar network
capacity. The benefits of and consumer demand feFiWave led hardware manufacturers to includeRiV&s a standard feature on laptops and tablet oterg and
increasingly, smartphones, digital cameras and ti@ddnedia devices. Shipments of semiconductorscihigt enable Wi-Fi connectivity are expected twagto
929 million in 2013, according to IDC. Wi-Fi hasdmene the standard protocol for residential anccefiiireless networks and is increasingly prevalepublic
venues, such as airports, hotels, coffee shopppsing malls, arenas, stadiums and quick servidauesnts.

Challenges Facing Our Industry

The mobile Internet is a complex and camfyaevolving ecosystem, comprised of over a billmobile Internet-enabled devices from dozens afufecturers,
which are powered by many different operating systeDevices use different network technologiesrandt be configured with the appropriate softwardetect and
optimize a connection to the mobile Internet. Tdomplexity is amplified as new device models andrafing systems are released, new categories afedevecome
Internet-enabled, and new network technologies geer

The increasing number of mobile Interneaf#ad devices in this ecosystem is causing an ex@e rapid increase in data consumption. Despiedipg billions
of dollars every year to expand their networksywoek and telecom operators still face capacityiséd networks. Innovations in broadband technolgigch as 3G
and 4G will not be sufficient to relieve the straim networks.

Our Strategy
We believe we are the leading global prewidf commercial mobile Wi-Fi Internet solutionseXelements of our strategy to extend that leadcare

. Grow the installed base of our softwar&Ve intend to acquire new software users throhghgrowing number of our managed and operated bistsp
worldwide and by partnering with leading manufaetsrof smartphones, laptops, tablet computers Redders to make our software client available in
online application marketplaces, or app stores,matbaded on their devices.

. Leverage our neutral-host business mod€&lur neutral-host model enables us to partner wdtiue operators because we allow their custorners t
access the venue's network regardless of the cessoWvi-Fi provider. We also partner with telecopemators that are attracted to us because we do not
compete for cellular subscribers. We intend toease the value of our network by partnering wittigehal venues, network operators, telecom
operators and technology companies.

. Invest in our software to enhance the customermapee. We continue to extend our platform by adding rieatures such as the ability to locate and
connect to free and open networks, integration Veiftdling social networking sites and support fatitohal foreign languages. We also plan to impr
the monetization capabilities of our business maelelugh location based services, in-client adsernj and e-commerce.

. Expand our network.We intend to continue to grow our global netwbykincreasing our managed and operated preserigatts and other venues
such as shopping malls, arenas,
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stadiums and quick service restaurants. We alsotplenter into new roaming agreements with otte¢work and hotspot operators.

. Grow our business internationallyWe believe that the market for Wi-Fi mobile Imtet services will grow rapidly in Europe and Asgathe
penetration of smartphones and other Wi-Fi enati&dces increases. We plan to continue our growttobd the recent additions of Rome's Fiumicino
airport, Thailand's Phuket International airportg @ur agreement with LGU Plus to increase ourepres throughout Europe and Asia.

. Increase our brand awarenessNe will continue to seek new ways to promote lmand through our managed and operated hotspotitéfe to
enhance our brand through low-cost co-marketingreyements with our partners and through periodimptional and sponsorship activities, and by
continuing to leverage the reach of social mediat@ract with our customers.

Services

Our solution makes it easy, convenient eost effective for individuals to find and gain ass to the mobile Internet through high-speed,-bigihdwidth Wi-Fi
networks globally.

Retail. We enable individuals to purchase mobile Intéactcess at our managed and operated hotsposelaed partner locations around the world. We ddfer
selection of month-to-month subscription and singde access plans. Our most common plans are t88 8f®nth-to-month subscription, the $7.95 montmtnth
smartphone only subscription and the single-use@piAsYouGo for laptops at $7.95 per day. Our singde access plans provide unlimited access tedfep
hotspot for a defined period of time, tolled frolne time the user first logs on to the network. Wk a@ntinue to launch other flexible plans to més evolving needs
of our customers.

Retail Plan Device Purchase Method
Subscription:

Boingo Unlimited Laptop and Smartphone( Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Mobile Smartphone(1 Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Global Laptop or Smartphone(: Charge Card and PayF
Boingo W-Fi Combo Laptop and Smartphone( Charge Card and PayF
Boingo UK and Irelant Laptop and Smartphone( Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Europe Plu Laptop and Smartphone( Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Asia Pacific Laptop and Smartphone( Charge Card and PayF
Single-use:

Boingo AsYouGc Laptop or Smartphone(: Charge Card and PayF
Boingo W-Fi Credits Apple iOS device: Apple iTunes

Boingo Exhibitor Laptop or Smartphone(. Charge Card and PayF

1) Includes tablet computer

Wholesale. Our integrated hardware and software platfolltowe us to provide a range of value-added servicestwork operators, technology companies,
enterprise software and services companies, telegarators and venue operators.
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. Roaming services.We offer roaming services across our entire nekwad over 400,000 hotspot locations to our pagngho can then provide mobile
Internet services to their customers at these ilmst

. Platform services. We license our proprietary software and providiévgare integration and development services topdatform services partners.
This enables them to integrate our mobile Intesodition with their product and service offerin@air solution includes our proprietary, patented
techniques for wireless signal detection, presemtatnd network aggregation.

. DAS infrastructure. We offer our telecom operator partners accessitdAS infrastructure at certain of our managed aperated hotspot locations.
We deploy our DAS infrastructure within airportgdasther locations that require additional signegrsgth to improve the quality of cellular services.

. Turn-key solutions. We offer our venue partners the ability to impésrha turn-key Wi-Fi solution, with no initial ingement, through a Wi-Fi network
infrastructure that we install, manage and operate.

Advertising. Our platform provides a valuable opportunity &olvertisers to reach a targeted base of visitooair landing pages with display advertising,
sponsored access and other promotional programaffétedisplay advertising based on impressionszdegd by our platform. We also offer advertisdrs t
opportunity to sponsor free wireless Internet ast¢esndividuals.

Our Network

In 2006, we acquired Concourse Communioati®roup, LLC and its network of 12 managed andaipd airports, which became our first managedopedtatec
hotspots. In 2007, we acquired Sprint Spectrumweré of seven managed and operated airports aadhon-exclusive airport, and in 2008 we acquireti-Bp
Networks, LLC which included V-Fi networks at 25 airports and the WashingtoneSkatrries.

Through our managed and operated hotspot®ar strategic partnership arrangements, usews dizcess to over 400,000 hotspots worldwide igsrsuch as
airports, hotels, coffee shops, shopping mallsasestadiums and quick service restaurants. Wgrdesuild, monitor and maintain the Wi-Fi netwakour managed
and operated hotspot locations primarily locatethenUnited States and Europe. Our strategic pasftiifearrangements with over 125 network operatiosv us to
extend our global network to over 100 countriesldwide.

Boingo hotspot locations by region as ot&maber 31, 2011:

Café / Convention
Region Airport Retail Center Hotel Other(1) Total
North America 12¢ 2,62¢ 48 3,457 3,79t 10,057
South Americe 79 1,50¢ 4 76 277 1,941
EMEA 21€ 12,35: 30€ 11,95 200,93( 225,76:
Asia 167 49,99t 28t 16,467 129,60: 196,51.
Total 592 66,482 645  31,94¢ 334,60: 434,27

1) Includes schools and universities, offices, hospaad public spaces.
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Marketing and Business Development

Our marketing and business developmenttsfire designed to cost effectively attract andimenew customers, expand our footprint of Wi-6idpot locations
and identify business partners that could levemgenetwork to provide mobile Internet servicestteir customers. We focus on efficient customewéition and
brand building through our on-line presence, airg@nage, public relations, market research ahdrgiromotional activities.

We seek to maximize customer lifetime vdlyenanaging subscriber acquisition cost, extendirgjomer life and determining appropriate pricMg use

information about subscriber behavior to help tainecustomers and determine premium offerings. $@gmentation is focused at the product levelhabwe provid

the right product, plan and price for each customemach region of the world where we operate. @ans are available for essentially all Wi-Fi erabtievices and
are priced on a month-to-month or per-use basis.

We issue regular press releases annouimimgrtant partnerships and product developmentscantinually update our website with informatioroabour
network and services.

Development

Our development efforts are focused pritpam increasing the ease of use and functionalfityur software client, integrating our softwareent with our
wholesale partners and continuing to adapt oumelclgy to new operating systems and platforms. d&welopment model is based on a structured developm
process that incorporates Agile development prastso any deviations can be promptly correctethfiyave reliability in our network and enhance coso
satisfaction. We typically deliver product releaaesl feature enhancement on a semi-annual basithé-gears ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
development and technology expenses were $9.4mifi8.5 million and $7.4 million, respectively.

Technology

Over the past 11 years, we have developagtiptary systems that include the Boingo softwdient; authentication, authorization and trackaygtems;
mediation and billing systems; and a real-time apenal support and software configuration and mgisg infrastructure.

Boingo Software Client

The Boingo software client is installedWit Fi enabled devices such as smartphones, laptopsbled computers. The key features of the Boirgftware client

include:

. Simple user interface.The Boingo software client provides individualghnan uncomplicated, user-friendly interface dasigjto streamline the Wi-Fi
network connection process. The software findsguitsand monitors the availability of Wi-Fi hotspat the Boingo network, presents a notification
message of the hotspot identified and allows of@cciser connections. In some devices, connectianBoingo Wi-Fi hotspot occurs in the
background, providing the user with a notificativee connectivity experience.

. Support for all major operating system platform$he Boingo software client supports a wide raofglaptop and mobile device operating systems,
including Android, BlackBerry OS, iOS, Linux, MacSQSymbian, Unix and Windows.

. Automatic updates.The Boingo software client automatically receiidentification information for new hotspot locai®as they are added to the

Boingo network, including any information neededhtdomatically identify and login to the networlodation information, allowing a user
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to find Boingo hotspots from the client, is alsdamatically updated. On all but embedded platforsagtware updates are also automatically offered to
a user when available.

. Custom branding and flexible integration alternasv We offer wholesale customers the ability to imétg the Boingo software client into their
products and services. Additionally, we offer wisalke customers the option to utilize a custom,anethed reference design of the software client irs
our retail customer offering.

Authentication, Authorization and Tracking System

Our proprietary authentication, authorigatand tracking system enables the reliable, skt secure initiation and termination of userRMsessions on our
network. This system authenticates our networksuaeross a wide variety of hotspots and networkaipes, through a normalized authentication prdtoElerough
the authorization process, custom business rulasreruser access based on specific service parsseath as location, type of device, service plahaccount
information. Our system also captures durationa daffic, location, and type of device. We normealand process this data from disparate providersur use and
for our wholesale partners.

Mediation and Billing System

Our mediation and billing system recordd analyzes individual usage sessions requiredltiobiWi-Fi usage. Users are charged based orabées such as
pricing plan, device type, location and time of .uSear system consolidates usage session informat&termines the user identity and applies theqpjate
aggregation and flagging to ensure proper usageepsing. Our system handles exceptions automatiéaiceptions that cannot be solved automaticatytmought t
the attention of the operations staff, who recifiy discrepancies. The billing system providésmbibased on roaming relationship, user typejcketype and
account type. Our retail customer mediation ankhiilis handled by the same infrastructure usedvitolesale customer and billing, resulting in effitcies of scale
and operation.

Software Configuration and Messaging System

Our software configuration system provideasl-time network configuration updates for appnaiely 682 networks and 115 detection and logirhoalogies
used by the Boingo software client to access otwari. Our software configuration system automalyceegisters new network definitions and login imedologies
to allow individuals to connect to our hotspot lboas. All supported platforms use a single confagion, providing a high level of operational aedttefficiency. Our
messaging system enables real-time customer radtifit and system interaction at login, based oatlon, network, user, account type, device and eisalis
approach enables us and our partners to delivéorousiarketing or service messages.

Operations

We provide significant operational supdortour managed and operated Wi-Fi hotspots anerdtbtspots in our network. For our managed andabee Wi-Fi
hotspots, we design, build, monitor and maintagrietwork. For roaming partners, we monitor hotggime and report outages so that they can beiguiemedied
We have service level agreements with our roamartners specifying minimum network uptime requiratse

Our Wi-Fi deployments are based on the IBBE.11a, b, g and n standards and operate in4h@&l2z and 5 GHz unlicensed spectrum bands. Ologents
may also include DAS within venues requiring enteghcellular coverage.
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Customers

We generate revenue primarily from ouritetastomers and wholesale partners. Our retaticcusrs purchase month-to-month subscription plaat t
automatically renew, or single-use access to otwarlk. We acquire our retail customers primarilgrir mobile Internet users passing through our mahage
operated locations, where we generally have exa@usiulti-year agreements. Some of our wholesalmpes license our software and pay usage-basedriebecess
fees to allow their customers access to our gl@liaFi network. Other wholesale partners that atectem operators pay us build-out fees and accessfée our DAS,
enabling their cellular customers to access thes@arks. Some of our wholesale partners pay usdeigle Wi-Fi services in their venue locations undeservice
provider arrangement. Our wholesale partner reatigps are generally governed by multi-year comsrdd/e acquire our wholesale partners through asiness
development efforts. We also generate revenue &dwvertisers that seek to reach visitors to theitepgages at our managed and operated networkdosawith
online advertising, promotional and sponsored moty. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2@t0Oup of affiliated entities all of which arkileated with
Verizon Communications, Inc., which collectivelycaanted for more than 10% of revenue. The loskisfgroup could have a material adverse impactun o
consolidated statements of operations.

Key Business Metrics
In addition to monitoring traditional finaial measures, we also monitor our operating peréoice using the following key performance indicsitor

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, excep
churn data)
Subscriber: 257 20C 14C
Monthly churn 9.2% 9.5% 9.7%
Connects 7,97¢ 7,762 5,391

Subscribers. This metric represents the number of payingilretistomers who are on a month-to-month subsoripgilan at a given period end.

Monthly churn. This metric shows the number of subscribers wdmceled their subscriptions in a given monthresged as a percentage of the average
subscribers in that month. The churn in a givenoges the average monthly churn in that periodsTheasure is one indicator of the longevity of suioscribers.
Some of our customers who cancel subscriptions taiaiaccounts for single-use access.

Connects. This metric shows how often individuals connecbur global WiFi network in a given period. These are paid cotsfom our retail customers a

wholesale partners, with which we have usage-bagesements. We count each individual as a singleext regardless of how many times that individealesses
the network at a given venue during their 24 hariqa. This measure is an indicator of paid agtithiroughout our network.

Retail Customer Support Services
We provide support services to our retafitomers 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 365 myyear, by phone, chat or email. Our webs#te abntains a
comprehensive list of responses to frequently askedtions, and we monitor and respond to socidiam@mmunications regarding our services. We pl@gupport
services through our internal customer care demartrand we rely on a third-party provider for mokour standard customer support.
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Competition

The market for mobile Internet services aallitions is fragmented and competitive. We belithe principal competitive factors in our industrglude the
following:

. price;

. ease of access and use;

. quality of service;

. geographic reach;

. bundled service offerings;

. brand name recognition; and
. flexible pricing plans.

We believe we face no material direct cotitges to our service offerings. Indirect compatitinclude telecom operators, WiMAX operators, eatdmpanies,
self-managed venue networks and smaller wirelaggesrat service providers. Some of these competitave substantially greater resources, larger mestbases,
longer operating histories and greater name retiogrthan we have. Others offer bundled data sesweith primary service offerings that we do ndeosuch as
landline and cellular telephone service, cableatelite television, media and fixed-line Interngiany of our indirect competitors are also partrfesen whom we
receive revenue when their customers access owprietWe believe that we compete favorably basedewgraphic coverage, network reliability, quabfyservice,
ease of use and cost.

Intellectual Property

Our ongoing success will depend in partrupor ability to protect our core technology antkliectual property. To accomplish this, we relyapocombination of
intellectual property rights, including trade sésr@atents, copyrights and trademarks, as welbagactual restrictions.

We have one issued patent which expir@922 and four patent applications pending in théddnStates, two of which are also pending in tbeoRean Patent
Office, Canada, Japan, South Korea, and Chinapaadvhich is pending with the Patent Cooperaticgafyr. We intend to pursue corresponding patentregeein
additional countries to the extent we believe stmverage is appropriate and cost effective.

Our registered trademarks in the UnitedeStand the European Union include "Boingo Wirelg$oingo”, and "Don't just go. Boingo." We havteél other
trademark applications in the United States andratbuntries.

In addition to the foregoing protectiong wontrol access to, and use of, our proprietaftyvaoe and other confidential information througle use of internal ar
external controls, including contractual protectiavith employees, contractors, customers and patt@air software is protected by United Statesiatanational
copyright laws.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had 149 emm@symcluding 50 in development and technologyinsS8perations, 24 in business development and rtiagkand
16 in general and administrative. All of our empeyg are full-time employees. None of our employgesepresented by a labor union or are covereddnllective
bargaining agreement. We have never experienceémpjoyment related work stoppages and considatioak with our employees to be good. As of Decaritie
2011, we also had arrangements with a third paitycenter provider in New York that provided udtwi
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approximately 42 full-time equivalent contractoos fetail customer support service and similar fioms.
Facilities

We currently lease approximately 25,100esgueet of space for our corporate headquartdresnrAngeles, California under a lease agreemexttetkpires in
February 2018. We have offices in Chicago, lllindiake Success, New York; McKinney, Texas; Detilichigan; and London, United Kingdom. We believwe o
current office facilities will be adequate for tfozeseeable future.

Legal

We are not presently a party to any maltégal proceedings. From time to time, we may lmeedanvolved in legal proceedings in the ordinaryrse of our
business.

Financial Information about Segments and Geographiéreas

Reference to our segments and the geograpbas where we operate is contained in NoteoRit@ccompanying Consolidated Financial Statemiantsded in
Part Il, Item 8 of this report.

Available Information

Our filings with the United States Secestiand Exchange Commission or SEC, including thisial report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports onrrdi0-Q, and
current reports on Form 8-K are available freetafrge through the Investor Relations section ofommpany's website attp://www.boingo.comand are accessible
soon as reasonably practicable after being eleictliy filed with or furnished to the SEC.

Copies of this report are also availabéefof charge from Boingo Corporate Investor Comizations, 10960 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 800, Los Angel€A 90024.
In addition, our Corporate Governance GuidelinesjeCof Conduct and written charters of the committef the Board of Directors are accessible thrahgh
Corporate Governance tab in the Investor Relat®asion of our website and are available in porany stockholder who requests a copy.

You may read and copy materials that weeiith the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Raadli@F Street, NE, Washington DC 20549. Informmatio the
operation of the Public Reference Room is availalylealling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC taais a website that contains reports and othernmdtion
we file, and proxy statements to be filed with 8f€C. The address of the SEC's websitetjs.//www.sec.gov

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrerisk. You should consider carefully the righsl uncertainties described below, together witloathe
other information in this report on Form 10-K, imding our accompanying consolidated financial sta¢ats and the related notes, before deciding whéthe
purchase shares of our common stock. If any ofah@wing risks actually occur, our business, fic&l condition, results of operations and prospezisild be
materially and adversely affected. The price of cammon stock could decline and you could lose gaadl of your investment.
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Risks Related to Our Business

A significant portion of our revenue is dependent our relationships with our venue and network padrs, and if these relationships are impaired orrtenated,
or if our partners do not perform as expected, duusiness and results of operations could be matidyiand adversely affected.

We depend on our relationships with venartners, particularly key airport venue partnarsyrider to manage and operate Wi-Fi hotspots. Tredaonships
generate a significant portion of our revenue dtovaus to generate new retail customers. Our ageses with our venue partners are for defined jplsrend of
varying durations. If our venue partners termiratéail to renew these agreements, our abilitydoeyate and retain retail customers would be dshed and our
network of Wi-Fi hotspots would be reduced, whiciglm result in a significant disruption of our boess and adversely affect our operating results.

We depend on our relationships with netwmakiners to allow users to roam across Wi-Fi nete/that we do not manage or operate. A signifipamtion of our
revenue depends on maintaining these relationstithsnetwork partners. Some network partners magpete with us for retail customers and may deaide t
terminate our partnerships and instead develop etingpretail products and services. Our networkrEaragreements are for defined periods and ofivgmurations.
If our network partners terminate these agreementil to renew these agreements, our abilityetain retail customers could be diminished andr@iwork of Wi-
Fi hotspots could be reduced, which could resu#t significant disruption of our business and aglelgraffect our operating results.

Worldwide economic conditions, and theinpact on travel and consumer spending, may adverséfect our business, operating results and finaalc
condition.

Global economic conditions have been wealkafprolonged period of time, and levels of treaedl consumer spending have been particularly depde Our
business is impacted by travel and consumer spgnd@cause users seek to access the mobile Inteniletthey are on-the-go, and because spendirigtemet
access is often a consumer discretionary spendingidn. Factors that tend to negatively impacelewf travel include high unemployment, high eygugces, low
business and consumer confidence, the fear ofrtetradtacks, war and other macroeconomic facteesnomic conditions that tend to negatively impagels of
discretionary consumer spending include high unegmeént, high consumer debt, reductions in net waltipressed real estate markets, increased taxhign
energy prices, high interest rates, low consumsfidence and other macroeconomic factors. If tlagl economic recovery is slower than expected,ibweakens,
our retail customer base, new retail customer atipn and usagéased revenue could be materially harmed, andesullts of operations would be adversely affe:

Our business depends upon demand for n®bikernet services on Wi-Fi networks, market adigpt of new technologies and our ability to adapt$ach
changes.

Our future success depends upon growingadérfor mobile Internet services, which is inhelseohcertain. The demand for mobile Internet sezsimay
decrease or may grow more slowly than expected.sAic} decrease in the demand or slowing rate eftgroould have a material adverse effect on oumess. The
continued demand for mobile Internet services ddpam the continued proliferation of smartphonaklett computers and other Wi-Fi enabled devicestlamdate of
evolution of data-intensive applications on the iteomternet. Historically, we have derived subsigly all our retail revenue from laptop users whachased month-
to-month subscriptions or single-use access. Wefawg/challenges as we seek to increase the regamegated from the usage on smartphones, tabtgiwters and
other mobile devices.
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Our business depends on the continuedratieg of Wi-Fi as a standard feature in mobileides. If Wi-Fi ceases to be a standard featureabila devices, or if
the rate of integration of Wi-Fi on mobile deviaiscreases or is slower than expected, the markeufoservices may be substantially diminished.

Competing technologies pose a risk to tireinued use of Wi-Fi as a mobile Internet techggldrhe introduction and market acceptance of emgngireless
technologies such as 4G, WiMAX and Super Wi-Fi,ldaiause significant disruption to our businessicWwimay result in a loss of customers, users aveimee. If
users find emerging wireless technologies to bécseritly fast, convenient or cost effective, weymet be able to compete effectively, and our gbib attract or
retain users will be impaired. Additionally, onemore of our partners may deploy emerging wiretesbnologies that could reduce the partner's etk with us,
and may result in significant loss of revenue adlction of the hotspots in our network.

We deliver value to our users by providémple access to Wi-Fi hotspots, regardless of ndrave manage and operate the hotspot, or thedtasspperated by
a partner. As a result, our business depends oahilitly to anticipate and quickly adapt to charggtechnological standards and advances. If techimdbstandards
change and we fail to adapt accordingly, our bissirend revenue may be adversely affected. Furthierrtiee proliferation of new mobile devices andragiag
platforms poses challenges for our research anelolement efforts. If we are unable to create singplations for a particular device or operatingfolan, we will be
unable to effectively attract users of these dev@mreoperating platforms and our business will theeasely affected.

Negotiations with prospective wholesaletpars can be lengthy and unpredictable, which meguse our operating results to vary.

Our negotiations with prospective partrteracquire Wi-Fi hotspots to operate, to acquigming rights on partners' networks, or for new nens to implement
our solutions, can be lengthy, and in some casesasaover 12 months. Because of the lengthy netimnt cycle, the time required to reach a finaleggnent with a
partner is unpredictable and may lead to variaintesir operating results from quarter to quarteggbtiations with prospective partners also regsitestantial time,
effort and resources. We may ultimately fail in oegotiations, resulting in costs to our busineBout any associated benefits.

We may be unsuccessful in expanding inemnvenue types, which could harm the growth of dwrsiness, operating results and financial condition

We are negotiating with existing and pradjye partners to expand our managed and operatde Wétwork footprint in venue types where we bistally have
had only a limited presence. Expansion into thesaie types, and in particular shopping malls, stadiand quick service restaurants, may requirefgigntly higher
initial capital expenditures than we have histdlycencurred. In contrast to Wi-Fi network build-tsuat venues such as airports, where telecom apsrigipically pay
the substantial expense of laying cable or fibermay be required to incur the initial capital exge of access points and related hardware andhgadtliitens of
thousands of quick serve restaurant locations andieds of shopping malls and stadium locationsnvdg not be able to execute on our strategy oeth®ry not be
returns on these investments in the near futueg all. As a result, our business, financial canditind results of operations could be materiatigt adversely affecte
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We have a limited operating history andedatively new business in an emerging market, soiavestment in our company involves more risk than
investment in a more mature company in an estabéghindustry.

We have a limited operating history witle tinobile Wi-Fi Internet solutions that we provigéich were developed in 2001. We currently attthetmajority of
our retail customers at our managed and operatespdits that we acquired in 2006. As a result, wefealimited operating history for you to evaluate@ssessing our
future prospects and it is difficult to forecast puospects. Also, we derive nearly all of our mave from mobile Internet services, which are ned laighly dynamic
businesses, which face significant challenges. deauld consider our business and prospects indifjtite risks, uncertainties and difficulties wdlwncounter as an
emerging company in a new and rapidly evolving raarVe may not be able to address these risksrtantiges and difficulties successfully, which couhaterially
harm our business and operating results.

Our operating results may fluctuate unexgedly, which makes them difficult to predict anday cause us to fail to meet the expectations ofeistors,
adversely affecting our stock price.

We operate in a highly dynamic industry and future quarterly operating results may flutéusignificantly. Our revenue and operating resulésy vary from
quarter to quarter due to many factors, many ottvlaire not within our control. As a result, compgrour operating results on a period-to-periodasy not be
meaningful. Further, it is difficult to accuratdlyrecast our revenue, margin and operating resais,if we fail to match our expected results @ribsults expected by
financial analysts, the trading price of our comnstock may be adversely affected.

Factors that contribute to fluctuation®ur operating results from quarter-to-quarter idetu

. the rate at which individuals adopt our solutions;

. the timing and success of new technology introdugtiby us or our competitors;

. our gain or loss of a key venue partner, roamingnga or platform services partner;
. the number of air travel passengers, particulanlitess travelers;

. intellectual property disputes; and

. general economic conditions in our domestic andifpr markets.

Due to these and other factors, quarterdi@rter comparisons of our historical operatingiitssshould not be relied upon as accurate indisaibour future
performance.

We may not maintain recent rates of revengrowth.

Although our revenue has increased subatBnover the last few years, we may not be ablegintain historical rates of revenue growth. Véédve that our
continued growth will depend, among other factorssuccessfully implementing our business strasegieluding our ability to:

. attract new users, convert users of our singlesaséces into subscribers and keep existing subscriactively using our services;
. develop new sources of revenue from our users artdgrs;

. react to changes in the way individuals accessuaadhe mobile Internet;

. expand into new markets;

. increase the awareness of our brand;

. retain our existing partners and attract new pastrend

14




Table of Contents
. provide our users with a superior experience, iiclg customer support and payment experiences.
However, we cannot guarantee that we wikessfully implement any of these business stieteg
System failures could harm our business.

Although we seek to reduce the possibditgisruptions or other outages, our business neagisrupted by problems with our technology andesys, such as an
access point failure at one of our managed andatgehotspots, or a backhaul disruption. We hapemenced system failures from time to time, angiaterruption
in the ability of users to access our solution ddwrm our business and reputation.

Our systems may be vulnerable to damagetemruption from telecommunications failures, cartgy denial-of-service attacks, power loss, compuiteses,
earthquakes, floods, fires, terrorist attacks amilar events. Some of our systems are not fuljurelant, and our disaster recovery planning isufiicient for all
eventualities. Our systems may also be damageddakins, sabotage, and acts of vandalism. Despite eegaptions we may take, the occurrence of a natiisakte
or other unanticipated problems could result irgtg interruptions in the availability of the Boimgolution. We do not carry business interruptiwsurance to
compensate us for all losses that may result freice interruptions caused by system failuresidfare unable to resolve service interruptionsidyiour ability to
acquire and retain customers will be impaired amdoperating results and business could be adyeascted.

The growth of free Wi-Fi networks may coetp with our paid mobile Wi-Fi Internet solutions.

Some venues, including coffee shops andlfiavffer free mobile Wi-Fi as an incentive oruedadded benefit to their customers. Free Wi-Fi neglyice retail
customer demand for our services, and put downweaesisure on the prices we charge our retail cusgrtreaddition, telecom operators may offer frezbite Wi-Fi
as part of a home broadband or other service atintsich also may force down the prices we changreretail customers. If we are unable to effedyivafset this
downward pressure on our prices by being a Wi-Riise provider, or if we are unable to acquire aet@in retail customers, we will have lower profiargins and our
operating results and financial condition may beeasely impacted.

We may be unsuccessful in expanding outeimational operations, which could harm the growtsf our business, operating results and financiadmdition.

Our ability to expand internationally invek various risks, including the need to investigicant resources in unfamiliar markets, and tbesibility that there
may not be returns on these investments in thefoaae or at all. In addition, we have incurrediaaxpect to continue to incur expenses before wergge any
material revenue in these new markets. Our expamsans will require significant management at@mtand resources. We have limited experience limgedur
solutions in international markets or in conformiongocal cultures, standards or policies. We metylre able to compete successfully in these intemmal markets.
Our ability to expand will also be limited by therdand for mobile Internet in international mark&sferent privacy, censorship and liability standsand
regulations and different intellectual property aiw foreign countries may cause our business gedating results to suffer.

Any future international operations mayt faisucceed due to risks inherent in foreign opena, including:

. different technological solutions for mobile Intetrihan those used in North America,

. varied, unfamiliar and unclear legal and regulat@strictions;
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. unexpected changes in international regulatoryirements and tariffs;

. legal, political or systemic restrictions on theéligpbof U.S. companies to do business in foreigmuiatries;
. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act compliance and relaisks;

. difficulties in staffing and managing foreign opéoas;

. currency fluctuations; and

. potential adverse tax consequences.

As a result of these obstacles, we may fiddficult or prohibitively expensive to expanaternationally or we may be unsuccessful in oterapt to do so, whic
could harm our business, operating results anchéimdcondition.

Our industry is competitive and if we dotrcompete successfully, we could lose market sharperience reduced revenue or suffer losses.

The market for commercial mobile Wi-Fi sidnns is competitive and impacted by technologateinge, and we expect competition with our curaet potential
competitors to intensify in the future. In partiaylsome of our competitors have taken steps ordeaige to more aggressively compete against uscparly in the
market for venue build-outs of Wi-Fi and distribditentenna system, or DAS, solutions.

Our competitors, many of whom are alsopmantners, include a variety of telecom operatods ragtwork operators, including Mobile, Cablevision, Comcast a
local operators. These and other competitors haveldped or may develop technologies that compegetty with our solutions. Many of our competit@aee
substantially larger than we are and have subsigntbnger operating histories. We may not be abl&ind or invest in certain areas of our busirtesbe same
degree as our competitors. Many have substantiadisiter product development and marketing budgetother financial and personnel resources thadav&ome
also have greater name and brand recognition dendjer base of subscribers or users than we hanagdition, our competitors may provide serviced the do not,
such as local exchange and long distance servioeemail, digital subscriber line and subscripttetevision services. Users that desire these @esvinay choose to
also obtain mobile Wi-Fi Internet services fromampetitor that provides these additional serviegser than from us.

Furthermore, we rely on several of our cetitprs as partners in roaming agreements. Theirgaagreements provide that our retail customedscam wholesal
partners' customers may use the Wi-Fi networkauofpartners. One or more of our partners may depdogpeting technologies that could reduce the pdemeed to
work with us under a roaming agreement. If ourngeng decide to terminate our roaming agreement:etwork of Wi-Fi hotspots may be reduced, whiciymesult
in a significant disruption to our business.

Competition could increase our selling amatketing expenses and related customer acquisitists. We may not have the financial resourcebnieal expertis
or marketing and support capabilities to contimruedmpete successfully. A failure to respond tal@&hed and new competitors may adversely impacbasiness
and operating results.
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The regulation of Internet communicationproducts and services is currently uncertain, whiposes risks for our business from changes in laws
regulations, and interpretation or enforcement oxisting laws or regulations.

The current regulatory environment for fntt communications, products and services is t@ceMany laws and regulations were adopted padhe advent ¢
the Internet and related technologies and oftenad@ontemplate or address the specific issues@ssd with the Internet and related technologié® scope of laws
and regulations applicable to the Internet remamertain and is subject to statutory or interpeetthange. We cannot be certain that we, our partsreour users are
currently in compliance with regulatory or othegdérequirements in the numerous countries in wbishservice is used. Our failure or the failureoof partners,
users and others with whom we transact businegs,wwhom we license the Boingo solution, to complth existing or future regulatory or other legafjuirements
could materially adversely affect our businessaffitial condition and results of operations. Regutatnay disagree with our interpretations of exgslaws or
regulations or the applicability of existing lawsregulations to our business, and existing laggulations and interpretations may change in ureegevays.

We believe that the Boingo solution is ba forefront of mobile Internet technology, andréfere it may face greater regulatory scrutiny tbdrer
communications products and services. We cannokliain what positions regulators may take regardur compliance with, or lack of compliance withiyrent and
future legal and regulatory requirements or whaitpans regulators may take regarding any pastiré actions we have taken or may take in angdistion.
Regulators may determine that we are not in compéiawith legal and regulatory requirements, andoseppenalties, or we may need to make changes t®dimgo
solution, which could be costly and difficult. Ay these events would adversely affect our opegatsults and business.

If we lose key personnel or are unableatitract and retain personnel on a cost effectivesi® our business could be harmed.

Our performance is substantially dependarthe continued services and performance of auipsenanagement and our highly qualified team d@fieeers, man
of whom have numerous years of experience andajms expertise in our business. If we are notsssful in hiring and retaining highly qualifiedgémeers, we
may not be able to extend or maintain our engingeaind technological expertise and our future pcbdad service development efforts could be adWeedéected. If
we lose members of our senior management, thissigayficantly delay or prevent the achievement wff strategic objectives and adversely affect owrating
results.

Our future success also depends on outyatalidentify, attract, hire, train, retain andtivate highly skilled managerial, operations, besis development and
marketing personnel. We have in the past maintagnegorous, highly selective and time-consumiminlyi process. We believe that our approach to gihias
significantly contributed to our success to datewidver, our highly selective hiring process has enadore difficult for us to hire a sufficient nioer of qualified
employees, and, as we grow, our hiring processpneyent us from hiring the personnel we need imaly manner. Moreover, the cost of living in thed Angeles
area, where our corporate headquarters is lochtedheen an impediment to attracting new employettge past, and we expect that this will contitwénmpair our
ability to attract and retain employees in the fatuf we fail to attract, integrate and retain tlexessary personnel, we may not be able to grimetefely and our
business could suffer significantly.
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Our failure to properly maintain our custoers' confidential information and protect our netwk against security breaches could harm our bussseand
operating results.

Advances in computer capabilities, new aligeies in the field of cryptography or other d®grhents may result in a compromise or breach ofetlenology we
use to protect user transaction data. Any compresrs$ our security could damage our reputationtaadd and expose us to possible liability suchtiagtion claims
which would substantially harm our business andatpegg results. We may need to expend significasburces to protect against security breachesaddeess
problems caused by breaches.

Many countries, such as European Union negratates as a result of the 2006 E.U. Data Retellirective, are introducing, or have alreadyadtrced into loce
law some form of traffic and user data retentioquieements, which are generally applicable to piexs of electronic communications services. Raterpieriods and
data types vary from country to country, and theous local data protection and other authorities/implement traffic and user retention requireraeagarding
certain data in different and potentially overlapgpivays. Although the constitutionality of the 20B@&J. Data Retention Directive has been questiomednay be
required to comply with data retention requiremeéntsne or more jurisdictions, or we may be recquiit@ comply with these requirements in the futls@aesult of
changes or modifications to the Boingo solutiorctseinges or modifications to the technological istinacture on which the Boingo solution is baseduF@to comply
with these retention requirements may result inittgosition of costly penalties. Compliance witlesle retention requirements can be difficult andlgdom a legal,
operational and technical perspective and coulthlaur business and operational results.

We rely on a third-party customer suppesdrvice provider for the majority of our customeugport calls. If this service provider experienceperational
difficulties or disruptions, our business could lzlversely affected.

We depend on a third-party customer supgemtice provider to handle most of our routinaitetustomer support cases. While we maintain 8ohitustomer
support operations in our Los Angeles headquarifensy relationship with our customer support seevprovider terminates unexpectedly, or if ourtooeer service
provider experiences operational difficulties, waymot be able to respond to customer support itafitimely manner and the quality of our custosewice would
be adversely affected. This could harm our repomtagind brand image and make it difficult for ugtwact and retain users. In addition, the losthefcustomer supp«
service provider would require us to identify amshitact with alternative sources, which could pramee-consuming and expensive.

Material defects or errors in our softwamuld harm our reputation, result in significantasts to us and impair our ability to sell the Boiagolution.

The software underlying the Boingo solutisinherently complex and may contain materiakdes or errors, particularly when the softwarerist introduced or
when new versions or enhancements are releasetiaefrom time to time found defects or errorsun software, and defects or errors in our exis§offware may
be detected in the future. Any defects or erroas tause interruptions to the availability of oengces could result in:

. a reduction in sales or delay in market acceptaftiee Boingo solution;
. sales credits or refunds to our users and wholgsateers;

. loss of existing users and difficulty in attractingw users;

. diversion of development resources;

. harm to our reputation and brand image; and
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. increased insurance costs.
The costs incurred in correcting any matetdefects or errors in our software may be sulbisteeind could harm our operating results.
If we fail to cost effectively develop olarand, our financial condition and operating restd could be harmed.

We market our solution under the BoingantdNVe believe that developing and maintaining &awess of our brand is important to achieving widesg
acceptance of the Boingo solution, and is an ingmirtlement in attracting and retaining customadsgartners. Additionally, we believe that devethgpthis brand in
a cost effective manner is important in meetingexpected margins. Brand promotion activities marasult in increased revenue, and any increasezhue
resulting from these promotion activities may nffset the expenses we incurred in building our brahwe fail to cost effectively build and maintadur brand, we
may fail to attract or retain customers or partnarg our financial condition and results of opiera could be harmed.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Claims by others that we infringe their proprietatgchnology could harm our business.

In recent years there has been signifiagation involving intellectual property rightsimany technology-based industries, including tiveless
communications industry. While we have not beerciigally targeted, companies similar to us haverbsubject to patent lawsuits. As we face increpsompetitior
and gain an increasingly high profile, the posgipif intellectual property rights claims against grows. We may be subject to third-party claimghe future. The
costs of supporting these litigations and dispatesconsiderable, and there can be no assurartce fénzorable outcome will be obtained. We maydiguired to settle
these litigations and disputes on terms that afavenable to us, given the complex technical isaresinherent uncertainties in intellectual propdtigation. Claims
that the Boingo solution infringes third-party itiéetual property rights, regardless of their meritesolution, could also divert the efforts amtgrtion of our
management and technical personnel. The termsyodettiements or judgments may require us to:

. cease distribution and back-end operation of thiedgpsolution;

. pay substantial damages for infringement;

. expend significant resources to develop non-infriggsolutions;

. license technology from the third-party claimindgringement, which may not be available on commdci@asonable terms, or at all;

. cross-license our technology to a competitor tolkesan infringement claim, which could weaken ability to compete with that competitor; or
. pay substantial damages to our partners to disaomtheir use of or to replace infringing solutiead to them with non-infringing solutions.

Any of these unfavorable outcomes couldehavnaterial adverse effect on our business, finhoondition and results of operations.

If we are unable to protect our intelledlproperty rights, our competitive position could harmed, or we could be required to incur sigodint expenses to
enforce our rights.

Our business depends on our ability togmioour proprietary technology. We rely on traderse patent, copyright and trademark laws andidenfiality
agreements with employees and third parties, allfo€h offer only limited protection. We own onetg@at and have applications for four additional
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patents pending. Despite our efforts, the stephave taken to protect our proprietary rights malyh®eadequate to prevent the use or misappropmiafiour
proprietary information or infringement of our ifieetual property rights. Our ability to police thee, misappropriation or infringement of our itgetual property is
uncertain, particularly in countries other than theted States. Further, we do not know whetheramyur pending patent applications will resultlie issuance of
patents or whether the examination process willirequs to narrow our claims. Even if patents aseied, they may be contested, circumvented, ofidatad in the
future. Moreover, the rights granted under anyasdspatents may not provide us with complete prégmyeprotection or any competitive advantages, asdyith any
technology, competitors may be able to developlamoir superior technologies on their own now othia future. Protecting against the unauthorizedaiour
solutions, trademarks, and other proprietary rightxpensive, difficult and, in some cases, imjidssLitigation may be necessary in the futuremdorce or defend
our intellectual property rights, to protect owade secrets, or to determine the validity and sodplee proprietary rights of others. Litigationutd result in substantial
costs and diversion of management resources, @ftvehich could harm our business. Furthermore, yrarour current and potential competitors haveahiity to
dedicate substantially greater resources to entbie intellectual property rights than we do. Aatingly, despite our efforts, if the protectionafr proprietary right
is inadequate to prevent use or misappropriatiothlvg parties, the value of our brand and oth&rigible assets may be diminished and competitassiye able to
more effectively mimic our service and methods pémtions. Any of these events would have a matadieerse effect on our business, financial coadiand results
of operations.

Our use of open source software could limir ability to commercialize the Boingo solution.

We have incorporated open source softwarethe Boingo solution. Although we closely monitair use of open source software, we are sulpettiet terms of
open source licenses that have not been interpbgtédS. or foreign courts, and there is a risk thahe future these licenses could be constroedrmanner that
imposes unanticipated conditions or restriction®onability to commercialize the Boingo solutidn.that event, we could be required to seek licerfisam third
parties or to re-engineer our software in ordezdntinue offering the Boingo solution, or to distinne operations, any of which could materially ecbely affect our
business.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may be voktilvhich could result in substantial losses for #stors.

Fluctuations in market price and volume @agticularly common among securities of technologgnpanies. As a result, you may be unable toyselt shares of
common stock at or above the price you paid. Theketgrice of our common stock may fluctuate sigaifitly in response to the following factors, amatigers,
many of which are beyond our control:

. general market conditions;

. domestic and international economic factors uneeléa our performance;

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quartexpherating results;

. changes in or failure to meet publicly disclosefdemtations as to our future financial performance;

. changes in securities analysts' estimates of aanfiial performance or lack of research and refyriadustry analysts;
. changes in market valuations or earnings of sincitanpanies;
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. announcements by us or our competitors of sigmfipgoducts, contracts, acquisitions, or stratpgit¢nerships;

. developments or disputes concerning patents origtapy rights, including increases or decreasdsigation expenses associated with intellectual
property lawsuits we may initiate, or in which wayrbe named as defendants;

. failure to complete significant sales;
. any future sales of our common stock or other seéesrand
. additions or departures of key personnel.

If securities or industry analysts publishisleading or unfavorable research about our busss, our stock price and trading volume could deeli

The trading market for our common stockedgfs in part on the research and reports thatiieswr industry analysts publish about us orlmusiness. If one or
more of these analysts downgrades our stock oighés misleading or unfavorable research aboubosiness, our stock price would likely declineotie or more of
these analysts ceases coverage of our companijsotofgublish reports on us regularly, demanddor stock could decrease, which could cause ogksgidce or
trading volume to decline. Announcements by analiisit may have a significant impact on the mapkiee of our common stock may relate to:

. our operating results or forecasts;

. new issuances of equity, debt or convertible dghid

. developments in our relationships with corporatst@uners;

. announcements by our customers or competitors;

. changes in regulatory policy or interpretation;

. governmental investigations;

. changes in the ratings of our stock by rating agsnar securities analysts;
. our acquisitions of complementary businesses; or

. our operational performance.

Insiders have substantial control over asd are able to influence corporate matters.

Our directors and executive officers argrthffiliates are able to exercise significantuehce over all matters requiring stockholder apgkancluding the
election of directors and approval of significantporate transactions, such as a merger or othepaur company or its assets. This concentragfomwnership
could limit your ability to influence corporate neats and may have the effect of delaying or pramgrd third party from acquiring control over us.

As a public company, we are subject taaficial and other reporting and corporate governanceguirements that may be difficult for us to sdfys and may
divert resources and management attention from agtérg our business.

We are required to file annual, quarterig ather reports with the SEC. We must preparetiamely file financial statements that comply witES reporting
requirements. We are also subject to other regpetitd corporate governance requirements, undeisthrgy standards of the NASDAQ
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Stock Market, or NASDAQ, which imposes significaompliance obligations upon us. We are requiredyrapother things, to:

. prepare and file periodic reports, and distributeeo stockholder communications, in compliance wlith federal securities laws and NASDAQ rules;
and
. evaluate and maintain our system of internal cémiver financial reporting, and report on managet'seassessment thereof, in compliance with rules

and regulations of the SEC and the Public CompargoAnting Oversight Board.

As of December 31, 2011, management hadiftlel a material weakness in our internal contneér income taxes. This related to insufficieniea and control
with respect to the complete and accurate recordimtgferred income tax assets and related valuatiowance, accrued taxes and income tax expénse.are
unable to appropriately maintain the remediatiangbr this material weakness and any other nepgessatrols we implement in the future, our managetmight
not be able to certify on the effectiveness ofiaternal controls over financial reporting. Any 8u@ilure to maintain adequate internal controlsldaesult in materie
misstatements or omissions in our financial statéméead to adverse regulatory consequencest@ibNlASDAQ listing standards and could cause thdiriaprice of
our common stock to decline.

If we need additional capital in the futar it may not be available on favorable terms, dradl.

We have historically relied on outside finang and cash flow from operations to fund ourrafiens, capital expenditures and expansion. Howeve may
require additional capital from equity or debt fiiwéng in the future to fund our operations, or mpto competitive pressures or strategic oppaiigmiWe may not
be able to secure timely additional financing ovofable terms, or at all. The terms of additioma&hcing may place limits on our financial and aierg flexibility. If
we raise additional funds through further issuarafesqjuity, convertible debt securities or otherwsgies convertible into equity, our existing stholders could suffe
significant dilution in their percentage ownershippur company, and any new securities we issudduave rights, preferences and privileges sewnidhdse of
holders of our common stock. If we are unable taiobadequate financing or financing on terms &attsry to us, if and when we require it, our dpito grow or
support our business and to respond to businediergas could be significantly limited.

We could be the subject of securities slastion litigation due to future stock price volhty, which could divert management's attention dradversely affect
our results of operations.

The stock market in general and marketgsrfor the securities of technology companiesdilees in particular, have from time to time expecieth volatility that
often has been unrelated to the operating perfocmahthe underlying companies. A certain degrestadk price volatility can be attributed to bemgewly public
company. These broad market and industry fluctnatinay adversely affect the market price of ourmom stock, regardless of our operating performaimcseveral
recent situations where the market price of a skaskbeen volatile, holders of that stock havetinetd securities class action litigation agaihgt tompany that issu
the stock. If any of our stockholders were to brnigwsuit against us, the defense and dispogitidne lawsuit could be costly and divert the tiemel attention of our
management and harm our operating results.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter doments and Delaware law could discourage, delaypevent a change in control of our company and ynaffect
the trading price of our common stock.

We are a Delaware corporation and thetakover provisions of the Delaware General Coiimmd_aw may discourage, delay, or prevent a changentrol by
prohibiting us from engaging in a business comlamatvith an interested stockholder for a periodioée years after the person becomes an interstiekholder,
even if a change of control would be beneficiabtw existing
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stockholders. In addition, our amended and restegetficate of incorporation and amended and tedthylaws may discourage, delay, or prevent agdamour
management or control over us that stockholders coagider favorable. For example, our amended esidited certificate of incorporation and amendetrastated
bylaws:

. authorize the issuance of "blank check" prefertedisthat could be issued by our board of directorthwart a takeover attempt;

. establish a classified board of directors, as alre$ which the successors to the directors whesas have expired will be elected to serve froe th
time of election and qualification until the thiatinual meeting following their election;

. require that directors only be removed from officecause and only upon a majority stockholder yote

. provide that vacancies on the board of directoiduiding newly-created directorships, may be filkedy by a majority vote of directors then in offic

. limit who may call special meetings of stockholders

. prohibit stockholder action by written consent,réi®y requiring all actions to be taken at a meetihthe stockholders; and

. Leclwire supermajority stockholder voting to effeettain amendments to our amended and restateficeget of incorporation and amended and restated
ylaws.

We have incurred substantial losses in fieest and may incur additional losses in the future

As of December 31, 2011, our accumulatditidevas $41.8 million. Although we have generatezt income for each fiscal year since 2009, whiels our first
full year of net income since our inception, we als® currently investing in our future growth thgh expanding our network, investing in our sofsyand
consideration of future business acquisitions. Assalt, we will incur higher depreciation and atbperating expenses, as well as potential acéursitosts, that may
negatively impact our ability to sustain profitatyilin future periods unless and until these groeftfiorts generate enough revenue to exceed theiatipg costs and
cover our additional overhead needed to scale vsinbss for this anticipated growth. The currenbgl financial condition may also impact our aliliv sustain
profitability if we cannot generate sufficient rene to offset the increased costs. In additiontscassociated with the acquisition and integratibany acquired
companies may also negatively impact our abilitguetain profitability. Finally, given the compaté& and evolving nature of the industry in which ogerate, we ms
not be able to sustain or increase profitability.

We do not intend to pay dividends on oonumon stock and, consequently, your ability to aehé a return on your investment will depend on apgiation in
the price of our common stock.

We do not intend to declare and pay divitteon our capital stock for the foreseeable futWe.currently intend to invest our future earninfany, to fund our
growth. Therefore, you are not likely to receive aividends on your common stock for the foreseedliure and the success of an investment in slofiesr
common stock will depend upon any future appreain their value.

Certain of our stockholders may have claras a result of an unauthorized e-mail sent by @mployee of one of the underwriters in our IPO thaiay have
constituted a prospectus that does not meet thaimements of the Securities Act of 1933.

Prior to the effectiveness of the registrastatement on Form S-1, an employee of DeutBetmk Securities Inc., one of the underwriters iniaitial public
offering, or IPO, distributed an
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unauthorized e-mail message containing evaluatiaterial and projections to approximately 200 pogmstitutional investors. The unauthorized edmaéssage did
not contain the required legends and a link toppospectus in order to make the email a conformimderwriter free writing prospectus. Deutsche B8ekurities Inc
has informed us that all of the recipients of thmal have been notified that it was distribute@mor and should be disregarded. Subsequentlytsblee: Bank
Securities Inc. re-sent the information contaimethe e-mail to the same distribution list with tlequired legends and links to our prospectus amdree writing
prospectus in order to make the e-mail a conformimgderwriter free writing prospectus.

Neither we nor any of the other underwstigrour IPO were involved in any way in the pregi@n or distribution of the information containiedthe e-mail, and
the information does not reflect our views, or Wws of the other underwriters, as to matters esird in the e-mails. No person who received tmaiés should rely
upon them in any manner. We urge all potential $twes to base their investment decisions solelgwrprospectus. If the e-mails did constitute dation of the
Securities Act of 1933, the recipients who purchaser common stock in the IPO may have claims &mages resulting from their purchase. Any liabiityuld
depend upon the number of shares purchased byeetspf the e-mail. If any liability is assertede intend to contest the matter. In addition, DeluesBank
Securities Inc. has agreed to indemnify us, thingestockholders and the other underwriters inl#@ for losses that we or they may incur as alredihe e-mails,
and therefore, we do not believe the distributibthe e-mails will have a material financial impact us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None
Iltem 2. Properties

We currently lease approximately 25,100esqueet of space for our corporate headquartdresnAngeles, California under a lease agreemexttetkpires in
February 2018. We have offices in Chicago, lllindiake Success, New York; McKinney, Texas; Detiiichigan; and London, United Kingdom. We believwe o
current office facilities will be adequate for tfogeseeable future.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not presently a party to any maltésgal proceedings. From time to time, we may Imeednvolved in legal proceedings in the ordinaryrse of our
business.

Iltem 4. Mine safety disclosure
Not applicable
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PART Il
Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities.

Market Information.  Since May 4, 2011, our common stock is publichgded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symiddlF1." The following table
sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high kxd prices of our common stock as reported byNASDAQ Global Market.

2011
High Low
First quartel @ (@)
Second quarte $ 13.1F $ 6.9¢
Third quartel $ 9.8t $ 6.71
Fourth quarte $ 944 $ 6.01

(a)—There was no public market for our stock prior taymt, 2011

Registered Stockholders. As of March 2, 2012, there were approximatéystckholders of record of our common stock. Stotders of record does not
include a substantially greater number of "stregh@" holders or beneficial holders of our commaristvhose shares are held of record by banks, s other
financial institutions.

Dividends. We have never declared or paid cash dividendsuo common stock, and currently do not anticigetging cash dividends in the foreseeable fu
Any future determination to pay dividends on oumooon stock, if permissible, will be at the disooetiof our board of directors and will depend upamong other
factors, our financial condition, operating resuttsrrent and anticipated cash needs, plans faaresipn and other factors that our board of directoay deem
relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Hegty Compensation Plans. The information required to be disclosed bynt201(d) of Regulation &-regarding
our equity securities authorized for issuance underequity incentive plans is incorporated hel®inmeference to the section entitled "Equity Congagion Plan
Information” in our definitive Proxy Statement four Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed witle Commission within 120 days after the end sxddl year
2011 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.Since January 1, 2009 and prior to our IPOhenee issued the following securities that wereregtstered under the
Securities Act:

1. We granted stock options to purctia2&8,557 shares of our common stock at exercisepranging from $1.40 to $8.50 per share to egg#s an
consultants under our Amended and Restated 20@k Stoentive Plan.

2. Weissued and sold an aggregat@9f21.4 shares of our common stock to employeesansultants, for aggregate consideration of appraiely
$161,539 upon exercises of previously granted aptgranted under our Amended and Restated 200k Btoentive Plan. The foregoing securities were
issued pursuant to written compensatory plansrangements with our employees and consultantdiance on the exemptions provided by either Secti@)
of the Securities Act or Rule 701 promulgated urieetion 3(b) of the Securities Act. In June 2044 issued 21,525 shares of unregistered commok &i@
lease financier through the net exercise of preshpissued warrants with an aggregate exercise pfi$43,851. All securities described in this gaaph are
deemed restricted securities for purposes of tloeri@ees Act. The instruments
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representing such issued securities included apjptegegends setting forth that the securities matcbeen registered and the applicable restrist@mtransfel

On May 3, 2011, our registration statem@mnfEorm S-1 was declared effective by the SEC éwriBO, pursuant to which we sold 3,846,800 shafesir
common stock at a public offering price of $13.%0 phare. We received net proceeds of approxim&t8y7 million from this transaction, after undeitimg
discounts, commissions and expenses. There hasbematerial change in the planned use of prociedsour IPO as described in our final prospectiesifwith the
SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b).

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. None
Performance Measurement Comparison

The following performance graph shows titaltstockholder return of an investment of $108ash made on May 4, 2011 in each of (i) our comstook, (ii) a
broad equity market index, the securities compgisire Nasdaq Composite Index, and (iii) issuerk wiinilar market capitalizations, the securitiempaising the
Russell 2000 index.

The performance graph assumes that $100nvested on May 4, 2011 in our common stock atcthsing price of $12.10 and in each index, and &la
dividends were reinvested. No dividends have bestaded nor paid on our common stock. The compasigothe graph below are required by the SEC amdat
intended to forecast or be indicative of possiblteife performance of our common stock.
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COMPARISON OF 8 MONTHS CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN *

Among Boingo Wireless, Inc., The NASDAQ Quusite Index and The Russell 2000 Ind&x

110
100
X \/
[i:]
@
= 80
(=]
i) ==
60
i 050411 031111 085011 07a1 0831411 oaan 13111 113011 1213111
—&— NASDAC Composite index | $100.00 $100.25 $38.07 39745 50120 385.40 25491 $52.65 20211
—— Russell 2000 Ingdex 100,00 £101 B8 £50.34 12569 £87.56 37734 $88.97 48854 £BB.9%
A— Baings £100.00 §77.27 £75.04 §72.48 §72.31 53,00 $83.27 §70.25 $71.07
* The material in this section is not "soliciting m@&l" and is not deemed "filed" with the SEC.diot to be incorporated by reference into angdilof Boingo

Wireless, Inc. made under the Securities Act 0f3123 amended, or the Exchange Act, whether mafdeeber after the date hereof and irrespectivengf a

general incorporation language in any such filexgept to the extent we specifically incorporaie #ection by reference.

* We chose the Russell 2000 index because it is deetpof issuers with similar market capitalizationge do not believe that we can reasonably idemtifeer

group of issuers or an industry or line-of-businesex.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following selected consolidated finahciata should be read in conjunction with "Managetis Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condittmd Results

of Operations" in Part Il, Item 7 and our accompagyConsolidated Financial Statements in Partéiml 15(a) of this report.

The selected consolidated financial datavbdas been revised to reflect the correctionsnofaterial errors in previously reported financiedults. See Note 1 of
the consolidated financial statements includedis annual report on Form 10-K for a detailed déston. The net income (loss) impact of the revisiemas a decrease
in net income attributable to common stockholdersorease in net loss attributable to common dtolders of $0.2 million, $0.3 million, $0.3 millicand
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$0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2@009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The finandi@hdor the fiscal years ended December 31, 20010 2nd
2009 are derived from our audited consolidatednfiie statements included elsewhere in this AnReglort on Form 10-K. The table also presents theaalated
statements of operations data for the years endeéiber 31, 2008 and 2007 and the consolidateddskheet data at December 31, 2009, 2008 and @0dch are
derived from our consolidated financial statemehéd are not included in this Annual Report on FA0RK.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Consolidated Statement of Operations Date
Revenue $ 94,55¢ $ 80,42( $ 6571f $ 56,71 $ 41,24(
Costs and operating expens

Network acces 37,082 31,96! 26,43( 22,97¢ 15,43¢

Network operation 15,84¢ 13,50¢ 11,66 11,01( 9,431

Development and technolos 9,43: 8,47¢ 7,37¢ 6,762 6,33:

Selling and marketin 7,40¢ 5,98t 5,901 7,54¢ 4,371

General and administrati\ 11,95: 10,64 8,21¢ 7,94¢ 6,091

Amortization of intangible asse 1,65¢ 2,491 3,84¢ 5,972 2,84¢
Total costs and operating expen 83,38! 73,06¢ 63,43¢ 62,21¢ 44 51!
Income (loss) from operatiol 11,175 7,35¢ 2,281 (5,507) (3,27))
Interest and other income (expense), (17¢) (137 (159 20C 814
Income (loss) before income tax 11,00! 7,21¢ 2,12 (5,307 (2,457)
Income tax expense (bene 4,064 (8,909 98t 567 56¢
Net income (loss $ 6937 $ 16,12. $ 1,142 $ (587H $ (3,026
Net income (loss) attributable to r-controlling

interests 64z 547 394 332 313
Net income (loss) attributable to Boingo Wireldss, $ 6,29t $ 15,57: $ 748 $ (6,206) $ (3,339
Accretion of convertible preferred sto (1,639 (5,020 (5,259 (5,25¢€) (5,199
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe: $ 4,662 $ 10,55 $ (4,511 $ (11,469 $ (8,539
Net income (loss) per share attributable to com

stockholders

Basic $ 01¢ $ 181 $ (079 $ (01)$ (159

Diluted $ 017 $ 04 $ (079 $ (201 $ (159
Other Financial Data:
Operating cash flow $ 2952¢ $ 24,16( $ 14,52: $ 10,92: $ 11,51¢
Investing cash flow (7,335 (19,939 (3,659 (2,065 (14,84)
Financing cash flow 46,01¢ (1,139 (974 (1,287 (5,389
Adjusted EBITDA(1) 28,55¢ 18,22 13,527 6,94: 4,33z
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 93,93 $§ 25,72: $ 22,62¢ $ 12,74C $ 5,17C
Working capital 74,13 17,03: 4,517 1,442 2,17¢
Total asset: 188,92( 132,04 104,40: 100,85¢ 100,47.
Long-term capital lease 197 — 38¢ 182 13€
Deferred revenu 41,32¢ 38,97¢ 29,73¢ 27,35 25,28¢
Total liabilities 59,84! 60,05¢ 48,86( 46,83¢ 40,897
Convertible preferred stoc — 122,96¢ 117,94¢ 112,69( 107,43
Total stockholders' equity (defici 129,07¢ (50,98f)  (62,40¢) (58,669 (47,859

@

depreciation and amortization of property and eongipt, amortizatiol
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of intangible assets, interest income (expense)jmesome tax expense (benefit), stock-based cosgiim expense and non-controlling
interests' expens

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is useful to inweastand other users of our financial statemenévaluating our operating performance because itiges
them with an additional tool to compare businesfopmance across companies and across periods el d that:

. Adjusted EBITDA provides investors and other usgrsur financial information consistency and congtality with our past financial performance,
facilitates period-to-period comparisons of openagi and facilitates comparisons with other compameany of which use similar non-generally
accepted accounting principles in the United St@@®&AP") financial measures to supplement their&Aresults; and

. it is useful to exclude non-cash charges, sucltagton of preferred stock, depreciation and aisspairment, amortization of other intangible asset
and stock-based compensation, and non-core opesatibarges such as an acquisition-related expéose Adjusted EBITDA because the amount of
such expenses in any specific period may not dyrectrrelate to the underlying performance of ousibess operations and these expenses can vary
significantly between periods as a result of adtjaiss, full amortization of previously acquirech@ible and intangible assets or the timing of neels
based awards.

We use Adjusted EBITDA in conjunction with traditial GAAP measures as part of our overall assessofientr performance, for planning purposes,
including the preparation of our annual operatinddet and quarterly forecasts, to evaluate the®gfmness of our business strategies and to conuatewith
our board of directors concerning our financialfpenance.

We do not place undue reliance on Adjusted EBITBAar only measure of operating performance. Adpi&BITDA should not be considered as a substitute
for other measures of financial performance regbirieaccordance with GAAP. There are limitationsising non-GAAP financial measures, including that
other companies may calculate these measuresadtiffgthan we do. We compensate for the inhereritdtions associated with using Adjusted EBITDA
through disclosure of these limitations, preseatatif our financial statements in accordance wi#AB and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the sio
directly comparable GAAP measure, net income (laisiputable to common stockholders.

The following provides a reconciliationrdt income (loss) attributable to common stockhalde Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhi $ 4,662 $ 1055 $ (4,51 $ (11,46) $ (8,539

Depreciation and amortization of property and emept 12,30: 7,511 6,65¢ 5,811 4,13¢
Income tax expense (bene! 4,064 (8,909 98t 567 56¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 3,42¢ 867 74C 66€ 61€
Amortization of other intangible ass¢ 1,65t 2,491 3,84¢ 5,972 2,84¢
Accretion of convertible preferred sto 1,63 5,02( 5,25¢ 5,25¢€ 5,19:
Non-controlling interest: 642 547 394 332 Bile
Interest (income) expense, | 17¢€ 137 154 (200) (819
Adjusted EBITDA $ 28,55¢ $ 18,22« $ 13,527 $ 6,947 $ 4,33
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION.

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad together with "Selected Consolidated Finanbiata"
and our audited consolidated financial statememts accompanying notes included elsewhere in tlngfiThis discussion contains forwaloeking statements, bas
on current expectations and related to our plarssineates, beliefs and anticipated future finangiaiformance. These statements involve risks andrtaioties and
our actual results may differ materially from thassticipated in these forward-looking statementsiassult of many factors, including those settfamder "Risk
Factors," "Forwarc-Looking Statements" and elsewhere in this filing.

Overview

We believe we are the leading global prewidf commercial mobile Wi-Fi Internet solutionsuiGoftware applications and solutions enable iiddigls to access
our extensive global Wi network of over 400,000 hotspots with deviceshsas smartphones, laptops and tablet computersof@uings provide compelling cost &
performance advantages to our customers and partner

We grew revenue from $80.4 million in 2GdG94.6 million in 2011, an increase of 17.6%. Y¥ew revenue from $65.7 million in 2009 to $80.4liwn in
2010, an increase of 22.4%. We grew Adjusted EBITEn $18.2 million in 2010, to $28.6 million in 20, an increase of 56.7%. Our net income attridatebd
common stockholders declined from $10.6 millior201.0 to $4.7 million in 2011. However, excluding ttax impact of the valuation allowance againstaiestate
net deferred tax assets in 2011 and federal netrdef tax assets in 2010, and the impact of theetion of convertible preferred stock in 2011 a®@d @, net income
attributable to common stockholders was $5.0 nmiliio 2011 compared to $3.3 million in 2010, an @ase of 52.0%. For a discussion of Adjusted EBITaW a
reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBIA, see footnote 1 to "Selected Financial Data."

Many online consumer and business actsjiseich as streaming media, social networking, tlwding large email attachments and video callieguire high-
speed, high-bandwidth Internet access. In additteaproliferation of smartphones, laptops, tabtehputers and other Wi-Fi enabled devices hassedsuo expect
access to the same content and information whithergo, with the same performance quality theyaam@istomed to in the home or office setting. Thusta
intensive activities are driving a global surgerinbile Internet data traffic that is expected tor@ase 27 times between 2010 and 2015, accordiBgto's Visual
Networking Index. We believe these trends pressntith opportunities to generate significant growtlevenue and profitability

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements aepared in accordance with GAAP. In many casesaticeunting treatment of a particular transactsspiecifically
dictated by GAAP and does not require managemgidggnent in its application, while in other casesnagement's judgment is required in selecting gmon
alternative accounting standards that allow difi€eccounting treatment for similar transactionse preparation of our consolidated financial statets) and related
disclosures require us to make estimates, assunspdiod judgments that affect the reported amouasséts, liabilities, revenue, costs and expensestelated
disclosures. We base our estimates and assumatiohistorical experience and other factors thabeleeve to be reasonable under the circumstancesarhe
instances, we could reasonably use different adoayestimates, and in some instances results abffiet significantly from our estimates. We evaiaur estimates
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. To the etitahthere are differences between our estimat@setual results, our future financial statemeespntation,
financial condition, results of operations and ctslvs will be affected.
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We believe that the assumptions and estisna$sociated with revenue recognition, accoun&svable and related allowance for doubtful acceuntisiness
combinations, goodwill, other intangible assetscktbased compensation and income tax expensefif)éraee the greatest potential impact on our ctidated
financial statements. Therefore, we believe th@actng policies discussed below are paramounhtterstanding our historical and future performamsethese
policies relate to the more significant areas imrg our management's judgments, assumptions dimdagss.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from several sourabsdimg: (i) retail customers under subscriptioar for month-to-month network access that autaalftirenew,
and retall single-use access from sales of hoddily or other single-use access plans, (ii) platfservice arrangements with wholesale custometspitovide
software licensing, network access, and profestgeraices fees and (iii) wholesale customers dinatelecom operators under long-term contractadoess to our
DAS at our managed and operated locations. Softli@mesed by our wholesale platform services custsnean only be used during the term of the service
arrangements and has no utility to them upon teation of the service arrangement.

We recognize revenue when an arrangemestseservices are delivered, fees are fixed cgrd@hable, no significant obligations remain retate the earned
fees and collection of the related receivable ésomably assured. On January 1, 2011, we adopautolisions of FASB Accounting Standards UpdagessU")
2009-13,Revenue Recognition (Topic 605)—Multiple-DeliveeaRevenue Arrangemerft&SU 2009-13") on a prospective basis. ASU 200%&f&&nds and replaces
the criteria for separating consideration in muidtigeliverable arrangements by establishing argefirice hierarchy. The selling price used for edeliverable is
based on vendor specific objective evidence ("VSQifair value if available, third-party evidenife/SOE is not available, or estimated selling pritneither
VSOE nor third-party evidence is available. ASU 24 also eliminates the residual method of alioceand requires that arrangement consideraticallbeated at
the inception of the arrangement to all deliverahising the relative selling price method. Foraekbles with a multiple element arrangement thadatermined to
be separate units of accounting at the inceptich@frrangement, we allocate the value to eachezlebased on the relative selling price metho@. ddoption of
ASU 2009-13 did not have a material impact on auarfcial position, results of operations or casiwvi as we had no new or significantly modified agements
during the year ended December 31, 2011. Additlpnfar the year ended December 31, 2010, we hademoor significantly modified multiple element amgement
that would impact earnings, if we had adopted A®0213 on January 1, 2010.

Subscription fees from retail customerspaiel monthly in advance by charge card and revendeferred for the portions of monthly recurrggscription fees
collected in advance. Our charge card processtiheitl three percent of our sales for future refunds period of six months from the month of aityivwhich was
recognized as revenue at the time of sale bechaseserve balance was not used to provide refiencisstomers. The reserve amount was subject it @ealuation:
and biannual reviews. We are currently no longguired to withhold sales, and as a result, at Désgr@1, 2011, we had no charge card reserve. Wetdoave a
stated or published refund policy for our Wi-Figee, although our customer service representatiwkgrovide a refund on a case-by-case basiss&l@mounts are
not significant and are recorded as contra revémtiee period the refunds are made. Subscriptierrédgenue is recognized ratably over the subsorigieriod.
Revenue generated from retail single-use accessagnized when earned.

Services provided to wholesale partnereupthtform service arrangements generally corgaireral elements including: (i) a term licensede aur software to
access our Wi-Fi network, (ii) access fees for meknwsage, and (iii) professional services forwafe integration and
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customization and to maintain the Wi-Fi serviceeTérm license, monthly minimum network access feebprofessional services are billed on a mortiakis based
upon predetermined fixed rates. Once the term $iedar integration and customization are delivetid fees from the arrangement are recognizedlyadaer the
remaining term of the platform service arrangemehich is generally between two to five years. Rexefor network access fees in excess of the mpnimimum
amounts is recognized when earned. All elementsinvéxisting platform service arrangements are gelyedelivered and earned concurrently througttbatterm of
the respective service arrangement.

Revenue generated from access to our DABanks consists of build-out fees and recurringeasdfees under certain long-term contracts wittcteh operators.
Build-out fees paid upfront are deferred and recmgphratably over the estimated customer relatigngariod, once the build-out is complete. Minimuamnthly
access fees for usage of the DAS networks are anoetlable and generally escalate on an annua.bBEs¢se minimum monthly access fees are recognatetly
over the term of the wholesale partner arrangeméith generally range from five to ten years. Rexefrom network access fees in excess of the mpntmimums
is recognized when earned.

In instances where the minimum monthly reenaccess fees escalate over the term of the salelservice arrangement, an unbilled receivaliecisgnized
when performance is within our control and whenhage reasonable assurance that the unbilled rditeitbalance will be collected.

We may provide professional services fiiahimplementation services for certain platfoamd DAS arrangements. For our existing arrangenibatsare
accounted for under ASC 605-Zevenue Recognition—Multiple-Deliverable Revenuamgements we defer recognition of the full arrangement ¢desation
including the initial implementation activities,direcognize all revenue ratably over the wholesatgice period, as we do not have evidence ol/&lire for the
undelivered elements in the arrangement. Upondbetéon of ASU 2009-13 on January 1, 2011, certdiour platform service or DAS arrangements mayinegthe
initial implementation services to be accountedd®ia separate unit of accounting. For such arraeges entered into or materially modified afterukay 1, 2011, we
allocate arrangement consideration at the inceffdhe arrangement to all units of accounting base the relative selling price method. We recogitie revenue
associated with any implementation services thatifyufor separate units of accounting upon conipltetf such services and all other revenue wilfdmognized
ratably over the remaining term of the wholesaleise agreement.

Advertising and other revenue is recognizben the services are performed.
Accounts Receivable and Related Allowance for Doufatl Accounts

For our DAS build-out projects, we invoimer telecom operator partners in advance of whersénvice is provided. We invoice our wholesalergas for
monthly minimum payments and usage-based feesrafiath-end. Our accounts receivable also inclugesoximately two days of charge card float in-tiafrem
our retail customers. We present accounts recevadd of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Wert@én an allowance for doubtful accounts for esteddosses
resulting from the inability of our partners to nealequired payments. In doing so, we consider theent financial condition of the customer, theafie details of the
customer account, the age of the outstanding baland the current economic environment. Any chamgiee assumptions used in analyzing a specifioagt
receivable might result in an increase or decr@atige allowance for doubtful accounts being reéngah in the period in which the change occurs.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized but instead istéal annually for impairment, or more frequentlyewlevents or changes in circumstances indicatddhmatalue of the
reporting unit has been reduced to less than ityiog value. We perform our impairment test anhuah December 31. In September 2011, the FASBeidsavised
guidance to simplify how entities test goodwill farpairment. Under
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the revised guidance, entities have the optiolir$p dssess qualitative factors to determine whethie more likely than not that the fair valueafeporting unit is less
than its carrying amount as a basis for determimihgther it is necessary to perform the two-stegpdgell impairment test described in Accounting Stards
Codification Topic 350. If, after assessing quaiN&factors, an entity determines it is not makelly than not that the fair value of a reportingtus less than its
carrying amount, then performing the two-step impaint test is unnecessary. If deemed necessamg-atep test is used to identify the potential impant and to
measure the amount of goodwill impairment, if afilye first step is to compare the fair value ofiéygorting unit with its carrying amount, includiggodwill. If the
fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its cargyamount, goodwill is considered not impairedeottise, there is an indication that goodwill maymeaired and the
amount of the loss, if any, is measured by perfogistep two. Under step two, the impairment Idsany, is measured by comparing the implied falugaf the
reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amountgdodwill. Based on our qualitative assessmenteateinber 31, 2011, we concluded that it was moadylithan not
that the fair value of our sole reporting unit we less than its carrying amount, and therefoneas unnecessary to perform the quantitative twp-shpairment test.
To date, we have not recorded any goodwill impairteharges.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of acquired veramgracts, acquired kiosks, non-competition agesgmand trade names. We record intangible asskts aalue and
amortize those with finite lives over the shortétte contractual life or the estimated useful.lifée estimate the useful lives of acquired intalggdssets based on
factors that include the planned use of each aeduittangible asset, the expected pattern of futasé flows to be derived from each acquired intdagsset and
contractual periods specified in the related agezgm We include amortization of acquired intanggkih the amortization of intangible assets finahstiatement line
item in our accompanying consolidated statementgpefations.

We perform an impairment review of longelivassets held and used including those with fiiviés, whenever events or changes in circumstaincksate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Fastersonsider important that could trigger an imp&ntreview include, however, are not limited tgngiicant under-
performance relative to projected future operatesgylts, significant changes in the manner of @er of the acquired assets or our overall busined®aproduct
strategies and significant industry or economiondse When we determine that the carrying valuelohg-lived asset may not be recoverable based tippaxistence
of one or more of these indicators, we determireréitoverability by comparing the carrying amounthe asset to net future undiscounted cash flbasthe asset is
expected to generate. We would then recognize pairment charge equal to the amount by which tineyicey amount exceeds the fair market value ofabset. To
date, we have not recorded any long-lived asseaimyent charges.

Stock-based Compensation

To date, stock-based compensation hasstedsof stock options granted to employees andemaployees. It is recorded as compensation expersagion the
grant date fair value of awards using the BlackeBehoption pricing model. We recognize stock-basmdpensation expense related to employee stoadognd
restricted stock grants, which requires us to re@@mcompensation expense equal to the grant dateaflue of awards granted to employees on agttrdine basis,
net of forfeitures, over the employee requisite/ser period.
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The assumptions that were used to calcthatgrant date fair value of our employee stodkoopgrants for the years ended December 31, 22010 and 2009
are as follows:

2011 2010 2009

Expected term (year: 6.4 6.1 7.2

Expected volatility 49.8% 67.€% 72.5%
Risk-free interest rat 24% 2.5% 3.1%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The expected term of employee stock optiepsesents the weighted-average period that thok siptions are expected to remain outstandingstimating the
expected term for options granted to employeesdutie years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and @@0&pplied the simplified method from SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, Topic 1&hare-Based PaymefiSAB Topic 14"), where options are granted atstheney. Where options were not granted at-the-
money, the expected term of employee stock optiepgesents the weighted-average period that tlol sfations are expected to remain outstanding suedlculated
based upon actual historical exercise and postagesaincellations, adjusted for expected futura@se behavior.

We determined the expected volatility agstiom using the frequency of daily historical psagf comparable public company's common stock foeréod equal
to the expected term of the options in accordartte 3AB Topic 14. We will continue to monitor pessmpanies and other relevant factors used to measyected
volatility for future stock option grants.

The risk-free interest rate assumptioraisdal upon observed interest rates of United Sgatesrnment securities appropriate for the expetead of the
employee stock options.

The dividend yield assumption is based enhistory and expectation of dividend payouts. Ndge never declared or paid any cash dividendsiomammon
stock, and do not anticipate paying any cash didden the foreseeable future.

The stock-based compensation expense rexsahim our accompanying consolidated statementgpefations is based on awards ultimately expdctedst, and
therefore, has been reduced for estimated forfsturorfeitures were estimated based on our histaekperience and future expectations. Chang#setanderlying
assumptions may have a significant impact on thierping value of the stock options, which couldda material impact on our accompanying consaidiat
financial statements. See Note 12 for further imfation regarding stock-based compensation expense.
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Valuation of Common Stock

Prior to our IPO, in 2011, 2010 and 2008,gvanted options to purchase shares of our constezk as follows:

Exercise

Price and

Estimated

Fair Value of
Number of the Shares at Retrospective Intrinsic

Grant date Shares Date of Grant Fair Value(1) Value(2)
April 22, 2009 344,96( $ 14C $ 1.4C —
June 3, 200! 25,47( 1.4C 1.4C
September 23, 20C 53,55( 1.4C 1.4C —
November 18, 200 20,90( 1.4C 1.4C
December 31, 200 618,80( 1.4C 2.8t $ 1.4t
April 22, 2010 26,66( 2.8% 2.8t
August 4, 201( 26,20( 2.8t 2.8t —
January 26, 201 102,01° 8.5C 8.5C —

Q) Represents our retrospective fair value assessofi@or common stock for January 26, 2011 and thinougthe years ended

December 31, 2010 and 2009.

2) Represents the difference between the exercise and the retrospective fair value assessmentrafmumon stock.

Significant Factors in Determining Fair Value

Because there was no public market forcommmon stock prior to our IPO, determining the failue of our common stock required making comjled
subjective judgments and there was inherent uriogrten our estimate of fair value. Prior to ouitQPour general policy was to grant employee optatrexercise
prices equal to the fair value of the underlyingnooon stock at the time of grant, as determinedsbgind our board of directors. To determine theviaiue of our

common stock we considered many factors, including:

. our current and historical financial performance;

. our expected future financial performance;

. our financial condition at the grant date;

. the liquidation rights and other preferences of meferred stock;

. input from management;

. the lack of marketability of our common stock;

. the anticipation or likelihood of a potential liglity event such as a sale of the business or lipitialic offering;
. the condition of and outlook for our industry;

. the business risks inherent in our business;

. the market performance of comparable publicly-tdadempanies; and

. the United States and global capital market cooiti
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Valuation Methodologies Used in Determining Fair Véue

To determine the estimated fair value af@mmon stock at each grant date, we conductegtiadic in depth valuation analysis of our commtock prepared
with the assistance of an independent valuation &nd also considered the factors noted abovev@uation analysis followed the guidance set fimgtthe America
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, or AICPRechnical Practice Aid, "Valuation of Privatelyeld-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensatio
referred to herein as the AICPA Practice Aid. Basedhe guidance of the AICPA Practice Aid, weingitl a combination of valuation methods includingrecome
approach using an analysis of expected future digeal cash flows and a market approach for simanpanies with publicly-traded ownership intergstarket
comparable method). We then weighted these twaatialus to calculate an expected business entenmlse which was applied to our capital structarélétermine a
value per common share.

The expected future discounted cash flowadysis identifies a level of annual cash flowsddinite number of years and a residual valudéatnd of the
projection period. A discount rate which reflectsimates of investor- required rates of returnsiarilar investments is used to calculate the priegalne. The market
comparable method uses valuation multiples of caaipa companies which are applied to our operattagstics to arrive at a value. These two busieessrprise
values are then equally weighted to determinedts valuation.

To estimate the value of common shares seel a dynamic option model to value the variouspgmments of our capital structure. These comporieotsded
common shares, liquidation rights and preferené¢eaippreferred stock, warrants and options on comshares. The total value of these securitiesdivéded by the
number of fully converted shares to provide amestéd value of common shares on a marketable,attimdy interest. A discount for lack of control atatk of
marketability was then applied to yield the valee pommon share. During the timeframes noted belley factors considered in determining the lacknafketability
discount applied to our common stock included:

. there was no market for our common stock;

. our preferred stockholders had substantial liqinshapreferences that in the event of most liquigtgnts would result in very little of the proceeds
going to the common stockholders; and

. an initial public offering was not contemplated amals not a likely near term exit strategy durinig timeframe.

For the January 26, 2011 grants, we altiaad the probability-weighted expected return hwoet to validate the fair value of our common stbeked on the
methods discussed above. The growth and expanbmur dusiness, combined with a continuing trenderieral improvement in the capital markets, hadiged us
better visibility into the likelihood of a liquiditevent transpiring within the next 12 months. Tinisbability-weighted expected return method inelsithe following
steps:

. We estimate the timing of each possible liquidityamme and its future value. In our analysis, westered potential liquidity scenarios relatedro a
initial public offering, strategic sale, stayingyate and distressed sale. The anticipated timfrggotential liquidity event utilized in these wuations,
such as an initial public offering of our commond, was based primarily on then current plansestonates of our board of directors and
management;

. We determine the appropriate allocation of valutheocommon stockholders under each liquidity sgermased on the rights and preferences of each
class of stock at that time;

. The resulting value of common stock under eachaes multiplied by a present value factor, céted based on our cost of equity and the expected
timing of the event;
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. The value of common stock is then multiplied byeatimated probability for each of the expected &vdetermined by our management; and

. We then calculate the probability-weighted value gfeare of common stock.
Fair Value of Stock Option Grants

April 2009 through November 2009.In connection with our stock option grants madApril 2009 through November 2009, we considettezlcontinued
downturn in the United States and global marketsiemimpact on our projected revenue growth. Ve aloted that no other factors had significantlgrgded from th
assumptions used in the valuation report dated idbee 31, 2008 which utilized the valuation methodi¢s described above and accordingly arrivedfair aalue of
our common stock of $1.40 per share and grantadrapat an exercise price of $1.40 per share duhisgperiod.

December 2009. In connection with our stock option grants cecBmber 31, 2009, we considered the factors and year valuation report described above,
and any changes in the United States and globdetsaand their impact on our projected revenue gr@mce the grants in November 2009. We arrivezhanitial
fair value of our common stock of $1.40 per shar@ granted options at an exercise price of $1.4Glpare. Upon receiving the January 1, 2010 valoagport in
April 2010, which utilized the same methodologieglee December 31, 2008 valuation report but witlhemmecent company and market data, we calculated a
retrospective fair value of $2.85 per share andreesponding intrinsic value of $1.45 per shareicvhwill be charged to earnings over the respectasting periods
the underlying stock options.

April 2010. In connection with our stock option grants iprih2010, we considered the factors and the valnaeport of January 1, 2010 described in our
December 2009 option grants above, and any changles United States and global markets and thgiaict on our projected revenue growth since thetgria
December 2009. We arrived at a fair value of oumemn stock of $2.85 per share and granted optibas axercise price of $2.85 per share.

August 2010. In connection with our stock option grants inghist 2010, we considered the factors and the tratuseport described in our April 2010 option
grants above, and any changes in the United Sdattglobal markets and their impact on our progtcéyenue growth and any changes in our projegbedading
results noting no significant changes since thatgran April 2010. We also noted that there werehanges in the key factors noted above relatégetonarketability
discounts used to determine the fair value of mmmon stock Accordingly, we arrived at a fair vabfeour common stock of $2.85 per share and graopéidns at a
exercise price of $2.85 per share. Given the uateytassociated with valuing a private company pekeve the valuation analysis and factors comsidiéy us and
our board of directors was reasonable and souddtermining the fair value of our common stock tlgio August 31, 2010. We did not begin to prepareHis
offering until September 2010 and we did not hald @rganization meeting until October 20, 2010.

January 2011. In connection with our stock option grants@mJdary 2011, we considered any changes in the d)Bit@&tes and global markets and their impact
on our projected revenue growth, any changes irpmjected operating results and the valuationntegfodDecember 15, 2010. This valuation reportizei the same
methodology as the valuation report of January0102 however, it also included the probabiltgighted expected return method that utilizes stemaobabilities fo
an initial public offering, a strategic sale, conting as a private company and a distressed satmrdingly, we arrived at a fair value of our commatock of $8.50
per share and granted options at an exercise @fri$8.50 per share.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are provided based on thditialmethod, which results in income tax assetd Babilities arising from temporary differencesfporary
differences are differences between the tax bdsissets and liabilities and their reported amoimtke financial statements that will result indale or deductible
amounts in future years. The liability method regsithe effect of tax rate changes on current andraulated deferred income taxes to be reflectéldamperiod in
which the rate change was enacted. The liabilityhiet also requires that deferred tax assets beegdoy a valuation allowance unless it is moreljiltean not that
the assets will be realized.

We may recognize the tax benefit from utaiertax positions only if it is at least more likehan not that the tax position will be sustairedexamination by the
taxing authorities, based on the technical mefith® position. The tax benefits recognized infthancial statements from such a position shouldieasured based
on the largest benefit that has a greater than I8@#hood of being realized upon settlement witle taxing authorities. Upon our adoption of thated standard,
there was no liability for uncertain tax positiahse to the fact that there were no material idetifax benefits that were considered uncertaiitipos.

We establish valuation allowances when s&mey to reduce deferred tax assets to the amexpésted to be realized. We evaluate the neecifarthe adequacy
of, valuation allowances based on the expectedzegn of our deferred tax assets. The factorsl tie@ssess the likelihood of realization incluédrical earnings,
our latest forecast of taxable income and availebteplanning strategies that could be implemetdagalize the net deferred tax assets.

Our effective tax rates are primarily afegtby the amount of our taxable income or lossekeé various taxing jurisdictions in which we ogter, the amount of
federal and state net operating losses and taxgréte extent to which we can utilize these rparating loss carryforwards and tax credits anthgebenefits related
to stock option activity.

Prior to 2009, we incurred annual operatosges since inception. We did not benefit froesthlosses and only provided for state and forieiggme taxes. In
December 2011 and 2010, based on current year memh projected income in future years, we condubat it was more likely than not that a portidritee net
deferred tax assets recorded would be realizedu8b, we deemed it appropriate to decrease ouatiatuallowance by $1.3 million and $12.3 millioespectively.

As of December 31, 2011, we had federabpetating loss carryforwards of approximately $8i0ion, and state net operating loss carryforveantl
approximately $27.9 million. The federal net opergioss carryforwards will begin to expire in 202ihd the state net operating loss carryforwardidoegin to expir
in 2012.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accountingnaencements is contained in Note 2 "Significant@uting Policies” to the Notes to accompanying otidated
financial statements, which is incorporated hetsirthis reference.
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Key Business Metrics
In addition to monitoring traditional fineilal measures, we also monitor our operating pevémrce using the following key performance indicsitor

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, excep
churn data)
Subscriber: 257 20C 14C
Monthly churn 9.2% 9.5% 9.7%
Connects 7,97¢ 7,762 5,397

Subscribers. This metric represents the number of payingilretistomers who are on a month-to-month subsoripgilan at a given period end.

Monthly churn. This metric shows the number of subscribers vdmeled their subscriptions in a given monthyesged as a percentage of the average
subscribers in that month. The churn in a givenogeis the average monthly churn in that periodsTheasure is one indicator of the longevity of suinscribers.
Some of our customers who cancel subscriptions taiaiaccounts for single-use access.

Connects. This metric shows how often individuals connecbur global WiFi network in a given period. These are paid cotsirom our retail customers a
wholesale partners, with which we have usage-bagesements. We count each individual as a singleext regardless of how many times that individwcalesses
the network at a given venue during their 24 hariqal. This measure is an indicator of paid agtitiroughout our network.

Key Components of our Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue consists of retail revenue,ledale revenue, and advertising and other revenue.

Retail subscription. We generate revenue from sales to individuafaanth-to-month network access subscriptions glmatically renew, primarily through
charge card transactions.

Retall single-use. We generate revenue from sales of hourly, dailgther single-use access to individuals prirgalifough charge card transactions.

Wholesale. We generate revenue from wholesale partnetditiease our software and pay usage-based monétlyork access fees to allow their customers to
access our global Wi-Fi network, and telecom openaértners that pay us build-out fees and acaEssfbr our DAS networks. Usage-based network adees may
be measured in minutes, connects or megabytesnandst cases are subject to monthly minimums. Otfelesale partners pay us monthly fees to prosidéi-Fi
infrastructure that we install, manage and opestitheir venues for their customers under a seiiogider arrangement.

Advertising and other. We generate revenue from advertisers that erdach visitors to our landing pages at our madamnd operated network locations with

online advertising, promotional and sponsored @oty. In addition, we receive revenue from kiosksigesome of the airports where we manage ancatpéne Wi-
Fi network.
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Costs and Operating Expenses

We classify our costs and operating expeasenetwork access, network operations, developamehtechnology, selling and marketing, generdl an
administrative, and amortization of intangible assBetwork access costs consist primarily of paytsiéo venues and network partners in our netw@tker costs ar
operating expenses primarily consist of personasis; costs for contracted labor and developmeartketing, legal, accounting and consulting serviees other
professional service fees. Personnel costs indatigies, bonuses, stock-based compensation andysepenefits. Facilities costs and depreciatiqreases are
generally allocated based on headcount. Depreniatipenses associated with specifically identiBaddsets are allocated to the appropriate expatsgories.

Network access. Network access costs consist of revenue sten@ents to venue owners where our managed andtegdratspots are located, usage-based
fees to our roaming network partners for accesbdv networks, depreciation of equipment relatedetwork build-out projects in our managed and-ajeel
locations, and bandwidth and other Internet conviécexpenses in our managed and operated location

Network operations. Network operations expenses consist of costsdocustomer service department and for our dpersstaff that designs, builds, monitors
and maintains the network. Also included are expefigr our customer service provider that handissammer care inquiries and expenses for networkatipas
contractors, equipment depreciation and softwadehandware maintenance fees.

Development and technology Development and technology expenses consistgis for our product development and engineeregpdments, developers and
our information systems services staff, equipmeptreciation and software and hardware maintenares f

Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist of dostsur business development and marketing emplewad executives, travel and
entertainment and marketing programs.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consisbsts for our executive, finance and accountingalland human resources
personnel, as well as, legal, accounting, tax dhdrgrofessional service fees. Also included dneocorporate expenses such as charge card piragésss and bad
debt expense.

Amortization of intangible assets.Amortization of intangible assets consists priity of acquired network contracts.
Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other income (expense), metsist of interest income and capital lease olitigat
Income Taxes

As a result of the utilization of our fedkenet operating loss carryforwards, our incomesarclude only state income taxes and federairgtere minimum tax.
In 2011 and 2010, income taxes also include $1lBomiand $12.3 million of tax benefits associateith the release of a portion of our state and feidealuation
allowances, respectively.

Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests are comprisedrmfiority holdings by third parties in our subsidésr Concourse Communications Detroit, LLC, or CC&rbit, and
Chicago Concourse Development Group, LLC, or CCDG.
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We attributed profits and losses to the-oontrolling interest in CCG Detroit under the terof the limited liability company agreement. CC@tit has
generated losses over the last several years whigheduced the non-controlling owners capital actto zero in 2009 resulting in an allocationtie tontrolling
interest holder of all operating losses and deficieated by the annual $85,000 fixed distributionthe non-controlling interest holder.

We are required to pay a portion of alledatet profits less capital expenditures of the@iéng year to the minority interest holders of G&rhe limited
liability company agreement for CCDG does not haterm. CCDG can be dissolved upon the unanimoreeagent of the members, upon the sale of CCDG, upon
declaration of bankruptcy, or upon the terminatiéthe license agreement between CCDG and thedEiBhicago.
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Results of Operations

We revised previously issued financialestatnts to correct errors identified related to aotiog for income taxes. The revisions were imniatéo the periods
impacted, as disclosed in Note 1 of the consolléiteincial statements included in this annual repn Form 10-K. All amounts in Item 7 of this fily are provided
as revised.

The following tables set forth our resufoperations for the specified periods.

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Revenue $ 94,55¢ $ 80,42( $ 65,71
Costs and operating expens
Network acces 37,08: 31,96! 26,43(
Network operation 15,84¢ 13,50¢ 11,66
Development and technolos 9,432 8,47¢ 7,374
Selling and marketin 7,40¢ 5,98t 5,901
General and administratiy 11,95:¢ 10,64¢ 8,21¢
Amortization of intangible asse 1,65¢ 2,491 3,84¢
Total costs and operating expen 83,38! 73,06t 63,43¢
Income from operation 11,175 7,35¢ 2,281
Interest and other income (expense), (7€) (137) (154)
Income before income tax 11,00! 7,21¢ 2,127
Income tax expense (bene 4,06¢ (8,907 98¢t
Net income 6,937 16,121 1,142
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 642 547 394
Net income attributable to Boingo Wireless, Ir 6,29t 15,57+ 74¢
Accretion of convertible preferred sto (1,639 (5,020 (5,259
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 4,662 $ 1055¢ $ (4,51)
Depreciation expense included in the above line ites:
Network acces $ 8861 $ 4392 $ 4,17¢
Network operation 2,44L 1,747 1,05¢
Development and technolos 872 1,024 1,14¢
General and administratiy 117 34¢ 27¢

$ 12,301 $ 7,511 $ 6,65¢

Stock-based compensation expense included in the abowvesdliitems:

Network operation $ 468 $ 131 $ 127
Development and technolos 577 11E 84
Selling and marketin 65C 171 114
General and administrati\ 1,73¢ 45C 41t

$ 342 $ 867 $ 74C

The $4.8 million increase in depreciatiopense for the year ended December 31, 2011 isapifima result of our significant investment in DAStworks during
2011.
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The $2.6 million increase in stock-baseghpensation expense for the year ended Decemb@031,is primarily a result of the May 3, 2011 IP@ms in which
2.2 million shares were granted at the IPO pric1.50 per share.

The following table sets forth our resufoperations for the specified periods as a paaggnof our revenue for those periods.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(as a percentage ¢
revenue)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Costs and operating expens
Network acces 39.2 39.¢ 40.2
Network operation 16.¢ 16.¢ 17.¢
Development and technolos 10.C 10.5 11.2
Selling and marketin 7.8 7.5 9.C
General and administratiy 12.€ 13.2 12.5
Amortization of intangible asse 1.8 3.1 5.¢
Total costs and operating expen 88.2 90.¢ 96.€
Income from operation 11.¢ 9.1 34
Interest and other expense, 0.9 0.9 0.9
Income before income tax 11.€ 8.¢ 3.2
Income tax expense (bene 4.3 (11.) 1t
Net income s 20.C 1.7
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 0.7 0.7 0.€
Net income attributable to Boingo Wireless, Ir 6.€ 19.c 1.1
Accretion of convertible preferred sto .7 (6.9 (8.0
Net income attributable to common stockholc 4% 13.1% (6.9%

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Revenue

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands, except churn data ant
percentages)

Revenue
Retail subscriptiot $ 29,031 $ 23,56 $ 5,47- 23.2
Retail singl-use 16,05« 17,46( (1,406 (8.2)
Wholesale 43,70 35,13¢ 8,57: 24.4
Advertising and othe 5,76¢ 4,26t 1,49¢ 35.2
Total revenue $ 94,55¢ $ 80,42( $ 14,13¢ 17.€
Key business metric:
Subscriber: 257 20C 57 28.t
Monthly churn 9.2% 9.5% (0.9% 3.2
Connects 7,97¢ 7,762 21€ 2.8
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Retail subscription. Retail subscription revenue increased $5.5anillor 23.2%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, dwe28.5% increase in subscribers. The
impact of the increase in subscribers was part@fliyet by a decrease in our average monthly rexv@en subscriber of 5.7% from the growing mix ofés-priced
smartphone subscriptions compared to laptop syjigons.

Retail single-use. Retail single-use revenue decreased $1.4 mjléo 8.1%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, due tbla4%% decrease in single-use connects. The
decrease in single-use connects was due primartlyetincrease in new customers that opted forcsigt®ns, increased usage from wholesale partastomers that
use our service on a wholesale basis rather thexhase single-use access, and from increased pgmrabsponsorships.

Wholesale. Wholesale revenue increased $8.6 million, 0424 in 2011, as compared to 2010, due to $5.1aniffom new DAS build-out projects in our
managed and operated locations, $1.9 million froongased usage-based fees, and $1.6 million froi® Bkess and usage fees.

Advertising and other. Advertising and other revenue increased $1lbomj or 35.2%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, uacreases of $0.8 million in
promotional sponsorships and $0.7 million in aitgopject revenue.

Costs and Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentage:

Costs and operating expens

Network acces $ 37,08: $ 31,96. $ 5,121 16.C
Network operation 15,84¢ 13,50¢ 2,341 17.3
Development and technolos 9,43: 8,47¢ 95¢ 11.2
Selling and marketin 7,40¢ 5,98t 1,42¢ 23.¢
General and administrati\ 11,95: 10,64 1,30¢ 12.z
Amortization of intangible asse 1,65¢ 2,491 (83€) (33.¢)
Total costs and operating expen $ 83,38. $ 73,06F $ 10,31¢ 14.1

Network access. Network access costs increased $5.1 millior1,600%, in 2011, as compared to 2010. The charftget®increases of $4.5 million from
equipment depreciation expense from DAS build-gojgets, $3.0 from revenue share paid to venuesiirmanaged and operated locations, and $0.7 miilzm
bandwidth and other Internet connectivity expen$és.increase was partially offset by a decreask8df million from customer usage at partner venues

Network operations. Network operations expenses increased $2.8omilbr 17.3%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, duede@ases of $1.3 million in personnel
related expenses inclusive of $0.3 million in sthelsed compensation expenses, $0.7 million in e depreciation expenses, $0.3 million in Inteoo@nectivity
expenses, and $0.1 million in travel and enterteininexpenses. The increase was partially offset $9.1 million decrease in software maintenanceesgs.

Development and technology Development and technology expenses increab@®dndillion, or 11.3%, in 2011, as compared to 20 to increases of
$1.1 million in personnel related expenses inclesif’$0.5 million in stock-based compensation espsnand $0.3 million in software maintenance eseenThe
increase was partially offset by decreases of $0l8n in consulting expenses and $0.1 millioneiguipment depreciation expense.
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Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased $illibm or 23.8%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, tucreases of $1.3 million in
personnel related expenses inclusive of $0.5 mililostock-based compensation expenses, and $0idmm brand marketing program expenses.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increase&drsillion, or 12.3%, in 2011, as compared to 20 to increases of
$1.6 million in personnel related expenses incleigiZ$1.3 million in stock-based compensation espen$0.2 million in insurance expenses, $0.1 onilin credit
card and bank fees, and $0.1 million in bad depeages. The increase was partially offset by deeseaf $0.4 million in professional fees, $0.2 imillin equipment
depreciation expenses and $0.1 million in consgltees.

Amortization of other intangible assetsAmortization of other intangible assets expetesereased $0.8 million, or 33.6%, in 2011, as aneghto 2010. The
decrease was due to certain acquired assets haipgunortized during 2011. For future years, anzatton expense is expected to be $0.9 million2@t2 and 2013,
$0.8 million for 2014, 2015, and $6.1 million fod26 and thereafter.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest and other income (expense), retained essentially unchanged in 2011, as compar2etl0.
Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) increasedd8llion in 2011, as compared to 2010. This insees primarily due to the release of the valuagibowance on our
federal deferred tax assets in December 2010. teéer 2011 and 2010, based on current year inemh@ur projections of future income, we concludedas
more likely than not that certain of our deferra® assets would be realizable, resulting in $118aniand $12.3 million of tax benefits, respectiygrom the release
of the valuation allowance.

Our future effective tax rate depends ormoues factors, such as tax legislation and creafit$ the geographic compositions of our pre-taxrimeo
Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests' payments remdiessentially unchanged in 2011, as compared t0.201
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Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Revenue

Revenue
Retail subscriptiol
Retail singl-use
Wholesale
Advertising and othe

Total revenue

Key business metric:

Subscriber:

Monthly churn
Connects

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 Change % Change

(in thousands, except churn data ant
percentages)

$ 2356° $ 18,337 $ 5,23( 28.
17,46(  18,06( (600) (3.3
35,13 2395t  11,17¢ 46.7
4,26t 536¢ (1,10 (20.6)

$ 80,42( $ 65,71 $ 14,70¢ 22.4

20C 14C 6C 42.¢
9.5% 9.7% 0.2% 2.1
7,762 5,397 2,36¢ 43.¢

Retail subscription. Retail subscription revenue increased $5.2ianillor 28.5%, in 2010, as compared to 2009, dwe4d.9% increase in subscribers. This
increase was partially offset by a reduction inrage monthly subscriber revenue of 17.2%, duededdining number of subscribers continuing to gday tistorically
higher monthly rates in effect prior to our 200&prreduction and the greater mix of lower pricethephone subscriptions.

Retail single-use. Retail single-use revenue decreased $0.6 mjloo 3.3%, in 2010, as compared to 2009, duelt®% decrease in single-use connects. We
believe that the decrease in single-use connectglwa primarily to the increase in new customeas dpted for subscriptions, and increased usage Wholesale
partner customers that use our service on a wHelbesais rather than purchase single-use access.

Wholesale. Wholesale revenue increased $11.2 million,6o7%, in 2010, as compared to 2009, due to $8.Bomilrom increased usage-based fees,
$1.6 million from new DAS build-out projects in onmranaged and operated locations, and $0.8 millimm DAS access and usage fees.

Advertising and other. Advertising and other revenue decreased $1lllbmior 20.6%, in 2010, as compared to 2009, wugecreases in promotional
sponsorships of $1.4 million, and a $0.1 milliorase in kiosk revenue, partially offset by a $Qilion increase in airport project revenue.

Costs and Operating Expenses

Costs and operating expens
Network acces
Network operation
Development and technolos
Selling and marketin
General and administrati
Amortization of intangible asse

Total costs and operating expen
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Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentage

$ 31,967 $ 26,43( $ 5,531 20.¢
13,50¢ 11,667 1,841 15.€
8,47t 7,37¢ 1,101 14.¢
5,98t 5,901 84 1.4
10,64¢ 8,21¢ 2,431 29.€
2,491 3,84¢ (1,35 (35.9
$ 73,06 $ 6343¢ $ 9,631 15.2
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Network access. Network access costs increased $5.5 millior2008%, in 2010, as compared to 2009. The charftget®increases of $2.7 million from
revenue share paid to venues in our managed amdtegdocations, $2.6 million from customer usagpaatner venues, $0.3 million from bandwidth atiteo
Internet connectivity expenses and $0.2 millionrfrequipment depreciation expense from DAS buildprajects. The increase was partially offset byd$illion of
credits not used by a wholesale customer for nétwocess.

Network operations. Network operations expenses increased $1.8milbr 15.8%, in 2010, as compared to 2009, dwe$0.9 million increase in hardware
depreciation and software maintenance expensésfandillion increase in consulting, Internet contigty and travel expenses, and a $0.3 million @a=e in
personnel related expenses.

Development and technology Development and technology expenses increabddndillion, or 14.9%, in 2010, as compared to 2a0% to a $0.9 million
increase in personnel related expenses and a $fichrmcrease in consulting and software maintereexpenses.

Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased $0libm or 1.4%, in 2010, as compared to 2009, ttuea $0.4 million increase in person
related expenses and a $0.2 million increase iswting and travel expenses, partially offset 1026 million decrease in brand marketing prograpeases.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increadedrfillion, or 29.6%, in 2010, as compared to 2@08 to $1.1 million in legal
and accounting fees, $1.0 million in consultansfe&9.6 million in personnel related expenses @né fillion in lease, rent and other expenses.ifibease was
partially offset by a $0.9 million decrease in lugbt expenses.

Amortization of other intangible assetsAmortization of other intangible assets expetesereased $1.4 million, or 35.3%, in 2010, as anegh to 2009. The
decrease was due to certain acquired assets he#ipagiortized during 2010.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest and other income (expense), retaned essentially unchanged in 2010, as compar2e09.
Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) decreased®@lidn in 2010, as compared to 2009. In Decenfi¥t0, based on current year income and our projesf future
income, we concluded it was more likely than nat ttertain of our deferred tax assets would bezaale, and therefore the valuation allowance wasiced by
$12.3 million.

Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests' payments inceza$0.2 million in 2010, as compared to 2009, duedreased profits at the two applicable managedoperated
locations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents and marlesauurities increased $58.8 million to $93.9 willas of December 31, 2011, from $35.1 million aBecember 31,
2010 due primarily to proceeds received from th@.I1Puring the year ended December 31, 2011, wergttbcash from operating activities of $29.5 miili This
cash was partially used to fund $16.9 million ipital expenditures during the year.

We have financed our operations primafilptigh cash provided by operating activities, ®@ leffective on May 3, 2011, and prior to our IB® private
placements of preferred equity securities and comstock. Our primary source of liquidity as of Ded#er 31, 2011 consisted of $93.9 million of casti eash
equivalents.
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Our principal uses of liquidity have beerfund our operations, working capital requiremeo#pital expenditures and acquisitions. We exgettworking
capital requirements, internal capital expenditaned capital expenditures for expansion of exiséind new managed and operated locations will beponcipal
needs for liquidity over the near term. Our capégbenditures in 2011 were $16.9 million with $1&lion for DAS build-out projects which were refarsed by the
telecom operators.

We believe that our existing cash and eaglivalents, working capital and our cash flow froperations, together with the net proceeds weveddrom our
IPO, will be sufficient to fund our operations guidnned capital expenditures for at least the a@xnonths. There can be no assurance, howevefuthag industry-
specific or other developments, general econoreitds, or other matters will not adversely affeat @perations or our ability to meet our future cestuirements.
Our future capital requirements will depend on méagtors, including our rate of revenue growth, tih@ing and size of our managed and operated locaxpansion
efforts, the timing and extent of spending to suppooduct development efforts, the timing of itutions of new solutions and enhancements toiegisblutions,
the relationships with our customers and wholesaed the continuing market acceptance of ourisolsit We may enter into acquisitions of complementa
businesses, applications or technologies whichdcmeguire us to seek additional equity or debtrfeiag. Additional funds may not be available onrtsrfavorable to
us, or at all.

The following table sets forth cash flowtal#or the periods indicated therein:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 29,52¢ $ 24,16( $ 14,52:
Net cash used in investing activiti (7,335 (19,939 (3,659
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 46,01¢ (1,139 (974)
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 68,212 $ 3,092 $ 9,88¢

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

In 2011, we generated $29.5 million of cesh from operating activities, which consistednariily of net income, including non-controlling émnéests of
$6.9 million adjusted for non-cash charges for dejation of $12.3 million, stock-based compensaérpense of $3.5 million, changes in deferred tafes
$2.8 million, amortization of other intangibles®i.7 million, forgiveness of note receivable frorockholder of $0.1 million and change in fair vahfepreferred
stock warrants of $0.1 million, in addition to clgas in working capital of $2.1 million. The largeiease in depreciation expense was primarily dueit significant
investment in DAS networks during 2011. The lamyaréase in stock-based compensation expense waaryi due to the May 3, 2011, IPO stock optionngraf
2.2 million options to employees and directors. $8e8 million change in the deferred tax assetrizaas due to the tax benefit from stock optionreises of
$1.8 million and the remaining $1.0 million is doemarily to the utilization of net operating losarryforwards. The $2.1 million source of cash Hasg from the
change in working capital was due primarily to #24 million deferred revenue increase which resuftom build-out projects in 2011 and the $0.7iomldecrease
in prepaid expenses and other assets. These insraespartially offset by the timing of the cotlen of receivables and payments to vendors netoreg$1.0 million
use of cash.

In 2010, we generated $24.2 million of cesh from operating activities, which consisted@fincome including non-controlling interests a6$L million,
depreciation of $7.5 million, amortization of ingibles of $2.5 million, stock-based compensatiopesse of $0.9 million, $(10.4) million in deferrekes resulting
from a change in tax valuation allowance, $0.1limillin the change in fair
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value of preferred stock warrants, and changesoirkiwg capital of $7.5 million. The $7.5 milliongelting from the change in working capital was tlu¢he increase
in deferred revenue of $9.2 million, the net ins@@ accounts payable, accrued expense and @hdities of $1.3 million, and the $0.2 million dease in prepaid
expenses and other assets. The deferred revermeaseaesulted from an increase in the numberitf-but projects. These sources of cash were partifibet by the
increase in accounts receivable and unbilled ratéds of $3.2 million.

In 2009, we generated $14.5 million of ceesh from operating activities, which consistedi@fincome including non-controlling interests @t Bmillion,
depreciation of $6.7 million, amortization of intables of $3.9 million, stock-based compensatiopesse of $0.7 million, $0.3 million of deferred téadbilities and
changes in working capital of $1.8 million. The &nillion resulting from the change in working c@biwas primarily due to collection of our accourgseivable and
unbilled receivables of $0.2 million, the increaseleferred revenue of $2.4 million and $0.7 millio prepaid expenses, partially offset by $1.3iamilin net decreas
in accounts payable, accrued expense and othditiggh The increase in deferred revenue resuitech a greater number of build-out projects.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

In 2011, we used $7.3 million in investimgfivities. Investing activities consisted of puashs of $16.9 million of property and equipmentngarily related to
DAS build-out projects in our managed and operéiedtions, $0.2 million of payments related to dsifions and $0.1 million of payments for patertitademarks
and domain. These uses of cash were partially dffs§9.4 million in sales of short-term marketabéeurities, and a $0.5 million decrease in reswicash.

In 2010, we used $19.9 million in investedivities. Investing activities consisted of puases of $11.3 million of property and equipmentgrily related to
build-outs in our managed and operated locatiods} #illion in purchases of short-term marketalgewsities and $0.2 million of payments relateddquasitions.
These uses of cash were partially offset by theedese in restricted cash of $1.0 million.

In 2009, we used $3.7 million in investimgfivities. Investing activities consisted of puasks of $4.3 million of property and equipment pwiity related to
build-outs in our managed and operated locatidresptirchase of assets acquired of $0.6 milliorinarease in restricted cash of $0.3 million andrpegt for issued
patents of $0.1 million, partially offset by $1.6llion in proceeds from the sale of short-term neddble securities.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

In 2011, we generated $46.0 million in fineg activities, an increase of $47.2 million froine net use of cash in the 2010. Cash provideiihbycing activities
was primarily due to the proceeds from our IPO.

In 2010, we used $1.1 million in financiagtivities. Cash used in financing activities wasnarily due to payments for capital leases of $@illion and
payments to non-controlling interests of $0.4 roiili

In 2009, we used $1.0 million in financiagtivities. Cash used in financing activities insyaimarily due to payments for capital leases@6$nillion and
payments to non-controlling interests of $0.4 roiili

Transactions with Related Parties

Under our audit committee charter, our aadmmittee is responsible for reviewing and apprgall related party transactions on a quartedyi®. In addition,
our board of directors
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determines annually whether any related partyioelahips exist among the directors which wouldriete with the judgment of individual directorsd@arrying out his
responsibilities as director.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table sets forth our contreadtobligations and commitments as of DecembefG11:

Payments due by perioc

Less than More than
Total 1 Year Years 2-3 Years 4-5 5 years
(in thousands)
Venue revenue share minimums $ 46,94¢ $ 6,42t $ 853¢ $ 6,97/ $ 25,00¢
Operating leases for office space(2) 6,29t 658 2,16¢ 2,157 1,321
Capital leases for equipment and softwart 402 20¢& 101 96 —
Total $ 53641 $ 7,28¢ $ 10,800 $ 9,227 $ 26,32¢

1) Payments under exclusive long-term, non-cancelledieracts to provide wireless communications netvaecess to venues such as airports.
Expense is recorded on a straight-line basis dwetdrm of the lease.

2) Office space under non-cancellable operating leases
?3) Leased equipment, primarily for data communicatiod database software, under non-cancellable té&ates.
(4) We entered into a new lease for our existing offipace of approximately twenty-five thousand sqéeeein the Westwood area of Los

Angeles, California. The lease term is from Janudarg012 through February 28, 2018. The annualpaytments escalate over the term of the
lease from $972,000 to $1,127,0i

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet fimnarrangements and we do not have any relatipashith unconsolidated entities or financial parshéps, such as
entities often referred to as structured financepacial purpose entities, which have been esteddifor the purpose of facilitating off-balance etha@rrangements or
other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of losg thay impact our financial position due to advesBanges in financial market prices and rates. Carket risk exposure
is primarily a result of fluctuations in interestes. We do not hold or issue financial instrumémtsrading purposes.

We had cash and cash equivalents of $98li&m $25.7 million and $22.6 million at Decemhb&t, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We heldettzanounts
primarily in cash or money market funds.

We hold cash and cash equivalents for vmgrkiapital purposes. We do not have material exjeasumarket risk with respect to investments, @simvestments
consist primarily of highly liquid investments pbased with original maturities of three monthsessl We do not use derivative financial instrumémtspeculative
or trading purposes. We may, however, adopt speegtging strategies in the future. Any declinemiarest rates, however, will reduce future inséircome.
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Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The information required by this Item isluded in Part IV Items 15(a)(1) and (2) of thisnial Report on Form 10-K.
Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accotants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Our management maintains disclosure cantiot procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)add5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnde
(the "Exchange Act") that are designed to provigksonable assurance that information required thidodosed in its reports filed or submitted untier Exchange A«
is processed, recorded, summarized and reportdéhvite time periods specified in the SEC's ruled farms, and that such information is accumulated
communicated to our management, including our Cliefcutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (quincipal executive officer and principal finanlcadficer,
respectively), as appropriate, to allow for timdBcisions regarding required disclosure.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), we earout an assessment, under the supervision ahdheitparticipation of management, including oungipal
executive and principal financial officers, of thifectiveness of the design and operation of oseldsure controls and procedures as of the enttegbériod covered
by this Annual Report. Based on this assessmef, Becember 31, 2011, the Company's Chief Exeeufifficer and Chief Financial Officer have conclddkat the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures wareffective at the reasonable assurance levelusecaf the material weakness in our internal cowiver financia
reporting related to income taxes described befomaterial weakness is a deficiency, or a combamatif deficiencies, in internal control over fing&laeporting,
such that there is a reasonable possibility thatterial misstatement of our annual or interimficial statements will not be prevented or deteoted timely basis.

Notwithstanding the existence of the malesieakness described below, management belieaethi consolidated financial statements in thisrFd0-K fairly
present, in all material respects, our financiaipon, results of operations and cash flows ferititerim and annual periods presented in accoelaitt generally
accepted accounting principles.

As of December 31, 2011, we did not havegadte design or operation of controls that provédsonable assurance that the accounting for ia¢ares and
related disclosures were prepared in accordandegemerally accepted accounting principles. Spealfi, we did not have sufficient review and cohtrith respect
to the complete and accurate recording of defameaime tax assets and related valuation allowaamerued taxes and income tax expense. This cafefiiency
contributed to post-closing adjustments and rewssi prior year financial statements which havenbeflected in the consolidated financial stateisméor the year
ended December 31, 2011. Accordingly, our managehendetermined that this control deficiency cibutgts a material weakness. Because of this materia
weakness, management concluded that the Compampotiidaintain effective internal control over firgal reporting as of December 31, 2011.
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Remediation Plan

Our management has begun to implement &euof remediation steps to address the materiakmess in internal control surrounding the accagntor incoms
taxes described above. Specifically, the followlraye been, are being or are planned to be implexdent

. Re-evaluating the design of income tax accountitoggsses and controls and implement new and imgrprecesses and controls, accordingly;

. Retaining an experienced professional accountimg i assist with the income tax provision androvjile a detailed review of the tax implications of
complex transactions;

. Hiring additional personnel with tax knowledge angberience to provide a detailed assessment afalcelation and supporting details of the accounts,
to strengthen the internal review process andgisi® the implementation and management of imgdgwocesses and controls.

As part of our 2012 assessment of intecnatrol over financial reporting, our managemert arternal audit department will conduct sufficieesting and
evaluation of the controls to be implemented a$ @fthis remediation plan to ascertain whethey thgerate effectively.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finanéal Reporting

Due to a transition period establishedhsyrules of the SEC for newly public companiess thmnual Report does not include a report of mamegg's
assessment regarding internal control over findmeaorting or attestation report of the Compatmytependent registered public accounting firm.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

No change in internal control over finamecgporting occurred during the most recent figpadrter with respect to our operations, which hatenmally affected, ¢
is reasonably likely to materially affect, interrmaintrol over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance.

The information required by Item 10 will beluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statemender the captions "Board of Directors and Coafm
Governance," "Executive Officers" and "Section }@&aneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance," tofited with the Commission within 120 days aftee thnd of
fiscal year 2011 pursuant to Regulation 14A, whidbrmation is incorporated herein by this referenc

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The Company maintains employee benefitpkard programs in which its executive officersgadicipants. Copies of certain of these plans@edrams are set
forth or incorporated by reference as Exhibitshis teport. Information required by Item 11 will meluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statamender the
captions "Compensation of Executive Officers anteElors," "Compensation Discussion and AnalysiBgport of the Compensation and Management Sucecessio
Committee" and "Board of Directors and Corporate&@nance," to be filed with the Commission
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within 120 days after the end of fiscal year 20litspant to Regulation 14A, which information isongorated herein by this reference.
Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficihOwners and Management and Related Stockholder M&trs

The information required by Item 12 will eluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statemender the caption "Beneficial Ownership of thentpany's
Securities," to be filed with the Commission witliR0 days after the end of fiscal year 2011 purstaRegulation 14A, which information is incorpted herein by
this reference.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence.

The information required by Item 13 of Fot®+K regarding transactions with related perspnamoters and certain control persons, if any, bellincluded in
the Company's definitive Proxy Statement underctiigion "Certain Relationships and Related Tramsast to be filed with the Commission within 120ydaafter the
end of fiscal year 2011 pursuant to Regulation MAich information is incorporated herein by theerence. The information required by Item 13 offfd0-K
regarding director independence will be includethim Company's definitive Proxy Statement underctiigion "Information Regarding the Board of Di@stand its
Committees—Independence of the Board of Directdesbe filed with the Commission within 120 dayteathe end of fiscal year 2011 pursuant to Regriat4A,
which information is incorporated herein by thigerence.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by Item 14 will eluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statamender the caption "Independent Registered Pélmaounting
Firm Fees" and "Pre-Approval Policies and Procesiuie be filed with the Commission within 120 dafter the end of fiscal year 2011 pursuant to Regpn 14A,
which information is incorporated herein by thigerence.

PART IV
Iltem 15. Exhibits
(@) The following documents are filedpast of, or incorporated by reference into, thiswAal Report on Form 10-K:

(1)(2) Financial Statements. The following consolidated financial statemest®8oingo Wireless, Inc., and Report of Indeperideegistered Public
Accounting Firm are included in a separate seatitthis Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on @&gl. The Exhibits begin on page F-40.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to beesigm its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, orl8th day of April 2012.

BOINGO WIRELESS, INC.

By: /s/ DAVID HAGAN

David Hagan
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seaeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidrelow by the following persons on behalf of thgistrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ DAVID HAGAN Director and Chief Executive Officer

o ; 8 April 13, 2012
David Hagar (Principal Executive Officer)
/s EDWARD ZINSER Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial April 13 2012
. Officer) prit Lo,
Edward Zinse
/sl SKY DAYTON
Chairman of the Board April 13, 2012
Sky Dayton
/sl CHARLES BOESENBERG
Director April 13, 2012
Charles Boesenbe
/sl MARC GELLER
Director April 13, 2012
Marc Geller
/sl PAUL HSIAO
Director April 13, 2012
Paul Hsiac
/sl CHUCK DAVIS
Director April 13, 2012

Chuck Davis
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Boigireless, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consokdabalance sheets and the related consolidatedrstats of operations, convertible preferred stockstockholders'
equity (deficit) and cash flows present fairly aith material respects, the financial position offgm Wireless, Inc. and its subsidiaries at Decan3ie 2011 and 2010,
and the results of their operations and their dsts for each of the three years in the periodeehBecember 31, 2011 in conformity with accounpmnigciples
generally accepted in the United States of Amefitese financial statements are the responsilofithe Company's management. Our responsibility &xpress an
opinion on these financial statements based omuodits. We conducted our audits of these statenie@iscordance with the standards of the Public Gy
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdsedards require that we plan and perform the dadibtain reasonable assurance about whetheimiduectal
statements are free of material misstatement. Alit sncludes examining, on a test basis, evidengpsrting the amounts and disclosures in the fiigistatements,
assessing the accounting principles used and migntfestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial statement presentation. Weebe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, California
April 13, 2012
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31

December 31

2011 2010
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 93,93 $ 25,72
Restricted cas 465 1,001
Marketable securitie — 9,37¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $177 $ii7, respectivel 7,382 7,94¢€
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,108 1,30€
Deferred tax asse 2,36€ 1,41¢
Total current asse 105,24¢ 46,76
Property and equipment, r 39,710 36,02«
Goodwill 25,51% 25,51%
Other intangible assets, r 9,511 10,99:
Deferred tax asse 4,082 7,86%
Other asset 4,84¢ 4,891
Total asset $ 188,92( $ 132,04
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stocklolders' equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 457 $ 4,59¢
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 12,75¢ 13,88¢
Deferred revenu 13,57¢ 10,82¢
Current portion of capital leas 20& 42C
Total current liabilities 31,11: 29,72¢
Deferred revenue, net of current port 27,75¢ 28,14¢
Long-term portion of capital least 197 —
Other liabilities T7¢€ 2,181
Total liabilities 59,84: 60,05¢
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Convertible preferred stoc
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 pdne; 5,053 shares authorized, issued and outsiguadi
December 31, 201 — 22,26
Series /-2 convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par valy04 shares authorized, issued and outstandi
December 31, 201 — 6,86¢
Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 pdue; 3,500 shares authorized, and 3,433 shanesdissd
outstanding at December 31, 2( — 13,94¢
Series C convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 péwey 10,992 shares authorized, 10,983 sharegisswd
outstanding at December 31, 2( — 79,89(
Total convertible preferred stor — 122,96¢
Stockholders' equity (deficit
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000 sharé®azed, no shares issued and outstan — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000 and 34s8@6es authorized, 33,584 and 7,092 shares is38&@84
and 5,835 shares outstanding at December 31, 2@l December 31, 2010, respectiv 3 —
Treasury stock at cost, 1,257 she — (4,57%)
Note receivable from stockhold — (103)
Additional paic-in capital 170,72: —
Accumulated defici (41,840 (46,504
Total common stockholders' equity (defic 128,88: (51,18
Non-controlling interest: 197 197
Total stockholders' equity (defici 129,07¢ (50,985
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholders' equity (defici $ 188,92( $ 132,04

The accompanying notes are an integral part oketbessolidated financial statements.
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Revenue
Costs and operating expens

Weighted average shares used in computing net ie¢toss) per share attributa

Network acces
Network operation

Boingo Wireless, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Development and technolos
Selling and marketin

General and administrati\
Amortization of intangible asse

Total costs and operating expen

Income from operation
Interest and other income (expense),

Income before income tax
Income tax expense (bene!

Net income
Less: net income attributable to I-controlling interest:

Net income attributable to Boingo Wireless, It
Accretion of convertible preferred sto

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockh
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholders

Basic
Diluted

to common stockholder

Basic
Diluted

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 94,55¢ $ 80,42( $ 65,71
37,08: 31,96! 26,43(
15,84¢ 13,50¢ 11,66
9,43: 8,47¢ 7,374
7,40¢ 5,98¢ 5,901
11,95: 10,64¢ 8,21/
1,65¢ 2,491 3,84¢
83,38! 73,06¢ 63,43¢
11,17 7,35¢ 2,281
(17€) (137) (154)
11,00! 7,21¢ 2,127
4,06¢ (8,909 98t
6,931 16,121 1,142
642 547 394
6,29t 15,57¢ 74€
(1,639 (5,020 (5,259
$ 4,662 $ 10,55¢ $ (4,51))
$ 01¢ $ 181 $ (0.79
$ 017 $ 04¢ $ (0.79
24,01 5,83¢ 5,801
27,48! 31,89¢ 5,801

The accompanying notes are an integral part oketoessolidated financial statements.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred $tk and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands)

Convertible preferred stock

Total Total
Convertible Common Common Additional Note Non-  Stockholder
Treasury Receivable Accumulated controlling
Preferred Stock  Stock  Paid-in from Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount  Stock Shares Amount _Capital Stock  Stockholder Deficit Interest (Deficit)

Balance at

December !

2008, as

reported 5,05¢$ 20,747 1,10t $ 6,39 3,43:$12,91¢ 10,98:$72,63:$ 112,69( 5,73¢ $ —$ —$ (4579 % (100—$ (53,289 % 201 $ (57,7¢
Correction of

prior years

cumulative

error — — — — — — — — — — — — — — (90€) — (9C

Balance at

December :

2008, as

revised 5,05: 20,747 1,10t 6,39¢ 3,43¢ 12,91¢ 10,98: 72,63 112,69( 5,73¢ — — (4579 (100) (54,199 201 (58,6¢
Issuance of

common

stock upon

exercise of

stock

options. — — — — — — — — — 26 — 36 — — — — 3
Issuance o

common

stock upon

exercise of

warrants — — — — — — — — — 71 — 3 — — — —
Stocl-basec

compensati

expense — — — — — — — — — — — 74C — — — — 74
Interest

accrued on

note

receivable

from

stockholdel — — — — — — — — — — — — — 3) — — (
Accretion of

convertible

preferred

stock — 75¢ — 23€ — 51F —  3,74¢ 5,25¢ — — (779) — — (4,480) — (5,2¢
Non-

controlling

interest

distribution — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — (39¢) (3¢
Net income — — — — — — — — — — — — — — 74¢ 394 1,14

Balance at

December :

2009, as

revised 5,05: 21,50f 1,10t 6,631 3,43 13,43: 10,98: 76,38( 117,94¢ 5,83: — — (4579 (109) (57,92°) 197 (62,4(
Issuance of

common

stock upon

exercise of

stock

options — — — — — — — — — 2 — 2 — — — —
Stock-based

compensati

expense — — — — — — — — — — — 867 — — — — 8€
Accretion of

convertible

preferred

stock — 75¢ — 237 — 51E —  3,51C 5,02( — — (869) — — (4,15)) — (5,02
Non-

controlling

interest

distribution — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — (547) (54
Net income — — — — — — — — — — — — — — 15,57+ 547 16,12

Balance at

December :

2010 5,052 22,26: 1,10t 6,86¢ 3,43 13,94¢ 10,98: 79,89( 122,96¢ 5,83t — — (4,579 (109) (46,502 197 (50,9¢
Accretion of

convertible

preferred

stock — 25¢ — 82 — 17€ — 1,117 1,63 — — — — — (1,637) — (1,62
Issuance of

common

stock upon

conversion

of preferred

stock (5,059 (22,527) (1,10%) (6,950) (3,437 (14,129 (10,987 (81,007 (124,60} 22,84¢ 2 124,60( — — — — 124,6(
Issuance of

common

stock upon

initial

public

offering — — — — — — — — — 3,847 1 48,29¢ — — — — 48,2¢
Issuance of

common

stock upon

exercise an

conversion

of preferred

stock

warrants — — — — — — — — — 20 — 272 — — — — 217

Series A Series £-2 Series B Series C




Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
common
stock
warrants

Issuance o
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock
options

Offering costt

Stock-based
compensati
expense

Retirement of
treasury
stock

Forgivenes:
of note
receivable
from
stockholdel

Excess tax
benefits
from stock-
based
compensati

Non-
controlling
interest
distribution

Net income

Balance at
December !
2011

— — — — — — — — — 21 — — — — — — -
= = = = = = = = — 1,01 — 1,02 = = = = 1,02
— [ [ - = — — — (2,596) (2,5¢
= = = = = = = = = = — 345 = = = = 3,4¢
— [ — [ — [ — — — — — (4579 457 — — — -
= = = = = = = = = = = = = 102 = = 1c
— [ — [ — R — — — — — 24€ — — — — 24
= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = (642) (64
— [ — [ — - = — — — — — — — 6,29t 642 6,9
- - —% — —% — —3$ —% — 3358 § 3% 17072:8  — — $ (4184)8 1978 12900

The accompanying notes are an integral part oketbessolidated financial statements.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 6937 $ 16,121 $ 1,14
Adjustments to reconcile net income including nemteolling interests to net cash provided by opegat
activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and emépt 12,30: 7,511 6,65¢
Amortization of other intangible ass¢ 1,65t 2,491 3,84¢
Stocl-based compensatic 3,45( 867 74C
Interest on note receivable from stockhol — — ®3)
Forgiveness on note receivable from stockhc 10¢ — —
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrz 132 68 46
Change in deferred tax 2,82¢ (10,407 27C
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisition
Accounts receivabl 564 (2,00€6) 1,34¢
Unbilled receivable (229) (1,229 (1,140
Prepaid expenses and other as 75C 19C 71C
Accounts payabl (1,236) 1,68€ 49
Accrued expenses and other liabilit (83 (382 (1,539
Deferred revenu 2,351 9,23¢ 2,38¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 29,52¢ 24,16( 14,52:
Cash flows from investing activities
Decrease (increase) in restricted c 53€ 96€ (317)
Purchases of shi-term marketable securitit — (9,379 —
Proceeds from sale of sh-term marketable securitit 9,37: — 1,64¢
Purchases of property and equipm (16,917 (11,25¢) (4,327)
Purchase of acquired ass — — (350)
Payments for patents, trademarks and doi (15€) — (99)
Payments for business acquisition, net of cashieex — — (62)
Contractual payments related to business acqunis a71) (271) (154)
Net cash used in investing activiti (7,335 (19,939 (3,659
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon imitialic offering 48,297 — —
Offering costs (2,58€) — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 1,02¢ 2 39
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic 24¢€ — —
Payments of capital leas (420) (73¢) (59€)
Payments to nc-controlling interest: (547) (39¢) (417)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 46,01¢ (1,139 (979
Net increase in cash and cash equival 68,21z 3,092 9,88¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 25,72 22,62¢ 12,74(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 9393 $ 25721 $ 22,62¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for intere: $ 1 $ 30 $ 57
Cash paid for taxe 1,357 1,03C 134
Supplemental disclosure of no-cash investing and financing activities
Conversion of convertible preferred stock into commnstock 124,60: — —
Retirement of treasury stor 4,57¢ — —
Property and equipment and software maintenands ooaccounts payable, accrued expenses and other
liabilities 1,99¢ 3,31¢ 1,171
Accretion of convertible preferred sto 1,63: 5,02(C 5,25¢
Exercise and conversion of preferred stock warremtscommon stoc 27z — —
Acquisition of software, equipment and software memance services under capital le: 40z 73 81t
Offering costs related to stock options issueddu-employee consultar 27 — —
Contractual payments related to business acquisitiaccrued expenses and other liabili 14 47 7
Offering costs in accounts payable, accrued exgease other liabilitie 10 — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetbessolidated financial statements.

F-6




Table of Contents

Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
1. The business

Boingo Wireless, Inc. and its subsidiafiedlectively "we, us or our") is a leading glolpabvider of mobile Wi-Fi Internet solutions. Oudtions enable
individuals to access our extensive global Wi-Rinak with devices such as smartphones, laptopgaridt computers. Boingo Wireless, Inc. was inocaped on
April 16, 2001 in the State of Delaware. On Jung2BD6, we purchased the capital stock of Tego Conications, Inc., a 49% owner of the membershierésts in
Concourse Communications Holdings Co., LLC, ("Holt") and the remaining 51% of the membership éstsrin Holdings. As a result, we own all the mersbip
interest in Holdings, which includes Concourse Camivations Group, LLC ("Concourse") and its sulzsigis. Concourse is a leader in the design, deayr=nd
operation of neutral host wireless networks withimports and large commercial venues in North AggerOn November 1, 2008, we acquired Opti-Fi NekspkLC
("Opti-Fi") an operator of neutral host wirelesgvnerks at various locations in North America (se&d\N7).

Initial public offering

On May 3, 2011, our registration statenregtstering 3,846,800 shares of common stock affeseus and 1,923,200 shares offered by certaiimgel
stockholders was declared effective by the UnitedeS Securities and Exchange Commission, anchéres began trading on the NASDAQ Global MarkeMay 4,
2011 under the symbol "WIFI." The proceeds fromghke of these shares are used primarily for wogrkapital and other general corporate purposes result of th
initial public offering ("IPO"), we raised a totef $45.7 million in net proceeds after deductinglemwriting discounts and commissions of $3.6 milland offering
expenses of $2.6 million. In connection with th®|Rull of the shares of our convertible preferrextis were converted into 22,845,764 shares of comstock and al
of the warrants to purchase preferred stock weeeotsed and converted into 20,172 shares of constamk through net-share settlement.

Reverse stock split

On April 7, 2011, our board of directorpegved a 5 for 1 reverse stock split of our outsiag common stock which was effected on May 3, 2@tactional
shares were settled in cash totaling approximai&lfor common and preferred stockholders. No fometi shares were settled for option holders, aay tere
rounded down as a result of the reverse stock §kares of common stock underlying outstandingkstptions and warrants and shares of our prefest@zk and
warrants were proportionately reduced and the rtsgeexercise prices were proportionately incrdaseaccordance with the terms of the agreementsrging such
securities. Shares of common stock reserved faaisse upon the conversion of our convertible pretestock were proportionately reduced and theeetspe
conversion prices were proportionately increasdbteferences to shares in the accompanying cofesteld financial statements and the notes thersttyding but no
limited to the number of shares and per share atspunless otherwise noted, have been adjustexflext the reverse stock split retroactively. Poergly awarded
options and warrants to purchase shares of our @orand preferred stock have also been retroactadilysted to reflect the reverse stock split.

Revision of prior period financial statements

During the three months ended Decembe2@11, prior period errors were identified relatingaccounting for income taxes that primarily résaifrom the
Company's improper recording of the
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
1. The business (Continued)

following: deferred income taxes on the 2006 adtjais of Concourse Communications, the valuatidovednce release, and tax benefits related to shasled
compensation. These errors impacted periods begjrinithe year ended December 31, 2006 and subsepeeods through September 30, 2011.

In evaluating whether our previously issaedsolidated financial statements were materiailystated, the Company considered the guidance@ounting
Standard Codification (ASC) Topic 25@¢ccounting Changes and Error Correction&SC Topic 250-10-S99-BAssessing Materialityand ASC Topic 250-10-S99-2,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatemavtien Quantifying Misstatements in Current YeamFiial StatementsWe concluded these errors were not
material individually or in the aggregate to anyttoé prior reporting periods, and therefore, amesrasof previously filed reports were not requirddwever, the
cumulative error would be material in the year ehBecember 31, 2011, if the entire correction vea®rded in the fourth quarter of 2011. As such réwsions for
these corrections to the applicable prior perioésreflected in the financial information hereirdanill be reflected in future filings containingc&ufinancial
information.

The prior period financial statements inl@d in this filing have been revised to reflect toerections of these errors, the effects of witiakie been provided in
summarized format below.

Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands)

Revised consolidated balance sheet amc

December 31, 201!
As Previously

Reported Adjustment As Revised
Deferred tax asse—current $ 3572 $ (2,45¢) $ 1,41«
Total current asse 48,91¢ (2,15¢) 46,76
Deferred tax asse—nor-current 6,697 1,16¢€ 7,865
Total asset: 133,03! (992) 132,04
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 13,53: 353 13,88¢
Total current liabilities 29,37¢ 352 29,72¢
Total liabilities 59,70¢ 352 60,05¢
Accumulated defici (45,159 (1,345 (46,509
Total common stockholders' defit (49,83 (1,345 (51,187
Total stockholders' defic (49,640 (1,345 (50,985
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholders' defici 133,03! (992 132,04
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)

(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

1. The business (Continued)

Revised consolidated statements of operations ats

For the Years Ended

December 31, 201 December 31, 200!
As Previously As Previously
Reported Adjustment As Revised Reported Adjustment As Revised

Increase / (decreasi
Income tax expense (bene! $ (9,063 $ 16C $ (8,907 $ 70€ $ 27¢ % 98t
Net income 16,28: (260) 16,12: 1,421 (279 1,147
Net income attributable to Boing

Wireless, Inc. 15,73 (260) 15,57« 1,027 (279 74¢
Net income (loss) attributable

common stockholdel 10,71« (260) 10,554 (4,237) (279 (4,51))

Net income (loss) per sha

attributable to common

stockholder—Basic 1.84 (0.0%) 1.81 (0.7%) (0.05) (0.7¢)
Net income (loss) per sha

attributable to common
stockholder—Diluted 0.4¢ — 0.4¢ (0.79) (0.05) (0.7¢)

Revised consolidated statements of cash flow am

For the Year Ended December 31, 201 For the Year Ended December 31, 20C

As Previously As Previously
Reported Adjustment As Revised Reported Adjustment As Revised

Net income $ 16,28: $ (160) $ 16,12 $ 1421 $ (27¢) $ 1,142
Adjustments to reconcile net

income including non-

controlling interests to net cas

provided by operating

activities:
Change in deferred tax (10,269 (132) (10,40:) — 27C 27C
Changes in operating assets ar

liabilities, net of effect of

acquisition:
Accrued expenses and other

liabilities (674) 292 (382) (1,547 9 (1,537

The revisions did not change the net clshsf provided by or used in operating, investindimancing activities for the years ended Decen8ier2010 and 200

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation and consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements lfier years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 20@9ean prepared in accordance with accountingiples
generally accepted in the United States of Am¢iGaAAP"). All intercompany balances and transacsitrave been eliminated in consolidation.

The accompanying consolidated financiaksteents include our accounts and our majority owswdssidiaries. We consolidate our 70% ownershiaicourse
Communications Detroit, LLC and our
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cornued)

70% ownership of Chicago Concourse Development @rbuC in accordance with Financial Accounting Stards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards
Codification ("ASC") 810Consolidation. Other parties' interests in consolidated entdiesreported as non-controlling interests. Thalte®f operations for the
acquisition of companies accounted for under threlpase method have been included in the accompgueginsolidated statements of operations beginnindhe
closing date of the acquisition.

Use of estimates

The preparation of accompanying consolidifiteancial statements in conformity with GAAP régs us to make estimates and assumptions that fie
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andltbelosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdates of the accompanying consolidated finastaéements, and
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses dhermgporting period. Actual results could differm those estimates. Assets and liabilities wiatdh subject to
significant judgment and the use of estimates bhelthe allowance for doubtful accounts, recoveitgtolf goodwill and long-lived assets, valuatiotoalances with
respect to deferred tax assets, useful lives asgatcwith property and equipment, intangible assetsthe valuation and assumptions underlying shaded
compensation and other equity instruments. On goiog basis, we evaluate our estimates comparbibtorical experience and trends, which form theiéor
making judgments about the carrying value of assedsliabilities. In addition, prior to our IPO, wegularly engage the assistance of valuation apsts in
concluding fair value measurements in connectich stock-based compensation and other equity im&tnis.

Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially sdbjus to significant concentrations of credit iskisist primarily of cash and cash equivalentstriced cash,
marketable securities and accounts receivable. Aatain our cash and cash equivalents, restridstl and marketable securities with institutiondwigh credit
ratings. We extend credit based upon the evaluatidhe customer's financial condition and gengredillateral is not required. We maintain an alloeg for doubtful
accounts based upon expected collectability of @aitsoreceivable. We estimate our allowance for tfallhccounts based on a specific review of sigaifit
outstanding accounts receivable. For the yearsceBegeember 31, 2011 and 2010, a group of affiliztetities accounted for 18% and 14% of total reeert
December 31, 2011, the group of affiliated entitied two customers accounted for 23%, 17% and If2%edotal accounts receivable, respectively. A&tBmber 31,
2010, the group of affiliated entities and two omsérs accounted for 40%, 13% and 11% of the tat@dants receivable, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highlyidi investments that are readily convertible kitlown amounts of cash with maturities of three rherdr less when
acquired. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, cash algunits consisted of money market funds.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cornued)
Marketable securities

Our marketable securities consist of atdél€or-sale securities with original maturitiescerding three months. We classify securities, whive readily
determinable fair values and are highly liquidshert-term because such securities are expectes tealized within our normal operating cycle. Add@mber 31,
2011, we had no short-term marketable securitie®ekember 31, 2010, we had $9,373 in short-termketable securities. At December 31, 2011 and 2@&0had
no long-term marketable securities.

Marketable securities are reported atfalue with the related unrealized gains and losspsrted as other comprehensive income (loss) e#lized or until a
determination is made that an other-than-tempadtagjine in market value has occurred. No signifiecarealized gains and losses have been reporratydtie years
presented. Factors considered by us in assessiathertan other-than-temporary impairment has oedunclude the nature of the investment, whethedécline in
fair value is attributable to specific adverse dtiads affecting the investment, the financial citioth of the investee, the severity and the duratibthe impairment
and whether we have the ability to hold the invesitrto maturity. When it is determined that an otfxan-temporary impairment has occurred, the itest is
written down to its market value at the end ofpleeiod in which it is determined that an other-tt@mporary decline has occurred. The cost of makitetsecurities
sold is based upon the specific identification rodthAny realized gains or losses on the sale afstiments are reflected as a component of intenelsbner income
(expense), net.

For the years ended December 31, 2011, a8d®009, we had no significant realized or uizedlgains or losses from investments in marketséterrities
classified as available-for-sale.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash consists of letters ofitneih our landlords or municipalities for whicheahave operating agreements and restricted caehrigharge card
processor. Our charge card processor withheld 3&tio$ales for future refunds for a period of siantis from the month of activity. The reserve anmouas subject
to credit evaluations and biannual reviews. Wecareently no longer required to withhold sales, asda result, at December 31, 2011 we had no cleargereserve
short-term restricted cash. At December 31, 20had approximately $566 of this reserve in shemratrestricted cash.

Letters of credit are supported by cashodiégp made by us and invested into bank certificafedeposit. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we$d&® and $435
classified as short-term restricted cash, respelgtivit December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had noicéstl cash classified as long-term.

Fair value of financial instruments

Our financial and nofirancial instruments are measured and reporteal fair value basis. Fair value is defined as theepthat would be received from selling
asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an ofgéransaction between market participants at teasnrement date. When determining the fair valugsomements for
assets and liabilities required or permitted todmrded at fair value, we consider the principahost advantageous market in which it would trahsand we
consider assumptions that market participants was&when pricing the asset or liability.
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The accounting guidance for fair value nobeasent also requires an entity to maximize theafisdservable inputs and minimize the use of uapkable inputs
when measuring fair value. The standard establiatas value hierarchy based on the level of ird&fent, objective evidence surrounding the inpséziuo measure
fair value. A financial instrument's categorizatigithin the fair value hierarchy is based uponltwest level of input that is significant to therfaalue measurement.
The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

. Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices in active markieds are accessible at the measurement date fotigele unrestricted assets or liabilities.

. Level 2—Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilittemarkets that are not active, quoted pricesifoilar assets and liabilities in active market:
financial instruments for which significant inpw@ge observable, either directly or indirectly.

. Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportedttg br no market activity and that are signifitéamthe fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The carrying amount reflected in the accanypng consolidated balance sheets for cash ardezpsvalents, restricted cash, marketable seesriticcounts
receivable, prepaid expenses and other currentsas@eounts payable, accrued expenses and abdities approximates fair value due to the shertn nature of
these financial instruments.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at fstiorost, less accumulated depreciation and amatitin. Additions and improvements are capitaliaddle routine
repairs and maintenance are charged to expenseindw@ned. Depreciation and amortization is comgutsing the straighine method over the estimated useful Ii
of the assets as follows:

Computer equipmer 2 to 5 year:
Software 2 to 5 year:
Office equipmen 3to 5 year:
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the estimated useful

or the remaining term of the lease
agreements, ranging from 3 to 15 y«

Leasehold improvements are principally casgul of network equipment located at various madaand operated locations, primarily airports, ureelusive,
long-term, non-cancellable contracts to providesleiss communication network access. Leasehold weprents are amortized over the shorter of theimeséd
useful lives or the remaining term of the relategse agreements.

Equipment and software under capital lease

We lease certain data communications egelipnother equipment and software under capitael@e@greements. The assets and liabilities undéatbgase are
recorded at the lesser of the present value ofeagde future minimum lease payments, includingregtd bargain purchase options, or
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the fair value of the asset under lease. Asseterwrapital lease are depreciated using the striiighimethod over the estimated useful lives ofahsets.

Software development costs

We capitalize costs associated with soféndeveloped or obtained for internal use when thérpinary project stage is completed and it issdetned that the
software will provide significantly enhanced capiileis and modifications. These capitalized cosésiacluded in property and equipment include exdédirect cost
of services procured in developing or obtaininginal-use software and personnel and related ezpdasemployees who are directly associated \aitk, who
devote time to internal-use software projects. Gdipation of these costs ceases once the prgexthstantially complete and the software is rdadits intended
purpose, and once the software has been placedénie, the costs are amortized over the usiédubt the software, which is generally three ye&sst-
configuration training and maintenance costs apepsed as incurred.

Long-lived assets

In the normal course of business, we aeguaingible and intangible assets, which are recbatléair value. Intangible assets consist of asgliairport venue
contracts, acquired kiosks, non-competition agregmand trade names. We record intangible assé# atilue and amortize these finite-lived asseftsr the shorter
of the contractual life or the estimated usefid bih a straight-line basis. We estimate the udiek8 of acquired intangible assets based on fadtat include the
planned use of each acquired intangible assegxpected pattern of future cash flows to be derfvexch each acquired intangible asset and contrapgréods
specified in the related agreements. As such, weuatt for each of the airport venue contracts imfiglly. We include amortization of acquired intéigs in
amortization of intangible assets in the accompagygonsolidated statements of operations.

We perform an impairment review of longelivassets held and used including finite livedngible assets, whenever events or changes in cétaunoes indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverabletdfaave consider important that could trigger apaimment review include, however are not limitedgignificant
under-performance relative to projected future apeg results, significant changes in the mannenuwfuse of the acquired assets or our overalhiessiand product
strategies and significant industry or economindee When we determine that the carrying valuelohg-lived asset may not be recoverable based tipoexistence
of one or more of these indicators, we determireréitoverability by comparing the carrying amounthe asset to net future undiscounted cash flbasthe asset is
expected to generate or other indices of fair valde would then recognize an impairment charge leguhe amount by which the carrying amount excetee fair
market value of the asset.

We use our best judgment based on curaets find circumstances related to our business) miaging these estimates. We do not believe tlseaeréasonable
likelihood that there will be a material changetie future estimates or assumptions used to caécldag-lived asset impairment losses. Howevegifial results are
not consistent with our estimates and assumptieed in calculating future cash flows and assetvalines, we may be exposed to losses that coutddberial.
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the paselprice over the fair value of net assets acdjiireonnection with the acquisition of Concounsdune 2006.

We test goodwill for impairment in accordarwith guidance provided by FASB ASC 3&@tangibles—Goodwill and Othg¢!ASC 350"). Goodwill is tested for
impairment at least annually at the reporting leniel or whenever events or changes in circumstaimticate that goodwill might be impaired. Evestshanges in
circumstances which could trigger an impairmentaevinclude a significant adverse change in legatdrs or in the business climate, an adverseraoti@assessment
by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a Iddsey personnel, significant changes in the mamf@ur use of the acquired assets or the stratggur overall
business, significant negative industry or econamginds, or significant underperformance relativexpected historical or projected future resultsperations.

The testing for a potential impairment obgdwill involves a two-step process. The first steglves comparing the estimated fair value of @porting unit with
its respective book value, including goodwill. lietestimated fair value exceeds book value, gobawnibnsidered not to be impaired and no additisteps are
necessary. If, however, the fair value of the répgrunit is less than book value, then the cagyamount of the goodwill is compared with its ineglifair value. The
estimate of implied fair value of goodwill may réguvaluations of certain internally generated andecognized intangible assets. If the carrying @amof goodwill
exceeds the implied fair value, an impairment isggcognized in an amount equal to the excessh&Ve elected to test for goodwill impairment anhuat
December 31, and at December 31, 2011 and 20liypairment was identified. The fair value of oupoeting unit, as of December 31, 2011, is subsidptin
excess of its carrying value. To date, we haveeatrded any goodwill impairment charges.

Currently, we have one reporting unit, operating segment and one reportable segment argamce with FASB ASC 350. At December 31, 2011 2010, all
of the goodwill was attributed to our reporting tuni

Revenue recognition

We generate revenue from several sourabsdimg: (i) retail customers under subscriptioar for month-to-month network access that autaalétirenew,
and retail single-use access from sales of hoddily or other single-use access plans, (ii) platfservice arrangements with wholesale customeaitspttovide
software licensing, network access, and profesteeraices fees and (iii) wholesale customers dnattelecom operators under long-term contractadoess to our
distributed antenna system ("DAS") at our managetaperated locations. Software licensed by ourledade platform services customers can only be deedg the
term of the service arrangements and has no uiilithem upon termination of the service arrangegmen

We recognize revenue when an arrangemestsegervices have been rendered, fees are fixddterminable, no significant obligations rematated to the
earned fees and collection of the related recegvbleasonably assured. On January 1, 2011, weteatithe provisions of FASB Accounting Standardslaip
("ASU") 2009-13,Revenue Recognition (Topic 605)—Multiple-DeliveedRevenue ArrangemerftaSU 2009-13") on a prospective basis. ASU 200%f8ends and
replaces the criteria
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for separating consideration in multipdeliverable arrangements by establishing a sefinige hierarchy. The selling price used for eadivdeable is based on venc
specific objective evidence ("VSOE") of fair valii@vailable, third-party evidence if VSOE is natadlable, or estimated selling price if neither VIS@or third-party
evidence is available. ASU 2009-13 also elimin#itesresidual method of allocation and requires éinetngement consideration be allocated at theptrmeof the
arrangement to all deliverables using the rela®iéing price method. For deliverables with a npitielement arrangement that are determined teerate units of
accounting at the inception of the arrangementalleeate the value to each element based on thguwelkelling price method. The adoption of ASU 243 did not
have a material impact on our financial positi@sults of operations or cash flows as we had noaresignificantly modified arrangements during ffear ended
December 31, 2011. Additionally, for the year enBedember 31, 2010, we had no new or significamibgified multiple element arrangements that wooigact
earnings, if we had adopted ASU 2009-13 on Janlia210.

Subscription fees from retail customersgaiel monthly in advance by charge card and revendeferred for the portions of monthly recurrgghscription fees
collected in advance. Our charge card processtiheitl three percent of our sales for future refunds period of six months from the month of aityivwhich was
recognized as revenue at the time of sale bechaseserve balance was not used to provide refiencisstomers. The reserve amount was subject it @ealuation:
and biannual reviews. We are currently no longquired to withhold sales, and as a result, at Déeg1, 2011, we had no charge card reserve. Wetdoave a
stated or published refund policy for our Wi-Figee, although our customer service representatikgrovide a refund on a case-by-case basiss&l@mounts are
not significant and are recorded as contra revéamtige period the refunds are made. Subscriptierrégenue is recognized ratably over the subsorigieriod.
Revenue generated from retail single-use accessagnized when earned.

Services provided to wholesale partnereupthtform service arrangements generally corgaireral elements including: (i) a term licensede aur software to
access our Wi-Fi network, (ii) access fees for meknwsage, and (iii) professional services forwafe integration and customization and to maintanWi+i service
The term license, monthly minimum network access fend professional services are billed on a mphidiis based upon predetermined fixed rates. @wcterm
license for integration and customization are deld, the fees from the arrangement are recognéeally over the remaining term of the platformveess
arrangement, which is generally between two to figars. Revenue for network access fees in exdée¢ke smonthly minimum amounts is recognized whemed. All
elements within existing platform service arrangetaare generally delivered and earned concurrémthughout the term of the respective servicerggeanent.

Revenue generated from access to our DABonks consists of build-out fees and recurringessdfees under certain long-term contracts witttteh operators.
Build-out fees paid upfront are deferred and recgphratably over the term of the estimated custamlationship period, once the build-out is conbgléinimum
monthly access fees for usage of the DAS netwarks&ian-cancellable and generally escalate on anatasis. These minimum monthly access fees amgnézed
ratably over the term of the wholesale partnerrayement which generally range from five to ten geBevenue from network access fees in excesahtnthly
minimums is recognized when earned.

F-15




Table of Contents

Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cornued)

In instances where the minimum monthly reenaccess fees escalate over the term of the walelservice arrangement, an unbilled receivaliecisgnized
when performance is within our control and whenhage reasonable assurance that the unbilled rditeitbalance will be collected.

We may provide professional services fatidhimplementation services for certain platfoamd DAS arrangements. For our existing arrangentbatsare
accounted for under ASC 605-Z8evenue Recognition—Multiple-Deliverable Revenuamgements we defer recognition of the full arrangement ¢desation
including the initial implementation activities,dnecognize all revenue ratably over the wholesatgice period, as we do not have evidence of/lire for the
undelivered elements in the arrangement. Upondbetéon of ASU 2009-13 on January 1, 2011, certdiour platform service or DAS arrangements mayinegthe
initial implementation services to be accountedd®ia separate unit of accounting. For such arraeges entered into or materially modified afterukay 1, 2011, we
allocate arrangement consideration at the incepfdhe arrangement to all units of accounting base the relative selling price method. We recogitie revenue
associated with any implementation services thatifyufor separate units of accounting upon coniptetf such services and all other revenue wilfdmognized
ratably over the remaining term of the wholesalwise agreement.

Advertising and other revenue is recognizben the services are performed.
Network access

Network access costs consist primarilyesfenue share payments to venue owners where owgedmand operated hotspots are located, usage-fesseid our
roaming network partners for access to their netgjciepreciation of equipment related to networikdbout projects in our managed and operated looatiand
bandwidth and other Internet connectivity expernsesir managed and operated locations.

Network operations

Network operations expense consists of @reation and benefits for network operations, enstasupport consulting, co-location costs, deptegiaof network
equipment and overhead costs.

Development and technology

Development and technology expense consistsmpensation and benefits for development andyct personnel, consulting, expenses associated w
computer equipment used in technology developmeahioaerhead costs.

Selling and marketing

Selling and marketing expense consistoofensation and benefits for business developmehirearketing personnel, advertising, promotion esps and
overhead costs. Advertising costs are expensettasred. Advertising expenses totaled $394, $970%n296 for the years ended December 31, 2011 26d 200¢
respectively.
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General and administrative

General and administrative expense consfstempensation and benefits for general and aidtrétive personnel, legal and accounting experdesge card
processing fees and bad debt expense and overbsisd ¢

Stock-based compensation
To date, our stock-based compensation tlasisted of stock options granted to employeeswndemployees.

We recognize stock-based compensation esep@naccordance with guidance provided by FASB A%8,Compensation—Stock CompensaithSC 718").
We measure stock-based compensation cost at gantlzhsed on the estimated fair value of the aamddrecognize the cost on a straight-line basisphestimated
forfeitures, over the employee requisite servicegoe We estimate the fair value of stock optiossg a Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The madguires
input of assumptions regarding expected term, erpewlatility, dividend yield, and a risk-free eafThe assumptions that were used to calculatgrdre date fair
value of our employee stock option grants for tiétving periods are as follows:

December 31
2011 2010 2009
Expected term (year: 6.4 6.1 7.2
Expected volatility 49.8% 67.€% 72.5%
Risk-free rate 2.4% 2.5% 3.1%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The expected term of employee stock optiepsesents the weighted-average period that thok siptions are expected to remain outstandingstimating the
expected term for options granted to employeesapydied the simplified method from the Security BExoge Commission ("SEC") Staff Accounting BullgtiBAB")
Topic, Share-Based PaymefiSAB Topic 14"), where options are granted at-therey. Where options were not granted at-the-maheyexpected term of employee
stock options represents the weighted-average génat the stock options are expected to remaistanding and is calculated based upon actual fdat@xercise
and post-vesting cancellations, adjusted for exquefiiture exercise behavior.

We determine the fair value of common stooHerlying the stock option awards by referencehital party sales of our common stock. Prior toioitial public
offering, the fair value of common stock underlyihg stock option awards was determined with tisestence of a third-party valuation specialist.

We determined the expected volatility agstiom using the frequency of daily historical psagf comparable public companies' common stoclafperiod equal
to the expected term of the options in accordantte guidance in ASC 718 and SAB Topic 14. We wilhtinue to monitor peer companies and other relefeantors,
including our volatility after there is enough loist, used to measure expected volatility for futst@ck option grants.
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The risk-free interest rate assumptioraisedl upon observed interest rates on the UnitedsSgavernment securities appropriate for the expleterm of our
employee stock options.

The dividend yield assumption is based enhistory and expectation of dividend payoutsvithich no cash dividends have been declared orgramur commol
stock, and for which none are anticipated in thredeeable future.

As stock-based compensation expense reoedjim our accompanying consolidated statementp@efations is based on awards ultimately expecteedt, the
amount has been reduced for estimated forfeitéf8& 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated atithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in subeetperiods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.fEibures were estimated based on our historicaéeapce and future expectations.

Compensation expense for non-employee dtaskd awards is recognized in accordance with ABCand FASB ASC 50%quity. Stock option awards issued
to non-employees are accounted for at fair valieguthe Black-Scholes Option-Pricing Model. Managetrbelieves that the fair value of the stock apis more
reliably measured than the fair value of the s&wieceived. We record compensation expense basté thencurrent fair value of the stock options at eachrficial
reporting date. Compensation recorded during thécseperiod is adjusted in subsequent periodsiianges in the stock options' fair value until¢aeier of the date
at which the non-employee's performance is completeperformance commitment is reached, whictergegally when the stock award vests. There wasi®ldn
stock-based compensation expense recognized feemmioyee stock-based awards for the year endedrblger 31, 2011 and none for the years ended Decedtibe
2010 and 2009.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordanitie FASB ASC 740Accounting for Income Tax€sASC 740"), which requires the recognition of deferred tax es
and liabilities for the future consequences of évémat have been recognized in our accompanyingatmated financial statements or tax returns. ieasurement
of the deferred items is based on enacted tax leibe event the future consequences of differeedween financial reporting bases and the tagsbaour assets
and liabilities result in a deferred tax asset, ABID requires an evaluation of the probability einlg able to realize the future benefits indicdigduch asset. A
valuation allowance related to a deferred tax dassetcorded when it is more likely than not thang portion or the entire deferred tax asset vatllve realized. As
part of the process of preparing our accompanyargsalidated financial statements, we are requivegstimate our income tax expense in each of tiedjations in
which we operate. We also assess temporary diffeseresulting from differing treatment of itemsclsas deferred revenue, for tax and accountingmiffces. We
record a valuation allowance to reduce the defemrassets to the amount of future tax benefitithenore likely than not to be realized.

ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threslaold measurement methodology to recognize and measuncome tax position taken, or expected t@kert, in a ta
return. The evaluation of a tax position is basea@ dwo-step approach. The first step requiresnéityeo evaluate whether the tax position would'tmlikely than
not" be sustained upon examination by the apprteptéxing
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authority. The second step requires the tax posiimmeasured at the largest amount of tax bethetfiis greater than 50% likely of being realizedm ultimate
settlement. In addition, previously recognized lignhérom tax positions that no longer meet the reiteria would no longer be recognized. We hadigaificant
uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2011 aid®20

We have filed, or are in the process afdi) tax returns that are subject to audit by #epective tax authorities. Although the ultimatécome would be
unknown, we believe that any adjustments that reaylt from tax return audits are not likely to havenaterial, adverse effect on our consolidatedltesf
operations, financial position or cash flows.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are comprisedrfiority holdings in Concourse Communications Dietlo C ("CCG Detroit") and Chicago Concourse Denmhent
Group, LLC ("CCDG"). Under the terms of the LLC agments, we are required to distribute annualth¢ocCCDG non-controlling interest holders 30% d¢dedted
net profits less capital expenditures of the preagggiear. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, amourdsathd payable to the CCDG non-controlling intehestlers
amounted to $557 and $462, respectively. Paymeatmade annually to non-controlling interest in G&D

Under the terms of the limited liabilityropany agreement for CCG Detroit ("Detroit Operathgyeement") profits and losses are allocated ¢octhintrolling and
non-controlling owners based on specified termthénDetroit Operating Agreement which reflect taktive risk and reward of each owner. The profid éss
allocation in the Detroit Operating Agreement sfiesithat the non-controlling owners' allocatedfipsaare limited to the fixed distribution amourtsd losses are
limited to the non-controlling owners capital acobbalance with losses in excess of their capitebant being fully allocated to the controlling cmon unit holder.
There is no specified term in the Detroit Operatihggeement, but the term of the annual fixed disttion obligation to the non-controlling owner lietsame as the
term of the venue agreement between CCG DetroiDaitbit Metropolitan Wayne County Airportwhich has a seven year initial term with an optmextend for a
additional three years. The Detroit Operating Agrent includes an annual fixed distribution of $&5 pear for 2011, 2010 and 2009. There are noduxtbntractual
payments due the non-controlling owner after thet @1011. We allocate profits and losses in CC@&diebased on the attribution in the Detroit Opigrg
Agreement. CCG Detroit has generated losses oedagi several years which has reduced the nomedtimj owners capital account to zero in 2009 Hésg in an
allocation to the controlling interest holder ghevating losses and deficits created by the arfinea distributions to the non-controlling interésilder.

Convertible preferred stock

We present our convertible preferred stasltemporary equity in the mezzanine section oftttempanying consolidated balance sheets. Theecdtiine
preferred stock contained puttable redemption featand deemed liquidation preferences upon a ehmgontrol, which were considered outside of¢batrol the
Company. Accretion of related issuance costs avidelids were recorded as a charge against retaar@ihgs, or in the absence of retained earninghhyges
against additional paid-in capital until fully depgd, then against the accumulated deficit. Weedecr
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issuance costs and dividends to the earliest retiemgate. For the year ended December 31, 201 homeeted our convertible preferred stock througthéir
conversion date into common stock on May 3, 201doimnection with our initial public offering. At @Bember 31, 2011, we have no preferred stock issued
outstanding.

Warrants exercisable into convertible preferred stak

We account for preferred stock warrantbadmlities when the underlying preferred stock tains either puttable or mandatorily redeemabléufes. We issued
warrants which were exercisable into the SeriesiBrertible preferred stock in connection with cabiéase arrangements. We determined that therpedfstock
warrants contained puttable features as a restiteofedemption provisions and deemed liquidatiefiguences upon a change-in-control. Accordindilg,warrants
were recorded as a non-current liability and wengied at their fair value at date of issuance witireases or increases in fair value at eachtiegatate recorded as
other income or expense through to the final measant date upon the exercise of the warrants. Ereawts were exercisable either through cash patyafehe
exercise price or through net-share settlementeabption of the holder. Our preferred stock watsatstanding of 25,196 were exercised and coedemder the
net-share settlement provisions into 20,172 shafresr common stock on May 3, 2011, in connectiagtihwur initial public offering.

Net income (loss) per share attributable to commostockholders

Basic net income (loss) per share attribletéto common stockholders is calculated by digdimcome (loss) attributable to common stockholdsrshe weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstgrtiiring the period. Diluted net income (loss) gleaire attributable to common stockholders adjhstbasic
weighted average number of shares of common stotstamding for the potential dilution that couldcocif stock options, common stock warrants, pref@istock
warrants and the convertible preferred stock weegaised or converted into common stock, respelgtiv@ur convertible preferred stockholders weretksut to
receive dividends and were not contractually oltéddo share in our net income (loss) with commtogldholders. The common stockholders are not edtiib receiv
any dividends. Diluted net income (loss) per stwireommon stock is the same as basic net inconss)(fmer share of common stock for the year endegiber 31,
20009, since the effects of potentially dilutive seties were anti-dilutive for the period.

Segment and geographical information

We operate as one reportable segmentyvaseqirovider of mobile Wi-Fi solutions across enanaged and operated network and aggregated netorariobile
devices such as laptops, smartphones and tablésssifigle segment is consistent with the inteanghnization structure and the manner in which ajans are
reviewed and managed by our Chief Executive Offittex chief operating decision maker.

Revenue is predominately generated ansigalificant long-lived tangible assets are helthia United States of America. We do not disclosesshy geographic
area because to do so would be impracticable.
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Recent accounting pronouncements

In September 2011, the FASB issued Accognitandards Update ("ASU") 2011-08tangibles—Goodwill and Other: Testing Goodwilt fmpairment("ASU
2011-08"). This ASU is intended to simplify how entities tgstodwill for impairment. It permits an entity tast assess qualitative factors to determine whetlher
"more likely than not" that the fair value of a cgfing unit is less than its carrying amount assidfor determining whether it is necessary tdgoer the two-step
goodwill impairment test described in ASC 35The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined agih@ a likelihood of more than 50%. ASU 2011-08l\i¢ effective
for annual and interim goodwill impairment testsfpemed for fiscal years beginning after Decembgr2011. Early adoption is permitted, including &mual and
interim goodwill impairment tests performed as afade before September 15, 2011, if an entityaniomal statements for the most recent annual erimtperiod have
not yet been issued. We perform our impairmenstestDecember 31 of each year. We do not expetdbption of this update to have a material impacbur
financial position, results of operations or cashvé.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011diimprehensive Income: Presentation of Comprehemsdgeme, which amends current comprehensive income
guidance. This ASU eliminates the option to preseatcomponents of other comprehensive income ("J2&3I part of the statement of stockholders' equitytead, it
requires entities to report components of compreierincome in either (1) a continuous statemeriofprehensive income or (2) two separate but cutise
statements. Under the two-statement approachjrtesfatement would include components of netimepowhich is consistent with the income statememhét used
today, and the second statement would include coes of OCI. The ASU does not change the itemsnthist be reported in OCI. ASU 20D5-will be effective fo
public companies during the interim and annualquisibeginning after December 15, 2011 with earbp&idn permitted. We do not expect the adoptiothisf
standard to have a material impact on our finammaition, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-A@endments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasureameinDisclosure Requirements in U.S.GAAP and IFRS,
that amends the wording used to describe manyeofeuirements in GAAP for measuring fair value distlosing information about fair value measuretaefhe
amendments in this ASU achieve the objectives wélbping common fair value measurement and discéoeguirements in U.S. GAAP and International Reial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and improving theiderstandability. Some of the requirements clatify FASB's intent about the application of existiaig value
measurement requirements while other amendmentgeteparticular principle or requirement for meamsyfair value or for disclosing information abdair value
measurements. The amendments in this ASU are iefqutospectively for interim and annual periodgibaing after December 15, 2011, with no early adop
permitted. This standard will be effective for asdary 1, 2012. We do not expect the adoptionisfdtandard to have a material impact on our fir@mosition,
results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2P9Business Combinations: Disclosure of SupplemerRaoy-orma Information for Business Combinations
("ASU 2010-29"). The amendments in this update affect any publiityethitat enters into business combinations thanaaerial on an individual or aggregate basis.
The amendments specify that if a public entity prés comparative financial statements, the entioukl disclose revenue and earnings of the comlenéty as
though

F-21




Table of Contents

Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cornued)

the business combination(s) that occurred duriegctirrent year had occurred as of the beginnirtgeotomparable prior annual reporting period ofitye update als
expands the supplemental pro forma disclosuresctade a description of the nature and amount dér@, non-recurring pro forma adjustments dingetiributable
to the business combination included in the repiopt® forma revenue and earnings. The updateest®fe prospectively for business combinationsafbich the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning @f finst annual reporting period beginning on oeafdbecember 15, 2010. The adoption of this guiddrackno material
impact on our financial position, results of opemas or cash flows.

3. Cash and cash equivalents and marketable secues

Cash and cash equivalents, and marketableites consisted of the following:

December 31
2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash $ 12,857 $ 10,93
Money market accoun 81,082 14,79(
Total cash and cash equivale $ 93,937 $ 25,72]
Short-term marketable securities—available-for-sale:
United States government securit $ — $ 9,37¢
Total shor-term marketable securitit $ — $ 9,37¢

All contractual maturities of U.S. governmienarketable securities were less than one ydaee¢mber 31, 2010 and were fully guaranteed. foyéars ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, interest incoaw$87, $31 and $53, respectively, which is induidenterest and other income (expense), neten th
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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4. Accounts receivables, net and other receivables

Accounts receivable, net of allowancesdoubtful accounts and other receivables consistéitedfollowing:

December 31
2011 2010
Trade receivables, net of allowan( $ 7,382 $ 7,83(
Unbilled advertising receivable — 11€
Current receivables, n $ 7,382 $ 7,94¢
Unbilled platform service arrangements, cun $ 68 $ 49
Unbilled access fee $ 1,98 $ 2,19C
Unbilled platform service arrangemel 16€ 30
Non-current other receivabl $ 2,151 $ 2,22(

Unbilled advertising receivables are inélddn accounts receivable, net in the accompanydémgolidated balance sheets. Unbilled access éses/ables are
included in non-current other assets and unbillatfgrm service arrangements are included in ctrmed non-current other assets in the accompamgngolidated
balance sheets. Access fees are recorded undetdongontracts with our wholesale partners thattalecom operators under long-term contractsdoess to our
DAS at our managed and operated locations. Thesegfgcalate on an annual basis from which we redei®@d contractual payments and recognize reveatably
over the term of the contracts.

Included in accounts receivables, netliergeriods indicated was the allowance for doulatéglounts which consisted of the following:

Allowance
for

Doubtful

Accounts
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 26C
Additions charged to operatio 357
Balance, December 31, 20 617
Additions charged to operatio 44
Deductions from reserves, r (554)
Balance, December 31, 20 107
Additions charged to operatio 11F
Deductions from reserves, r (45
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 177
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5. Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities &iad of the following:

December 31
2011 2010

Salaries and wage $ 3,93¢ $§ 3,57¢
Revenue shar 3,91t 3,87¢
Accrued partner netwoi 1,274 94t
Accrued for construction in progre 68¢€ 2,52¢
Deferred service usage crec 634 84¢€
Amounts due to nc-controlling interest: 557 462
Deferred ren 222 73¢€
Accrued taxe: 682 74€
Other 851 164

Total accrued expenses and other liabili $ 12,75¢ $ 13,88¢

6. Property and equipment
Property and equipment consisted of thieiohg:
December 31
2011 2010

Leasehold improvemen $ 60,03( $ 45,187
Construction in progres 7,05¢ 9,09¢
Computer equipmer 6,674 5,112
Software 5,81¢ 4,30:
Office equipmen 40C 28¢
Total property and equipme 79,98! 63,98¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (40,269 (27,965
Total property and equipment, r $ 39,717 $ 36,02/

Included in property and equipment at Delsen81, 2011 and 2010 was software and equipmepirac under capital leases totaling $402 and %1,,84d
related accumulated depreciation and amortizatid0@nd $1,789, respectively.
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6. Property and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation and amortization expenselacated as follows on the accompanying consolidatattments of operations:

Network acces
Network operation
Development and technolos
General and administrati\
Total depreciation and amortization of property and
equipmen’

7. Goodwill and other intangible assets

The changes in carrying amount of goodwilher intangible assets and other assets forahegnded December 31, 2011 are as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009

$ 8,867 $ 4,392 $ 4,17¢
2,44 1,747 1,05¢
872 1,024 1,14¢

117 34¢€ 27¢€

$ 12,307 $ 7,511 $ 6,65¢

Balance as o Balance as o
January 1, December 31,
2011 Additions Amortization 2011
Goodwill $ 2551 $ — $ — $ 25,51z
Other intangible assets subject to
amortization 10,99: 13¢€ (1,619 9,511
Patents, trademarks and domain suk
to amortization(1 25¢ 161 (36) 384
Total $ 36,76: $ 29¢ % (1,655 $ 35,407

Other intangible assets at December 311 20hsist of the following:

Weighted
Average Historical Accumulated
Amortization Cost Amortization Net
Venue contract 1lyears $ 26,38: $ (16,879 $ 9,511
Kiosks 4 years 50C (500) —
Trade namt 2 years 30C (300) —

Total
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7. Goodwill and other intangible assets (Continued)

The changes in carrying amount of goodarnldl other intangible assets for the year endedibeee31, 2010 are as follows:

Balance as o Balance as o
January 1, December 31,
2010 Additions Amortization 2010
Goodwill $ 2551: $ — $ — % 25,51:
Other intangible assets subject to
amortization 13,23 241 (2,487) 10,99:
Patents, trademarks and domain suk
to amortization(1 207 60 (8) 25¢
Total $ 38,95! $ 301 $ (2,49) $ 36,76:¢

Other intangible assets at December 310 20hsist of the following:

Weighted
Average Historical Accumulated
Amortization Cost Amortization Net
Venue contract llyears $ 26,247 $ (15,255 $ 10,99:
Kiosks 4 years 50C (500) —
Trade namq 2 years 30C (300) —
Total $ 27,040 $ (16,055 $ 10,99:

Amortization expense for fiscal years 2@idugh 2016 and thereafter is as follows:

Amortization

Year Expense
2012 $ 88¢
2013 88¢
2014 8432
2015 80C
2016 and thereafte 6,09z
$ 9,511

(1y—Recorded in other assets on the accompanying ddased balance shee
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8. Fair value measurement

The following table sets forth our finan@asets and financial liabilities that are meagwtefair value on a recurring basis:

At December 31, 201: Level 1 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 81,08: $ — $ 81,08
Restricted cas 46E — 46E
Total asset $ 81547 $ — $ 81,547
At December 31, 201( Level 1 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 1479 $ — $ 14,79
Marketable securitie 9,37: — 9,37:
Restricted cas 1,001 — 1,001
Total asset $ 2516¢ $§ — $ 25,164
Liabilities:
Preferred stock warran $ — $ 14C $ 14C
Total liabilities $ — $ 14C $ 14C

Our Level 3 financial liabilities, accoudtéor at fair value on a recurring basis, consigtedarrants to purchase shares of our Series Begtible preferred
stock, which are recorded at fair value in othabilities on the accompanying consolidated balahets. The fair value of the warrants was detexchimder the
Black-Scholes model using various assumptions éiotyuthe expected term of the warrants, volatiifyour common stock, risk free interest rate, dreddividend
rate. To determine the estimated fair value ofammmon stock included in this model, we used adeioth valuation analysis of our common stock pregavith the
assistance of an independent valuation firm. Thee@se in the fair value of the warrants is inctugteinterest and other (expense) income in thempanying
consolidated statement of operations for the yeaded December 31, 2011 and 2010. The followinkg tatmvides reconciliation between the beginnind anding
balances of preferred stock warrants in the tadibewe that used significant unobservable inputs€L8) for the periods presented:

Balance at December 31, 20 $ 72
Increase in the fair value of the liabili 68
Balance at December 31, 20 14C
Increase in the fair value of the liabili 13z
Exercise and conversion of preferred stock warrsméscommon stoc (272
Balance at December 31, 20 $ —
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9. Stockholders' equity (deficit)
Convertible preferred stock

Prior to our IPO, we financed our operadian part, through the issuance of convertibldgsred stock. In July 2001, we issued 5,052,5668eshaf Series A
convertible preferred stock. In February 2002, ssied 1,104,969 shares of Series A-2 convertilgfeped stock. In September and December 2003ssved
3,433,326 shares of Series B convertible prefesteck. From June through September 2006, we isb0&83,188 shares of Series C convertible prefesteck. The
conversion options, payments of liquidation prefieeeand redemption elections were considered agertinevents that were not solely within our contiteérefore we
have presented our convertible preferred stockmporary equity in the mezzanine section of thesotidated balance sheets for 2010.

The convertible preferred stock containetigble redemption features and deemed liquidatreferences upon a change-in-control, which wensidered
outside of the control the Company. Accretion d&ted issuance costs and dividends were recordactharge against retained earnings, or in thengbsef retained
earnings by charges against additional paid-intabpntil fully depleted, then against the accunedadeficit. We accrete issuance costs and divisiémthe earliest
redemption date. For the year ended December 31, 20 accreted our convertible preferred stocéugh to their conversion date into common stociary 3,
2011 in connection with our initial public offeringt December 31, 2011, we have no preferred sissiked or outstanding.

Conversion

Each share of Series A, Series A-2, S&iaad Series C convertible preferred stock was idiately convertible, at the holder's option, intases of common
stock based on the formula of the issuance prigielelil by the conversion price. The conversion pwes $3.00 for Series A and B convertible prefestdk,
$4.026072935 for Series A-2 convertible prefertedisand $4.95835 for Series C convertible pretesteck. Each share of Series A and Series B ctibleer
preferred stock was convertible into one shareoafrmon stock. Series A-2 convertible preferred stwak convertible into shares of common stock asainéd by
multiplying the number of shares of the convertitieck by $4.30 and dividing the result by the asion price of $4.026072935 per share, which apprates a 1
for 1.07 shares of common stock conversion rateeS€ convertible preferred stock was convertibte shares of common stock as obtained by multiglyhe
number of shares of the convertible stock by $5:8& dividing the result by the conversion pric&4f05835 per share, which approximates a 1 fosfia2es of
common stock conversion rate. Conversion of eaahesbf Series A, Series A-2, Series B and Seriesr@ertible preferred stock was automatic uporctivapletion
of our IPO.

Dividends

The holders of the Series A, Series A-2ije8eB and Series C convertible preferred stockeatiled to receive cumulative dividends, whethienot earned or
declared, out of funds legally available therefartethe rate of $0.15 per share per annum for éneSA and Series B convertible preferred sto6kQ$5 for the
Series A-2 convertible preferred stock and $0.2®7%he Series C convertible preferred stock (thectuing dividends"). Accruing dividends accruedeach share of
convertible preferred stock from the date of issgamntil the earlier of (i) a liquidation, dissabr or winding up of the company, including an asgion,
consolidation or merger, or the sale of all or
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9. Stockholders' equity (deficit) (Continued)

substantially all of the assets of the companyigaitiation event") and (ii) the date of redemptidvie accrued dividends in each of the years endeetiber 31,
2009, 2010 and 2011, which were accreted in theeive carrying values of the convertible prefdrséock.

Reserve for unissued shares

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we are aizéb to issue up to 100,000,000 and 34,900,00feshaf common stock, respectively. We are requioa@serve
and keep available out of our authorized but ugidsshares of common stock such number of sharésienf to effect the exercise of all outstandiragronon stock
warrants, plus shares granted and available fortgnader our Amended and Restated 2001 Stock liveeRtan (the "2001 Plan") and 2011 Equity IncemfRlan (the
"2011 Plan").

The amount of such shares of common stesé&rved for these purposes is as follows:

Number of Shares

December 31 December 31
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Conversion of Series C convertible preferred s — 13,18(
Outstanding stock options under the 2001 | 4,34( 5,28¢
Outstanding stock options under the 2011 | 2,261 —
Conversion of Series A convertible preferred st — 5,052
Conversion of Series B convertible preferred st — 3,43¢
Conversion of Series-2 convertible preferred sto« — 1,18(
Shares available for grant under the 2011 | 1,73¢ —
Additional shares available for grant under the2Ban — 21C
Outstanding common stock warra — 26
Outstanding preferred stock warra — 26
Total 8,34( 28,39¢

Note receivable from stockholder

During 2002, we granted 290,000 sharegsificted common stock to an officer at the deefagd/alue of $0.30 per share in exchange for gaskeeds of
approximately $9 and issuance of a partial reconode (the “"note") of approximately $78 payablewéh interest rate equal to the applicable fedetal The note
was classified as contra equity on the accompanyamgolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2010a@uary 11, 2011, we forgave the note and tmeipal and
interest outstanding of $103 was expensed as casafien. Interest accrued on the note, and wasdedlun interest and other income (expense), nétan
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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9. Stockholders' equity (deficit) (Continued)
Treasury stock

On July 29, 2011, we approved the retireno¢all 1,256,608 outstanding shares of treastogks The treasury stock, at cost, of $4,575 wassfierred to
additional paid-in capital in the accompanying aiitsited statements of convertible preferred st stockholder's equity (deficit).

Common stock warrants
On June 28, 2011, our 26,322 common staokamts outstanding were exercised into 21,525%shafrcommon stock on a net exercise basis.
10. Income taxes
On January 1, 2007, we adopted ASC 740ceTivas no cumulative effect recorded as a chargetéined earnings from the adoption of FIN 48.

The income taxes by jurisdiction consistr following for the years ended December 31.:

2011 2010 2009
U.S. Federal

Current $ 1971 $ 214 $ 70
Deferred 2,261 (10,360 242
Total U.S. Federe 4,232 (10,14¢) 312

U.S. state and locs
Current 1,092 1,19¢ 623
Deferred (1,260) 50 50
Total U.S. state and loc $ (168 $ 1,24 $ 672

Income taxes differ from the amounts coreddiy applying the U.S. federal income tax ratprigiax income (loss) before income taxes as atrestie
following for the years ended December 31:

2011 2010 2009

Federal statutory ra 34.(% 34.(% 34.%
State and loce 0.7 16.7 30.7
Stock options 1.¢ 4.C 12.5
Non-controlling interest: (2.0 (2.6) (6.3
Valuation allowanct 0.C a72.9 (29.5)
Other 3.8 (2.6) 4.¢

Income tax expense (benefit 37.(% (123.4% 46.2%

In 2010, we established a foreign subsydiathe United Kingdom, which has generated losesalting in a $400 deferred tax asset with aesponding
valuation allowance.
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10. Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax reflects the tax eBexfttemporary differences that gave rise to sigaift portions of our deferred tax assets andliteds and consisted of
the following at December 31:

2011 2010
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwar: $ 3,735 $ 7,597
Outside basis differences for U.S. partners 3,52¢ 3,23¢
Stock options 1,397 11F
Deferred revenu 1,01¢ 787
Deferred compensatic 407 354
Property and equipme — 382
State taxe — 40¢€
Other 45E 404
Valuation allowanct (1,829 (3,109
Net deferred tax asse 8,71( 10,17(
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible asset (1,207) (899
State taxe (926) —
Property and equipme (239 —
Net deferred tax liabilitie (2,267) (893
Net deferred taxe $ 6,44¢ $ 9,277

In assessing the realizability of defert@dassets, we consider whether it is more likentnot that some portion or all of the deferredatssets will not be
realized. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, wefléderal net operating loss carryforwards of apprately $7,979 and $15,618, respectively, stat@petating
loss carryforwards of approximately $27,900 and,$32, respectively, and foreign net operating tzsyforwards of $1,334. The federal net operakirsg
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2021, and doareign net operating loss carryforwards haveraiefinite life. Our state net operating loss caryfards are
principally related to California net operatingdes for which the ability to utilize has been susjesl for several years and will begin to expir@0i2. Our ability to
utilize certain of our net operating loss carryfards may be limited in the event that a changennasship, as defined in the Internal Revenue Codeurs in the
future.

At December 31, 2010, we recorded a $12r8R&se to the valuation allowance on our U.Serfglichet deferred tax assets due to changes iexpactations
regarding our ability to realize these deferreddasets. This resulted from a determination thatg more likely than not that the U.S. federaldeferred tax assets
would be realized. At December 31, 2011, we reabal81,287 release to the valuation allowance orstate net deferred tax assets, due to changrs in
expectations regarding our ability to realize thésferred tax assets. This resulted from a detextioim that it was more likely than not that theestaet deferred tax
assets would be realized. In reaching the detetromaf releasing a valuation allowance, we haval@ated all significant available positive and rtegaevidence
including, but not limited to, our three year cuatite results, trends in our business, expectadduesults and the character, amount and expirggéoiods of our net
deferred
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10. Income taxes (Continued)
tax assets. The underlying assumptions we useatéedisting future income required significant juéginand took into account our recent performance.

During 2011, we realized excess windfall benefits of $0.2 million from stock option exeses. These benefits reduced income taxes payathieene recorded
as an increase to additional paid-in capital ingbeompanying consolidated balance sheets as @nilegr 31, 2011. In accordance with the reportiggirements
under ASC 718, we did not include $1.8 million &Eess windfall tax benefits resulting from stockiop exercises as components of our gross deféasedssets and
corresponding valuation allowance disclosuresagsttributes related to those windfall tax besestiould not be recognized until they result irduction of taxes
payable. The tax effected amount of gross unredlieet operating loss carryforwards excluded und®€A 18 was $1.8 million at December 31, 2011. Wheatized,
those excess windfall tax benefits are crediteaditional paid-in capital.

We recognized interest and penalties reltdéncome tax matters in income tax expense (fitgmenich were not material during the years en@stember 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009.

The adoption of ASC 740 guidance requiredouidentify, evaluate and measure all uncer@rpositions taken or to be taken on tax returmstarrecord
liabilities for the amount of these positions they not be sustained, or may only partially beainst, upon examination by the relevant taxing arities. Although
we believe that our estimates and judgments wesoreable, actual results may differ from theseregtis. Some or all of these judgments are suljeetview by the
taxing authorities. We have no significant uncertaix positions for the years ended December 311,22010 and 2009.

Our annual income taxes and the deternunatf the resulting deferred tax assets and liddslinvolve a significant amount of judgment. Quadgments,
assumptions and estimates relative to current iectaxes take into account current tax laws, time@rpretation of current tax laws and possible outes of current
and future audits conducted by foreign and domésti@uthorities. We operate within federal, statd international taxing jurisdictions and are sabjo audit in
these jurisdictions. These audits can involve cexpsues which may require an extended periodn to resolve. We are subject to taxation in timééd States ar
in various states. Our tax years 2008 and forwegdsabject to examination by the IRS and our teary@007 and forward are subject to examinatiomhbterial state
jurisdictions. However, due to prior year loss gawers, the IRS and state tax authorities may exarany tax years for which the carryovers are tis@dfset future
taxable income.

We accrue interest and penalties relatathtecognized tax benefits as a component of indamexpense. As of December 31, 2011, 2010 anfl,286re was
no accrued interest or penalties.
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10. Income taxes (Continued)

The following table sets forth the changethe valuation allowance, for all periods present

Valuation

Allowance
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 14,25¢
Additions charged to operatio 731
Balance, December 31, 20 14,98¢
Additions charged to operatio 40C
Decrease credited to operatic (12,280)
Balance, December 31, 20 3,10¢
Decrease credited to operatic (1,287)
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 1,82

11. Commitments and contingencies
Capital and operating leases

We lease space in managed and operatetiblosaprimarily airports, under exclusive longriemon-cancellable contracts to provide Wi-Fi castivity and
cellular phone access to our DAS network. Minim@ntrexpense is recorded on a straight-line bagis e term of the lease. Rent expense for ouesefiem
governmental authorities for the periods ended Ber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $15,511, $12 A8%H0,136, respectively.

We lease equipment, primarily data commatidt equipment and database software under nocettable capital leases that expired in Octoberl20he leases
were collateralized by the equipment under thedelmerest expense associated with the capitaéfetor the periods ended December 31, 2011, 20d@@09 was
$8, $30 and $57, respectively. We also lease offizee under non-cancellable operating leases.ékpehse for our leases of office facilities fog frears ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $1,323, $h82@%1,319, respectively. Included in rent expdasthe year ended December 31, 2011 was subieesme
of $32.
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11. Commitments and contingencies (Continued)

Future minimum lease obligations underrtbe-cancellable operating and capital leases a¢mber 31, 2011 are as follows:

Operating
Leases and
Capital Airport
Years ended December 3! Leases Guarantees
2012 $ 20t $ 7,081
2013 51 6,192
2014 50 4,50¢
2015 50 4,45¢
2016 46 4,672
Thereaftel — 26,32¢
Minimum lease paymen $ 40z $ 53,24]
Current portior $ 20%

19

~I

Non-current portior

©»

Litigation

From time to time, we may be subject tonataarising out of the operations in the normalrsewf business. We are not a party to any suddr ditfgation that w
believe would have a material adverse effect onboginess, financial position, results of operationcash flows.

Indemnification

Indemnification provisions in our third-paservice provider agreements provide that we wdemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the indéethparties on
a case-by-case basis for losses suffered or irttbyreéhe indemnified parties in connection with atgim by any third party as a result of our welasétdvertising,
marketing, payment processing, collection or custoservice activities. The maximum potential amafrfuture payments we could be required to maladeuthese
indemnification provisions is undeterminable. Weédaever paid a claim, nor have we been sued inaxiion with these indemnification provisions. At
December 31, 2011, we have not accrued a liadityhese guarantees, because the likelihood ofiing a payment obligation in connection with thegiarantees is
not probable.

Employment contracts

We have entered into employment contradis seven of our officers. These contracts genggalbvide for severance benefits, including sataogtinuation, if
employment is terminated by us for substantial eaarsby the officer for convenience. In additiamprder to assure that they would continue to ptewndependent
leadership consistent with our best interests énetvent of an actual or threatened change in dotti®contract also generally provides for cergiotections in the
event of such a change in control. These protestiotiude the payment of certain severance benéfitkiding salary continuation, upon the termioatof
employment following a change in control.
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12. Stock incentive plan

In March, 2011, our board of directors amad the 2011 Plan under which 4,000,000 sharesrafmon stock are reserved for issuance. The 2(dri Bdcame
effective on May 3, 2011 upon the completion of mitial public offering. The 2011 Plan provides the grant of incentive and non-statutory stockas, stock
appreciation rights, restricted shares of our comstock, stock units, and performance cash awaslsf January 1 of each year commencing in 20X ntimber of
shares of common stock reserved for issuance uhd&t011 Plan shall automatically be increased byraber equal to the lesser of (a) 4.5% of thd tatenber of
shares of common stock then outstanding, (b) 30@@shares of common stock or (c) as determinenlibypoard of directors. As of December 31, 2011ioo to
purchase 2,279,209 shares of common stock havedraeted under the 2011 Plan.

No further awards will be made under oud2@lan, and it was terminated following the cortipleof our IPO (Note 1). Options outstanding untdher 2001 Pla
will continue to be governed by their existing tetms of December 31, 2011, options to purchas@é¥820 shares of common stock were outstandingrihde2001
Plan.

We recognized stock-based compensationnmepas follows during the years ended Decembe2(Bi1l, 2010 and 2009:

Years ended

December 31
2011 2010 2009
Network operation $ 463 $ 131 $ 127
Development and technolos 577 11& 84
Selling and marketin 65C 171 114
General and administratiy 1,73¢ 45C 41¢
Total stocl-based compensatic $ 3,42 $ 867 $ 74C

The 2011 expense above excludes a conssleapense of $27 which was recorded as Offeriogt<Cof our IPO thereby reducing additional paidapital.
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12. Stock incentive plan (Continued)

A summary of the stock option activity untlee 2001 and 2011 Plans are as follows:

Weighted-
Number Weighted Average
of Average Remaining Aggregate

Options Exercise Contract Intrinsic

(000's) Price Life (years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 434: $ 1.2C 77 $ 814
Grantec 1,06: $ 1.4C
Exercisec (26) $ 1.3t
Cancelled/forfeitec 99 $ 1.4cC
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 5281 $ 1.2t 72 $ 8,471
Grantec 53 $ 2.8t
Exercisec 2 $ 0.9
Cancelled/forfeitec (44) $ 1.4t
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 5,28¢ $ 1.2t 6.2 $ 38,27¢
Grantec 2,381 $ 13.0Z
Exercisec (1,015 $ 1.01
Cancelled/forfeitec (53) $ 6.5¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2C 6,601 $ 5.5C 7.C $ 30,99¢
Vested, exercisable and expected to vest at Deaedih@011 6,46¢ $ 5.4C 6. $ 30,76
Exercisable at December 31, 2C 3581 $§ 1.32 52 $ 26,10(

The aggregate intrinsic value in the taileve represents the difference between the estihfiair value of our common stock at December 81,12and the
option exercise price, multiplied by the numbeimethe-money options at December 31, 2011. Thénisitr value changes are based on the estimateddiaie of our
common stock. The total intrinsic value of stockiops exercised for the years ended December 31,2010 and 2009 was $9,754, $3 and $1, respbctide
December 31, 2011, total remaining stock-based emisgtion expense for unvested awards is $13,292hwhexpected to be recognized over a weightextzaye
period of 3.3 years.

Stock options to purchase 1,015,000, 24@026,000 shares of our common stock were exerdigeng the years ended December 31, 2011, 204 @@9 for
cash proceeds of $1,028, $2 and $36, respectively.

The weighted-average grant-date fair valueptions granted for the years ended Decembe2(@l1, 2010 and 2009 was $6.68, $1.80 and $1.3pectively.

We realized $246 of tax benefits for theuletions from stock option exercises during 201Her€ was no tax benefit realized for the tax deédnstfrom stock
options exercised during 2010 and 2009.

13. Employee benefit plan

During 2002, we established a defined dbation savings plan in accordance with Section(dpaf the Internal Revenue Code. This plan cogeitsstantially all
employees who meet the IRS
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13. Employee benefit plan (Continued)

requirements and allows participants to defer éiqgoof their annual compensation on a par-basis. Company contributions to the plan maynbde at the discretit
of the board of directors. Employer contributiofi$285, $244 and $244 were made to the plan by @911, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

14. Net income (loss) per share attributable to comon stockholders:
The following table sets forth the compiatatof basic and diluted net income (loss) per stadtributable to common stockholders for the piimdicated:

Years ended December 3!
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Numerator:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhaldeasic $ 4,66 $ 10,55 $ (4,51))
Accretion of convertible preferred sto — 5,02( —
Net income (loss) attributable to Boingo Wireldss,., diluted $ 4,662 $ 15574 $ (4,51))
Denominator:
Weighted average common stock, bz 24,01« 5,83¢ 5,801
Effect of dilutive convertible preferred sto — 22,84¢ —
Effect of dilutive stock option 3,457 3,20¢ —
Effect of dilutive common stock warrar 10 15 —
Weighted average common stock, dilu 27,48 31,89¢ 5,801
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholders
Basic $ 01¢ $ 181 $ (0.79
Diluted $ 017 $ 04¢ $ (0.7¢)

The following outstanding securities weog imcluded in the computation of diluted net in@(foss) per share as the inclusion would have beagrdilutive for
the periods indicated:

Years ended

December 31
2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)
Convertible preferred stock using th-converted metho 7,69¢ —  22,84¢
Stock options, or-of-the-money using the treasury stock metl 2,172 — 5,281
Common stock warran — — 26
Preferred stock warran 26 26 26
Total 9,897 26 28,17¢

15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

We revised previously issued financialestatnts to correct errors identified principallyated to accounting for income taxes. None of thésiens were
considered material to the periods impacted,
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (Continued

as disclosed in Note 1 of the consolidated findrat@tements included in this annual report on Fd83K. The net income and basic and diluted eampey share
amounts indicated below have been revised as itetida Note 1.

Revised quarterly financial data amoul
(except for the three months ended September 3Q, @0d December 31, 2011 which did not requiresiewi)

For the Three Months Ended For the Three Months Ended
March 31, 2011 June 30, 2011
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
As Previously As Previously
Reported Adjustment As Revised Reported Adjustment As Revised
Revenue $ 21,02¢ $ — $ 21,02t $ 22,947 % — $ 22,94
Income from operation $ 1,72¢ $ — $ 1,72¢ $ 2,427 $ — $ 242
Net income (loss) attributable
common stockholder $ (329) $ 181 $ (14¢) $ 1,392 $ (99 $ 1,29:
Basic earnings per sha $ (0.06) $ 0.0 $ (009 % 0.0¢ $ — $ 0.0€
Diluted earnings per sha $ (0.06) $ 0.0 $ (0.0%9) $ 0.0t $ — 3 0.0t
For the Three Months Ended For the Three Months Ended
September 30, 2011 December 31, 2011
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Revenue $ 24,68¢ $ 25,89¢
Income from operation $ 2,981 $ 4,04(
Net income attributable to comm
stockholder $ 1,662 $ 1,85t
Basic earnings per sha $ 0.0t $ 0.0€
Diluted earnings per sha $ 0.0t $ 0.0t
For the Three Months Ended For the Three Months Ended
March 31, 2010 June 30, 201(
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
As Previously As Previously
Reported Adjustment As Revised Reported Adjustment As Revised
Revenue $ 18,49¢ $ — $ 18,49¢ $ 20,29¢ $ — $ 20,29¢
Income from operation $ 1,45¢ $ — $ 1,45€¢ $ 2,38¢ $ — $ 2,38¢
Net income (loss) attributable
common stockholder $ 127 $ (70) $ 197 $ 715 $ (119 $ 59¢€
Basic earnings per sha $ (0.02) $ 00)$ (009 ¢ 0.1z $ 0.02) $ 0.1C
Diluted earnings per sha $ (0.029) $ 0.0) $ (0.09 $ 0.07 $ 0.00) $ 0.0€
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (Continued

For the Three Months Ended For the Three Months Ended
September 30, 2010 December 31, 2010
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
As Previously As Previously

Reported Adjustment As Revised Reported Adjustment As Revised

Revenue $ 20,21+ $ — $ 20,21 $ 21,40¢ $ — $ 21,40¢

Income from operation $ 2,62z $ — $ 2622 $ 88¢ $ — $ 88¢
Net income attributable to comm

stockholder: $ 91€ $ (129 $ 79 $ 9,21C $ 152 $ 9,362

Basic earnings per sha $ 0.1€ $ 0.02) $ 014 $ 15¢ $ 0.0z $ 1.6C

Diluted earnings per sha $ 0.07 $ 0.00) $ 0.0¢ $ 03z $ — 3 0.32

Earnings per share are computed separfatedach quarter and the full year using the respegveighted average shares. Therefore, the suimecfuarterly
earnings per share amounts do not equal the aammints reported.

16. Subsequent events:

In January 2012, we entered into a neweléasour existing office space of approximatelenty-five thousand square feet in the Westwood afé®s Angeles,
California. The lease term is from January 1, 20tt@ugh February 28, 2018. The annual rent paymesdalate over the term of the lease from $972 2% .

In February 2012, we granted 151,000 ogtimn common stock with an exercise price of $§87 share to executive and non-executive personnel.
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Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filedpast of, or incorporated by reference into, thisnAal Report on Form 10-K:

(1)(2) Financial Statements. The following consolidated financial statemenit®oingo Wireless, Inc., and Report of Indeperideegistered Public
Accounting Firm are included in a separate seabfahis Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on @&g2:

Description Nlljr?]gb?ar
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&0d 201( F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YBaded December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Convertible PreferrediSand Stockholder's Equity (Deficit) for the Year

Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-7

All financial statement schedules have bamitted because the required information is ngliapble or not present in amounts sufficient tguiee submission of
the schedule, or because the information requgéaciuded in our consolidated financial statementshe notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits.  The exhibits listed under Item 15(b) hereoffdesl with, or incorporated by reference intostinnual Report on Form 10-K. Each
management contract or compensatory plan or armaegeis identified separately in item 15(b) hereof.
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(b) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed as part of incorporated by reference into, this Annuap&e on Form 10-K:

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Description Form Date Number Herewith
3.2 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporal S-1  03/21/201. 3.2
3.4 Amended and Restated Bylav S-1  03/21/201. 34
4.1 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated InvesgintRi S-1  04/13/201. 4.1
Agreement, dated April 12, 20C
4.2 Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement grin S-1  01/14/201: 4.2
Registrant and certain stockholders, dated Jun2@g.
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement to be entered int S-1  03/21/201. 10.1
between the Registrant and each of its directodsodficers.
10.z Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Incentive | S-1  01/14/201. 10.Z
10.2 Form of Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Plan Simtior S-1  01/14/201: 10.z
Agreement
10.4 2011 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreements S-1  03/21/201. 10.4
thereunder
10.E Letter agreement between the Registrant and DaaghH|, S-1  04/13/201. 10.5
dated April 11, 2011
10.€ Letter agreement between the Registrant and Eddiasegr, S-1  04/13/201: 10.€
dated April 11, 2011
10.7 2010 Management Incentive Compensation F S-1  01/14/201. 10.7
10.& Office Lease Agreement, dated April 2007, betwedn C S-1  01/14/201. 10.€
10960 Wilshire Limited Partnership and Registr.
10.€ License Agreement for Wireless Communications Asces S-1  04/29/201. 10.¢
System, dated November 17, 2005, between City afagio
and Chicago Concourse Development Group, L
10.9A Consent to Change in Ownership and Amendment of S-1 2/25/201: 10.9A
Agreement, dated June 22, 2006, between City ofagfoi an
Chicago Concourse Development Group, L
10.1C Telecommunications Network Access Agreement, dated S-1  04/29/201. 10.1C
August 26, 1999, between The Port Authority of Néark
and New Jersey and New York Telecom Partners, |
10.10A Supplemental Agreement, dated March 28, 2001 betWee S-1  04/29/201: 10.10A
Port Authority of New York and New Jersey and Newrk/
Telecom Partners, LLC
10.11 Management Incentive Compensation P S-1  03/21/201: 10.11
Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Description Form Date Number Herewith
10.1z Letter agreement between the Registrant and Nggiker, S41  04/13/201: 10.1z2
dated April 11, 2011
10.1% Letter agreement between the Registrant and Cotiff; G S-1  04/13/201. 10.13
dated April 11, 2011
10.1¢ Letter agreement between the Registrant and Petegrier, S-1  04/13/201: 10.1¢
dated April 11, 2011
21.1 List of subsidiaries S-1  03/21/201 21.1
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent X

Registered Public Accounting Firm



31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant t X
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act.*

31.Zz Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuait t X
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act.*

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant t X
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act.*

32.Zz Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaiot t X
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act.*

101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X

Documentt

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurtie X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docume X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X

Documentt

Furnished herewith

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T,itlfermation in this exhibits is furnished and wieiemed filed or a part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectiar 1P of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendede&med not filed for purposes of

Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, as ameratedi ptherwise is not subject to liability undeggh sections and shall not be incorporated
by reference into any registration statement oeottocument filed under the Securities Act of 1983amended, except as set forth by spe
reference in such filin
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgrence in the Registration Statement on Form(I$e8 333-174157) of Boingo Wireless, Inc. of oupeg dated
April 13, 2012 relating to the financial statememtbich appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
April 13, 2012
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification

I, David Hagan, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Boingo Wireless, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a material fact necessary to make the s¢atsm
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthsstatements were made, not misleading with respabe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$odiner financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafigial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskint¢his report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in Exgghéwct

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and for the regisaad have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrantliding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kméovus by others within those entities, particylar
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

b) Omitted

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslalsire controls and procedures and presentedsimeort our conclusions about the effectivendss o
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrileoéthe period covered by this report based @h gvaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmisanternal control over financial reporting tlwetturred during the registrant's most recent fisca
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartethie case of an annual report) that has materiéftbgied, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | kalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial reporting, to ttegistrant's

auditors and the audit committee of the registsamtard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are reasonably likey
adversely affect the registrant's ability to reggmibcess, summarize and report financial inforomatand

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 13, 2012 /s/ DAVID HAGAN

David Hagan
Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
Certification

I, Edward Zinser, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Boingo Wireless, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a material fact necessary to make the s¢atsm
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthsstatements were made, not misleading with respabe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$odiner financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafigial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskint¢his report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in Exgghéwct

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and for the regisaad have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrantliding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kméovus by others within those entities, particylar
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

b) Omitted

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslalsire controls and procedures and presentedsimeort our conclusions about the effectivendss o
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrileoéthe period covered by this report based @h gvaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmisanternal control over financial reporting tlwetturred during the registrant's most recent fisca
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartethie case of an annual report) that has materiéftbgied, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | kalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial reporting, to ttegistrant's

auditors and the audit committee of the registsamtard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are reasonably likey
adversely affect the registrant's ability to reggmibcess, summarize and report financial inforomatand
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: April 13, 2012 /sl EDWARD ZINSER

Edward Zinser
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Office
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Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as create8dayion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 utgersigned officer of Boingo Wireless, Inc. (t@®mpany")
hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that

(i) the accompanying Annual Report omrd0-K of the Company for the quarterly period ethddecember 31, 2011 (the "Report") fully compliéth the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dgmdicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 13&amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and results of operations af @ompany.

Date: April 13, 2012 /s/ DAVID HAGAN

David Hagan
Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being fulmésl solely to accompany the Report pursuant to.8QJ § 1350, and is not being filed for purposeSeaxtion 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andti® be incorporated by reference into anydilaf the Company, whether made before or aftedtte hereof,
regardless of any general incorporation languageiah filing. A signed original of this written sanent required by Section 906 has been providéuet@€ompany
and will be retained by the Company and furnisteethé Securities and Exchange Commission or it p@n request.
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Exhibit 32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as createSidayion 906 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Baind/ireless, Inc., Inc. (the "Compan'
hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that

(i) the accompanying Annual Report omrd0-K of the Company for the quarterly period ethddecember 31, 2011 (the "Report") fully compliéth the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dgmdicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 13&amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and results of operations af @ompany.

Date: April 13, 2012 /sl EDWARD ZINSER

Edward Zinser
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Office

The foregoing certification is being fulmésl solely to accompany the Report pursuant to.8QJ § 1350, and is not being filed for purposeSextion 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andti® be incorporated by reference into anydilaf the Company, whether made before or aftedtte hereof,
regardless of any general incorporation languageiah filing. A signed original of this written sanent required by Section 906 has been providéuet@€ompany
and will be retained by the Company and furnisteethé Securities and Exchange Commission or it p@n request.
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